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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors (the “Directors”) of
Zhaobangji Properties Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased
to present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2023 (the
“Year”).

COVID-19 pandemic related restrictions sustained in a large part of
our financial year which impacted our property management business,
as shopping malls and offices in the Mainland China were required to
close down for some material times during the year. The real estate
market has also seen a slow down due to deleveraging in the Mainland
Chinese market and a higher interest rate environment in Hong Kong
has also impacted demand for construction equipment leasing. This
has also affected our leasing business. Although we are likely going to
see positive rebound from the removal of COVID-19 related restrictions
during this coming year, we remain cautiously optimistic as geo-political
tensions and a pro-longed high interest rate environment will continue to
provide headwind for businesses in Mainland China and Hong Kong.

As a result of challenging market conditions, the Group has stayed
defensive and employed a low-leverage position. We will continue to

explore potential business opportunities to bring long term value for the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

Xu Chujia
Chairman

30 June 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW, MARKET PROSPECT AND
OUTLOOK

The Group is principally engaged in the trading of machinery and spare
parts, leasing of machinery and provision of related services, provision
of transportation services in Hong Kong, and provision of property
management services, leasing of machinery and property leasing and
subletting in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

During a large part of the Year, the slow real estate markets in Mainland
China and Hong Kong have continued to impact our business in
construction machinery leasing. With the relatively high interest rate
environment in Hong Kong and the deleveraging trend of real estate
developers in the Mainland China, the Board remains vigilant of the
market situation in the year ahead.

In terms of our property management, property leasing, subletting and
retail businesses, the COVID-19 pandemic has continued to impact our
business for a large part of the Year. In January 2023, a significant part
of the COVID-19 pandemic restrictive measures in the Mainland China
and Hong Kong were lifted. Although we expect the market to eventually
grow back to normal, the overall macro environment is still challenging
and the Board is cautiously optimistic in the year ahead.

In light of the challenging market conditions, the Board will continue to
employ a low leverage position and will continue to explore potential
business opportunities to bring long term value to the Shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Our total revenue decreased by approximately HK$13.6 million, or 5.0%,
from approximately HK$272.0 million for the year ended 31 March
2022 (the “Previous Year”) to approximately HK$258.4 million for the
Year. Such decrease was mainly attributable to the reduction of leasing
income from construction machinery due to poor construction market
conditions in Hong Kong and Mainland China during the Year, and the
provision of property management fee concessions to tenants during
the COVID-19 pandemic. This was partially off-set by the increase in
revenue as a result of a full-year consolidation of the retail business in
Mainland China into the Group’s financial results for the Year.
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Leasing of construction machinery

Qur Group’s revenue generated from leasing of construction
machinery recorded a decrease by approximately HK$21.8 million, or
approximately 15.7%, from approximately HK$138.6 million for the
Previous Year to approximately HK$116.8 million for the Year. Such
decrease was mainly due to adverse construction market conditions in
Hong Kong and Mainland China during the Year.

Trading of construction machinery

Our Group’s revenue generated from trading of construction
machinery recorded a decrease by approximately HK$18.8 million,
or approximately 59.5%, from approximately HK$31.6 million for the
Previous Year to approximately HK$12.8 million for the Year. Such
decrease was mainly attributable to decreased trading demand in the
Hong Kong market.

Transportation services

Our Group’s revenue generated from transportation services decreased
by approximately HK$3.4 million, or approximately 54.8%, from
approximately HK$6.2 million for the Previous Year to approximately
HK$2.8 million for the Year. It is our Group’s strategy to reduce our
exposure to transportation business as we foresee a decline in market
demand in this sector.

Property management services

Our Group’s revenue generated from property management services
decreased by approximately HK$6.6 million, or approximately
7.5%, from approximately HK$88.5 million for the Previous Year to
approximately HK$81.9 million for the Year. The decrease was mainly
due to the provision of management fee concessions to certain tenants
during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Property leasing, subletting services and retail businesses

Our Group’s revenue generated from property leasing, subletting
services and retail businesses increased by approximately HK$37.1
million from approximately HK$0.3 million for the Previous Year to
approximately HK$37.4 million for the Year. Such increase was mainly
the result of a full-year consolidation of the retail business in Mainland
China into the Group’s financial results for the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Cost of Sales and Services

Our Group’s cost of sales and services increased by approximately
HK$57.7 million, or approximately 34.4%, from approximately HK$167.9
million for the Previous Year to approximately HK$225.6 million for the
Year. Cost of sales and services mainly comprised costs of machinery
and equipment and spare parts, staff costs and depreciation. The
increase in cost of sales and services was mainly due to increased
depreciation recorded as a result of our prudent approach to increase
depreciation on traditional diesel generators taking into account
replacement and obsolescence risks from the change in environmental
standard requirements.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Our Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately HK$71.3 million,
or approximately 68.5%, from approximately HK$104.1 million for
the Previous Year to approximately HK$32.8 million for the Year, and
our gross profit margin decreased from approximately 38.3% for the
Previous Year to approximately 12.7% for the Year.

The decrease in gross profit margin was due to a more challenging
business environment in the Mainland China and Hong Kong due to
adverse impact of and slow recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic, and
other reasons as listed above.

Other Gains and Losses

Our Group’s other gains and losses increased by approximately HK$5.1
million, from approximately HK$0.1 million gain for the Previous Year to
approximately HK$5.2 million gain for the Year. The increase was mainly
due to the fair value gain on financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss for the Year.

Selling Expenses

Our Group’s selling expenses decreased by approximately HK$1.2
million, or approximately 29.3%, from approximately HK$4.1 million for
the Previous Year to approximately HK$2.9 million for the Year, mainly
due to decrease in staff cost in the selling department.
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Administrative Expenses

Our Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately
HK$23.5 million, or 63.2%, from approximately HK$37.2 million for
the Previous Year to approximately HK$60.7 million for the Year. The
increase is mainly attributable to the increase in rental fee for office
which derived from a full-year consolidation of the retail business into
the Group’s financial results for the Year.

Finance Income

Our Group’s finance income increased by approximately HK$1.1
million, or approximately 32.4%, from approximately HK$3.4 million for
the Previous Year to approximately HK$4.5 million for the Year. The
increase is mainly generated from the interest income on receivables.

Finance Costs

Our Group’s finance costs increased by approximately HK$0.7 million,
or approximately 53.8%, from approximately HK$1.3 million for the
Previous Year to approximately HK$2.0 million for the Year. The
increase was mainly due to an increase in interest expense on bank loan
which derived from a full-year consolidation of the retail business into
the Group’s financial results for the Year.

Income Tax Expense and Effective Tax Rate

Our Group'’s income tax expense decreased by approximately HK$17.2
million, or approximately 75.8%, from approximately HK$22.7 million
for the Previous Year to approximately HK$5.5 million for the Year. The
decline was mainly due to the larger loss making position from business
units during the Year.

Our Group’s effective tax rate was 28.1% for the Previous Year. The
effective tax rate was not applicable for the Year as the Group was loss-
making.

Net Profit and Net Profit Margin

The Group incurred a net loss of HK$41.0 million during the Year from
the net profit of HK$38.0 million in the Previous Year, which was mainly
due to the challenging business environment as illustrated above.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES REVIEW

The Group financed its operations through a combination of cash flow
from operations, borrowings and lease liabilities. As at 31 March 2023,
the Group had cash and bank balance of approximately HK$43.2 million
(2022: approximately HK$ 44.8 million) which were mainly denominated
in HK$ and RMB, and had borrowings of approximately HK$26.0
million (2022: approximately HK$32.7 million) and lease liabilities of
approximately HK$25.0 million (2022: approximately HK$7.7 million)
respectively that were mainly in HK$ and RMB.

Treasury Policy

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policy and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position for the Year. To manage the liquidity risk, the Board closely
monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity
structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other commitments can
meet its funding requirements from time to time.

Gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity at the
end of the reporting period. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings
and total obligations under finance leases less cash and bank balances
and restricted cash. As at 31 March 2023, the net debt position of the
Group was 1.8% (2022: net cash position).

As at 31 March 2023, our Group’s total current assets and current
liabilities were approximately HK$232.3 million (2022: approximately
HK$368.3 million) and approximately HK$97.4 million (2022:
approximately HK$76.5 million) respectively. Our Group’s current ratio
was approximately 2.4 times as at 31 March 2023 (2022: 4.8 times).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023, our Group’s borrowings of HK$26.0 million (2022:
approximately HK$32.7 million) and lease liabilities of HK$25.0 million
(2022: approximately HK$7.7 million) were secured by property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets with nil net carrying amount
(2022: approximately HK$20.6 million).
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2023, the total issued share capital of the Company
was HK$12,390,000 divided into 6,195,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.002 each.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The total capital expenditure incurred for the Year settled by cash was
approximately HK$46.3 million (2022: approximately HK$25.0 million)
which was mainly used in purchase of property, plant and equipment for
our leasing business and property decoration.

CURRENCY RISK

Certain transactions of the Group are denominated in currencies which
are different from the functional currencies of the Group’s principal
subsidiaries, namely, HK$ and RMB, and therefore the Group is
exposed to foreign exchange risk. Payments made by the Group for the
settlement of its purchases from suppliers are generally denominated in
HK$, JPY, USD, EUR and RMB. Payments received by the Group from
its customers are mainly denominated in HK$ and RMB.

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the Group will continue to monitor closely its exposure to currency
movement and take proactive measures.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2023 (31
March 2022: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Our capital commitments consist primarily of purchase of construction
machinery for leasing purpose. As at 31 March 2023, there were
approximately HK$5.3 million (31 March 2022: HK$6.8 million) of capital
commitments in machinery and equipment contracted but not provided
for.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2023, our Group had 380 staff members (2022:
416). The total staff costs incurred by our Group for the Year were
approximately HK$46.0 million (2022: approximately HK$44.2 million).
The increase in staff costs was mainly due to increased headcount for
the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Employees’ remuneration packages are determined with reference to
the market information and individual performance and will be reviewed
on a regular basis. The remuneration policy will be reviewed by the
Board from time to time. In addition to basic remuneration, the Group
also makes contributions to mandatory provident funds scheme in Hong
Kong and contribute an amount to certain retirement benefit schemes
of those employees in the PRC.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES, AND PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSET

On 8 September 2022, the Group as assignee entered into
an assignment agreement, under which the Group acquired a
secured loan of RMB80,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$91,200,000) principal amount (the “Secured Loan”) for a cash
consideration of RMB65,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$74,100,000).

The borrower was Shenzhen Department Store Plaza Development
Co. Ltd.* (XY EERESRKERMZE AR AAF) whose business
registration has been suspended. The Secured Loan was secured by
mortgages over two Temporary Use Rights* (13 F &) for commercial
use purpose located at Shenzhen Shennan East Road Department
Store Plaza Forth Floor Unit B and C* (ZIIIf AR BB EESAE
F M EBS: X CH%), with a construction area of 4,000 square meters
(the “Mortgaged Property”).

Details of the acquisition of the Secured Loan have been disclosed
in the Company’s announcements respectively dated 8 September
2022 and 28 September 2022.

The fair value of the Secured Loan as at 31 March 2023 was
HK$85,680,000, which represented 15.4% of the Group’s total
assets. An unrealized fair value gain of HK$11,319,000 was
recognised in the profit or loss during the Year.
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The Group plans to enforce the mortgage over the Mortgaged
Property, whose fair value amounted to RMB112.0 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$127.7 million) as at 31 August 2022 and which
has been seized (& #) by order of the relevant PRC court, and
eventually obtain from the relevant PRC court for an order to sell the
Property by way of auction.

Separately, between 16 February 2023 and 17 February 2023, the
Group also disposed of an aggregate of 1,675,800 shares in ZTE,
the shares of which were listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock
code: 763), in the open market. The aggregate consideration was
approximately HK$33.7 million and a realised loss of approximately
HK$1.8 million was recorded. Details of the aforesaid disposal have
been disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 23 February
2023.

Save the above, the Group did not have any other significant
investments held during the year.

During the Year, the Group did not have any material acquisition or
disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

The Group currently does not have any plans for new business, material
investments or capital assets.

Strategy for investments

Looking forward, the Group will continue to adopt a prudent approach
in selecting valuable investments to achieve capital gains or dividend
income in line with its corporate goals and objective.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

There were no purchase, redemption or sale by the Company or any of
its subsidiaries of the listed securities of the Company during the Year.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESkEAEEERBREFRE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xu Chujia (FF %2 X), aged 52, was appointed an executive Director
on 29 March 2018. He is the younger brother of Xu Chusheng, an
executive Director, and the brother-in-law of Ms. Zhan Meiging, a
non-executive Director. Mr. Xu Chujia is a director, and the owner of
58.53% of the issued share capital, of Boardwin Resources Limited
(“Boardwin”), which in turn beneficially owns 3,804,096,000 shares in
the Company. Mr. Xu Chuijia is also the controlling shareholder of Banco
Well Link S.A., a licensed bank in Macau, Well Link Life Insurance
Company Limited, a licensed life insurance company in Hong Kong,
Well Link General Insurance Company Limited, a licensed general
insurance company in Hong Kong, and Well Link Securities Limited, a
licensed securities company in Hong Kong.

Mr. Xu Chusheng (FF# ), aged 56, was appointed an executive
Director on 29 September 2021. He graduated from Beijing Oriental
College in July 2013 with a postgraduate degree in financial
management. He has over 20 years of experience in financial
management and in the field of construction machinery and equipment
leasing. He was a director of Shenzhen Zhaobangji from 2006 to
2016 and has been a supervisor of Shenzhen Zhaobangji since 2016.
He owns 8% of the issued share capital of Boardwin, which in turn
beneficially owns 3,804,096,000 shares in the Company, representing
approximately 61.41% of the issued share capital of the Company.
Mr. Xu Chusheng is the elder brother of Mr. Xu Chuijia, the executive
Director of the Company.
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Mr. Kwan Kin Man Keith (3% X) (“Mr. Kwan”), aged 34, has around
14 years of experience in the finance industry. Mr. Kwan is currently
the chief executive officer of Well Link Financial Group. He was a non-
executive director of HNA Technology Investments Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
2086) from December 2019 to June 2021. He was a vice president of
a money lending company in Hong Kong from March 2019 to January
2021. He was an executive director of the Company from March 2018
to March 2019. Mr. Kwan was a director of Well Link Securities Limited
from October 2017 to March 2019. Mr. Kwan was an associate director
of an asset management company from June 2014 to June 2016. Prior
to that, Mr. Kwan joined KPMG in 2009 and worked as an assistant
manager of KPMG Advisory (Hong Kong) Limited from August 2011 to
February 2014.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Zhan Meiging (& 3%78) (‘Ms. Zhan”), aged 42, was first appointed
as a Director on 29 March 2018. She is the sister-in-law of Mr. Xu
Chuijia, an executive Director. Ms. Zhan obtained her bachelor’s degree
in law from East China College of Political Science and Law* (£ K
JAEBR) (currently known as East China University of Political Science
and Law (ERFEUAAKE)) in Shanghai, the PRC. She then obtained a
master’s degree in laws from the City University of Hong Kong in 2005
and a master’s degree in laws in international legal studies from The
American University, Washington College of Law in 2006. Ms. Zhan has
over 10 years of experience in the legal, finance and real estate industry
in Hong Kong and the PRC. Ms. Zhan is currently a United States
attorney (New York), a qualified PRC lawyer as well as a registered
foreign lawyer in Hong Kong.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEEEREFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey (F&E) (“Mr. Hui”), aged 63, was
appointed an independent non-executive Director on 29 March 2018.
He obtained his bachelor’s degree in business administration from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1983 and a master’s
degree in business administration (investment and finance) from the
University of Hull in December 1994. Mr. Hui has extensive experience
in business consulting. He was a non-executive director of Gudou
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8308), a company listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange from 29 September 2014 to 12 April 2019. Mr.
Hui was an independent non-executive director of Vinda International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 3331), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange from 19 June 2007 to 16 October 2015.
Mr. Hui resigned as an independent non-executive director of Vinda
International Holdings Limited with effect from 16 October 2015 and
served as a consultant to the board of directors of Vinda International
Holdings Limited until December 2017.

Mr. Wong Chun Man (£ £ X) (“Mr. Wong”), aged 47, was appointed
an independent non-executive Director on 29 March 2018. He is a
holder of a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration at the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Wong has more than 20 years’ experience
in corporate finance and he is a member of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and Chartered Financial Analyst of the
CFA Institute. Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive director
of Guoan International Limited (stock code:143) from 11 March 2016
to 1 June 2020, and has been the non-executive director of Vico
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1621) since 1 April 2019,
and an executive director of Fullwealth International Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1034) since 14 January 2021 until 12 May 2023,
which are all listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong
also has been a vice-chairman and non-executive director of TOMO
Holdings Limited (stock code: 6928) since 21 July 2021 until 21 Jan
2028, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Ye Longfei (18 2) (“Mr. Ye”), aged 80, was appointed an
independent non-executive Director on 11 April 2018. He was born in
Shanghai. He graduated from the Shanghai Fudan University in physics
in 1965 and graduated as a postgraduate from the same department
in 1968. Mr. Ye has been engaged in the electronics industry for 20
years and has been the Director of Shanghai Electronic Instrument
BETHERIER) since 1985. In 1988, Mr. Ye
served as the Deputy Secretary-General of the Shanghai Municipal

Industry Bureau* (E

Government and the Executive Deputy Director of the Shanghai Foreign
Investment Commission. In 1991, Mr. Ye came to Hong Kong to set up
the “Shanghai Desk”, a cooperative arrangement between the Shanghai
Municipal Government and Arthur Anderson & Co. (HK). Mr. Ye joined
the Kerry Group in 1995. Mr. Ye has joined the Shangri-La Asia Limited
(stock code: 0069) under the Kerry Group since 1997 and served as
its executive director from 16 December 1997 to 27 March 2007, and
the chairman of the board of directors from 2000 until 2003, when he
was appointed vice chairman of the board of directors. Mr. Ye has
served as a consultant in Kerry Group from 2007 until his retirement
from the group in 2018. Mr. Ye has been an independent non-executive
director of Hua Hong Semiconductor Limited (stock code: 1347) since
12 December 2014, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Note:

* The English translation of the Chinese name is for illustration purpose only.
Should there be any inconsistencies, the Chinese name shall prevail.
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Corporate Governance Report
TRERKE

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the
Company for the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintain high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has
adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as our corporate governance practices,
and applied the principles of good corporate governance set out in the
CG Code by complying with the applicable code provisions thereunder.
The Company has complied with the applicable code provisions under
the CG Code for the Year. The key corporate governance principles and
practices of the Company are outlined in this report.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business and
performance. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility
for day-to-day management and operation of the Group to the senior
management of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs, the Board has established four Board committees
including the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Investment Committee. The Board
has delegated to the Board committees responsibilities as set out in
their respective terms of reference.

All Directors have carried out duties in good faith and in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders at all times.
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Board Composition

For the Year and up to latest practicable date prior to the printing of this
annual report, the Board comprised the following directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Xu Chuijia (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Chusheng
Mr. Kwan Kin Man Keith
(appointed with effect from 30 June 2022)
Mr. Cai Chun Fai
(resigned with effect from 30 June 2022)
Mr. Wei Jinwen
(resigned with effect from 17 November 2022)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Zhan Meiging
Professor Lee Chack Fan, G.B.S,, S.B.S., J.P.
(resigned with effect from 31 December 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey
Mr. Wong Chun Man
Mr. Ye Longfei

The names and biographical details of each existing director are
disclosed on pages 14 to 17 of this annual report.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, save and except Ms. Zhan
Meiqing is the sister-in-law of Mr. Xu Chuijia, and Mr. Xu Chusheng is
the brother of Mr. Xu Chujia, there was no other relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship) among
members of the Board.

During the Year, the Company has been in compliance with the
requirements under rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Company has also complied with rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.
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The Company believes that the diversity of the Board members will
be immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s
performance. Therefore, the Company has adopted a Board
diversity policy to ensure that the Company will, when determining
the composition of the Board, consider the Board diversity in terms
of, among other things, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills and knowledge. The Board diversity
policy sets out the approach towards achieving diversity on the Board.
Pursuant to the Board diversity policy, all Board appointments will be
based on merits, and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board.

As each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company
considers all of them to be independent.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose the
number and nature of offices held in public companies or organizations
and other significant commitments as well as the identity and the
time involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments and any subsequent change to the Company in a timely
manner.

DIRECTORS' CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each Director was provided with the necessary training and information
to ensure that he/she has proper understanding of the responsibilities
under the Listing Rules and the applicable law, rules and regulations.
The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development courses and seminars to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company will continue to arrange suitable
training and regular seminars to provide the Directors with updates on
the latest developments and changes in the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time.
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According to records provided by the Directors, a summary of trainings
received by the Directors for the Year is as follows:

Corporate Governance Report
TERERBRSE

REBEFRHMNLCE  EFHELAFEER
AEEFIBEE N -

Attended Seminar

or Briefing/
Note Read Material
HERSS
REEHEY
B aE RAEM R
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Xu Chujia AREREE v
Mr. Xu Chusheng RBEE v
Mr. Kwan Kin Man Keith BAZS kA (1) v
Mr. Cai Chun Fai BRI A ©) v
Mr. Wei Jinwen BN LA &) v
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Zhan Meiging EEREXL v
Professor Lee Chack Fan, G.B.S., S.B.S., J.P. IS B IR - GBS, SBS., JP. (4) v
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHTES
Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey FRESA v
Mr. Wong Chun Man FEXEE v
Mr. Ye Longfei M E v

Notes:

(1) The Director resigned with effect from 17 November 2022.

(2)  The Director was appointed with effect from 30 June 2022.

3) The Director resigned with effect from 30 June 2022.

(4)  The Director resigned with effect from 31 December 2022.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman
and the chief executive should be clearly established and set out in
writing. The Company had complied with code provision C.2.1 of the
CG Code for the Year and up to the date of this report.

Mr. Xu Chuijia is the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Xu Chusheng is the
Chief Executive Officer. The Chairman is responsible for the leadership
and governance for the Board while the Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for day-to-day management of the Group’s business.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has signed a service contract with the
Company for a term of one year commencing from their respective
date of appointment subject to termination as provided in the service
contract.

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has signed an appointment letter with the Company for a term
of one year commencing from their respective date of appointment.

The appointments of executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors are subject to the provisions of
retirement and rotation of Directors under the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles”) and the applicable Listing Rules. The
procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of
Directors are set out in the Articles.

In accordance with the article 16.18 of the Articles, at every annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to,
but not less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any
Director appointed pursuant to article 16.2 or article 16.3 of the Articles
shall not be taken into account in determining which Directors are to
retire by rotation. A retiring Director shall retain office until the close
of the meeting at which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election
thereat. The Company at any annual general meeting at which any
Directors retire may fill the vacated office by electing a like number of
persons to be Directors.
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BOARD MEETINGS, GENERAL MEETINGS AND
ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS

The Company intends to hold Board meetings regularly, at least four
times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of not
less than fourteen days will be given for all regular Board meetings to
provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in
the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board committee meetings, reasonable notice
is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
dispatched to the Directors or Board committee members at least
three days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time
to review the papers and are adequately prepared for the meetings.
When the Directors or Board committee members are unable to attend
a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and
given an opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman prior
to the meeting. Minutes of meetings are kept by the company secretary
with copies circulated to all Directors/Board committee members for
information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board
and the Board committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors/Board committee members. Draft
minutes of each Board meeting and Board committee meeting are/
will be sent to the Directors/Board committee members for comments
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.
Minutes of the Board meetings are open for inspection by Directors.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board which the Board has determined to be material, such Director
shall abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions and he/she shall not
be counted as a quorum in the Board meeting discussing the matter
concerned.
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Set out below are details of the attendance record of each of the TXEHINESEEHEAREERFEHME
Directors at the Board and committee meetings of the Company held THESEhZECERMNLELEFE -
during the Year:

Attendance/Number of Meetings Held
e/ ETERAY

Regular Audit Nomination ~ Remuneration Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Notes Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

e EHEZEEE ENZREEE RAZRGEE FMWZREE3E RRAFAE

Executive Directors HTES

Mr. Xu Chujia TRREE /11 NATER N/A TR N/A B 1
Mr. Xu Chusheng iy /11 N/A B N/A TR N/A MR 17
Mr. Kwan Kin Man Keith BEXEE (1) 8/8 N/A R B N/A TR NA T EE 1
Mr. Cai Chun Fai BB ) 2/2 N/A TR N/A TR N/A TER 0/0
Mr. Wei Jinwen BRXAA () 8/8 N/A T ER N/A TR N/A MR 17
Non-executive Directors FHTER

Ms. Zhan Meiing EXEat 111 N/A R i@ 2/2 2/2 1
Professor Lee Chack Fan, FEAAR 4 9/9 N/A R i@ N/A TR N/A TEE 1

GBS, SBS, JP. GBS, SBS, JP.

Independent Non-executive BUFHTES

Directors
Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey TEEEE 111 4/4 NA N ER 2/2 1
Mr. Wong Chun Man ThRXEE 111 4/4 2/2 N/A N EFR 1
Mr. Ye Longfei WEEELE 111 4/4 2/2 2/2 1
Notes: B 5T -
(1) Appointed with effect from 30 June 2022 (1) BZZEZ—FA=-+tHREZT
(2)  Resigned with effective from 30 June 2022 @ BT FRA=THEBEE
(3)  Resigned with effect from 17 November 2022 @ R-E_—F+—A+tHERE
(4)  Resigned with effect from 31 December 2022 @) RIBE_F+_A=+—HEE
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GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company for the Year is scheduled
to be held on 23 August 2023.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. The Company has made enquiries to all
Directors regarding any non-compliance with the Model Code.

All the Directors confirmed that they have fully complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code during the Year.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for all major matters of the Company, including
approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and
budgets, internal control and risk management systems, financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters. Directors could have recourse to seek independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the Company’s
expense.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to
be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered
into by the management.

BOARD COMMITTEE
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 23 January 2017, with
specific written terms of references in accordance with rule 3.22 of the
Listing Rules and paragraph D.3 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee
comprises three members, namely Mr. Wong Chun Man (Chairman), Mr.
Hui Chin Tong Godfrey and Mr. Ye Longfei, all of them are independent
non-executive Directors for the Year.
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The principal duties of the Audit Committee include without limitation to

the following:

to make recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of resignation or dismissal of that auditor;

to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s policies
and procedures regarding internal controls (including financial,
operational and compliance controls), risk management system
and any statement by the Directors to be included in the annual
accounts prior to endorsement by the Board;

to review the financial statements and to have familiarity with the
financial reporting principles and practices applied by the Group in
preparing its financial statements; and

to review external auditor’s independence, objectivity,
effectiveness of the audit process and the scope of the external
audit, including the engagement letter. The Audit Committee
should understand the factors considered by the external auditor
in determining their audit scope. The external audit fees are
to be negotiated by management, and presented to the Audit
Committee for review and approval annually.

The Company has complied with rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules in that

the Audit Committee must comprise a minimum of three members

and must be chaired by an independent non-executive Director who

possesses appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or

related financial management expertise as required in rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules. The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
available on the websites of the Company.

A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during the Year
is set out as follows:
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Reviewed with the senior management and finance in-charge and/
or the external auditors the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, the accuracy and fairness of the annual
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 and interim
financial report for the six months ended 30 September 2022
respectively;
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° Met with the external auditors and reviewed their work and
findings relating to the annual audit for the year ended 31 March
2022 and the effectiveness of the audit process;

° Reviewed with management and finance-in-charge the
effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group;

° Approved the internal audit plan for the Year and internal audit
report for the year ended 31 March 2022;

° Reviewed the external auditors’ independence, approved the
engagement of external auditors and recommended to the Board
on the re-appointment of external auditors;

° Reviewed the financial reporting and compliance procedures
and the report from the management on the Company’s internal
control systems and processes; and

° Reviewed the requirements on the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide under the Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report
of the Listing Rules.

Corporate Governance Function

The Audit Committee has been appointed by the Board to perform the
corporate governance function. During the Year, the Audit Committee (i)
reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report; (ii) reviewed and monitored
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements; (i) developed, determined and renewed the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and made
recommendations to the Board; and (iv) reviewed and monitored the
training and continuous professional development of the Directors and
senior management.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 23 January 2017, with
specific written terms of references in compliance with paragraph B.3 of
the CG Code. The Nomination Committee comprised of three members,
namely, including one non-executive Director namely Ms. Zhan Meiqging,
and two independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Ye Longfei
(Chairman) and Mr. Wong Chun Man for the Year.
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The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

1. to review the structure, size and composition (including the skKills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

2. toidentify individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board, and select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorship. In identifying
suitable candidates, the Nomination Committee shall consider
candidates on merit and against the objective criteria, with due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board;

3.  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
reappointment of Directors, and succession planning for Directors,
in particular, the chairman and the chief executive;

4.  to identify and nominate candidates to fill casual vacancies of
Directors for the Board’s approval; and

5. to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors, and review the independent non-executive Directors’
annual confirmations on their independence; and make disclosure
of its review results in the corporate governance report.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time and
effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The recommendations
of the Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board for decision.
The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available on the website of the Company.

A summary of the work performed by the Nomination Committee during
the Year is set out as follows:

° Reviewed and discussed on the existing structure, size,
composition and diversity of the Board to ensure that it has
a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate for
the requirements for the business of the Group and that it is in
compliance with the requirements under the Listing Rules;
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° Assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; and

° Recommended the re-appointment of retiring Directors at the
annual general meeting for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Policy for Nomination of Directors

It is the policy of the Nomination Committee to adopt the following
procedure, process and criteria for selecting and recommending
candidates for directorships.

Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and recommend
candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by giving due consideration
to a wide range of criteria, having due regard to the benefits of diversity
on the Board, including but not limited to gender, age, experience,
cultural and educational background, expertise, skills and know-how,
sufficient time to effectively carry out their duties, their services on
other listed and non-listed companies (if any, which should be limited
to reasonable numbers), qualifications including accomplishment and
experience in the relevant industries the Company’s business is involved
in, independence, reputation for integrity, potential contributions that the
individual(s) can bring to the Board and commitment to enhance and
maximise value for Shareholders.

Nomination Procedure and Process

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment of a Director in accordance with the following procedure
and process:

(@ by giving due consideration to the current composition and size
of the Board, develop a list of desirable skills, perspectives and
experience at the outset to focus the search effort;

(b)  consult any source it deems appropriate in identifying or selecting
suitable candidates, such as referrals from existing directors,
advertising, recommendations from independent agency firms,
and proposals from shareholders of the Company, with due
consideration given to the criteria set out in the section titled
“Selection Criteria” above;
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(c) adopt any process it deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability
of the candidates, such as interviews, background checks,
presentations and third-party reference checks;

(d) upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the
Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of
written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the recommendation
to the Board for appointment;

(e) make the recommendation to the Board in relation to the
proposed appointment and the proposed remuneration package;
and

) the Board will have the final authority on determining the selection
of nominees. The ultimate decision of Board appointment will be
based on reputation and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy on
a regular basis and discuss any revisions that might be required, and
recommend to the Board for consideration and approval.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 23 January
2017, with specific written terms of references with rule 3.26 of the
Listing Rules and paragraph E.1 of the CG Code. The Remuneration
Committee comprises three members, including two independent non-
executive Directors namely Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey (Chairman)
and Mr. Ye Longfei and one non-executive Director namely Ms. Zhan
Meiqing for the Year.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include without
limitation to the following:

1. to formulate remuneration policy for approval by the Board,
which shall take into consideration factors such as salaries paid
by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibility,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group, and individual
performance of the Directors, senior management, and the
general staff. Performance shall be measured against corporate
goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time to time; and
implement the remuneration policy laid down by the Board;
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2. to recommend to the Board the policy and structure for the
remuneration of Directors, chief executive and senior management
members, whilst ensuring no Director or any of his associates, or
any senior management members is involved in deciding his own
remuneration;

3. to determine the remuneration of executive Directors, chief
executive and senior management members, including benefits
in kind, pension right, compensation payment (including
compensation for loss of office or appointment etc). The chairman
and/or the chief executive of the Company shall be consulted
respectively about their proposals relating to the remuneration of
the chief executive of the Company and/or senior management
members, as the case may be;

4.  to review and approve the compensation arrangements
in connection with any loss or termination of their office or
appointment to executive Directors and senior management which
shall be consistent with contractual terms, and otherwise fair and
not excessive;

5. to review and approve the compensation arrangements in
connection with any dismissal or removal for misconduct to
Directors and senior management which shall be consistent with
contractual terms, and otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

6. to determine the criteria for assessing employee performance,
which should reflect the Company’s business objectives and
targets; and

7.  to consider the annual performance bonus for executive Directors,
senior management members, and the general staff, having
regard to their achievements against the performance criteria, and
by reference to market norms, and make recommendation to the
Board.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the website of the Company.
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summary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee

during the Year is set out as follows:

Reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the Company;

Determined the policy for the remuneration of the executive
Directors;

Assessed the performance of executive Directors;

Approved the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts;
Reviewed and recommended to the Board on the remuneration
packages (including discretionary bonus) of Directors and senior
management of the Company for the Year; and

Reviewed and recommended to the Board on the remuneration

packages regarding the appointment of the new Directors of the
Company.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report. The remuneration

of senior management for the Year are set out below:
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Remuneration Band (HK$) <& E (& T) AE
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7T £ 2,000,000/ 7T -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T 23,000,000/ 7T -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7T 23,500,000/ 7T -

Investment Committee

T

he Investment Committee was established on 15 May 2017 with

specific written terms of references. The Investment Committee

comprised two executive Directors, namely Mr. Xu Chujia (Chairman)
and Mr. Xu Chusheng.
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The principal duties of the Investment Committee include without
limitation the following:

1. to provide advice to the Board on investment of the Company, if
required;

2. to advise on investment policies of the Company;

3. toidentify, consult and engage such external professional adviser
as investment manager or adviser to the Company on investment
matters;

4. to make investment decisions for and on behalf of the Company
in accordance with the investment policies adopted by the
Company; and

5. to consider such other topics and matters relating to the
investment of the Company as may be requested by the Board.

The written terms of reference of the Investment Committee are
available on the website of the Company.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
Diversity
Board Diversity Policy

The Board recognises the importance of its diversity in relation to its
business, and adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”). The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board, the summary of which is set out below:

- The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance;

- In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of
perspectives; and

- All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and

candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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As at 31 March 2023, the Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge,
skills and experience. They obtained academic certificates, degrees and
masters in various majors. The Board comprises 3 executive Directors,
1 non-executive Director and 3 independent non-executive Directors.
Furthermore, the Board has a wide range of age, ranging from 34 years
old to 80 years old.

Measurable Objectives

In terms of implementing the Board Diversity Policy, there are the
following measurable objectives:

(@) to comply with the requirements as specified under the Listing
Rules from time to time in relation to composition of the Board;

(b)  the number of independent non-executive Directors appointed
must not be less than three and must represents at least one-third
of the Board;

(c) atleast one of the independent non-executive Directors must have
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise; and

(d)  must appoint a Director of a different gender on or before the year
ended 2024 to avoid single gender board.

As at 31 March 2023, all the measurable objectives under the Board
Diversity Policy have been fulfilled.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Board reviews the Board Diversity Policy and the measurable
objectives for implementing such policy on a regular basis and
will review the progress on achieving these objectives, developing
successors to the Board, and the implementation and effectiveness of
the Board Diversity Policy on an annual basis.

Gender diversity of Workforce

Gender diversity at workforce levels (including our senior management)
is disclosed in the Company’s “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” contained in this annual report.
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DIRECTORS' AND AUDITORS RESPONSIBILITY IN
RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group. In preparing the financial statements which give a true and
fair view, it is fundamental that the appropriate accounting policies are
selected and applied consistently. The reporting responsibilities of the
Company’s external auditor on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group are set out in the independent auditor’s report on pages 59
to 65 of this annual report. The Directors were not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit services and non-audit services provided
by the Auditor to the Group during the Year amounted to HK$1.6 million
and nil respectively.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Responsibilities of the Board

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems and reviewing the
effectiveness of such systems through the Audit Committee on annual
basis. The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight
and corporate roles in the Group’s financial, operational, compliance,
risk management, internal controls, while senior management designs,
implements and monitors the risk management and internal control
systems, and provide reports to the Board and the Audit Committee
on the effectiveness of these systems. However, systems and internal
controls can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss, as they are designed to manage,
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the Group’s business
objectives.

Risk Management and Assessment

The Company has established formal risk assessment criteria for the
Group. Senior management identify risks that potentially impact the
key processes of their operations on an annual basis. Risks are scored
and ranked by their impact on the business and the likelihood of their
occurrence. Senior management assess the effectiveness of the existing
controls and formulate risk mitigating activities. Results of the annual risk
assessment are reported to the Audit Committee, including amongst
other things, significant risks of the Group and the appropriate control
activities to mitigate and/or transfer the identified risks.
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Internal Control

The Company has established defined levels of responsibilities and
reporting procedures. Controls have been designed and established to
ensure that assets are safeguarded against improper use or disposal,
financial and accounting records are maintained in accordance with
relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting requirements,
and key risks that may impact on the Group’s performance are identified
and assessed.

The Company has internal audit function which is primarily responsible
for developing various internal control manuals and procedures,
conducting reviews on the key operational processes and the
related internal controls to ensure compliance with the Group’s risk
management and internal control policies and procedures.

During the Year, the Company has engaged an external consultant
to conduct a review over the Group’s internal controls over financial
reporting. Senior management has taken certain immediate remedial
actions accordingly and has refined certain internal control procedures
in due course. Issues identified were followed up for proper
implementation.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Audit Committee assists the Board in the review of the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems on
an ongoing basis. The Directors through the Audit Committees are
kept informed of significant risks that may impact on the Group’s
performance. For the Year, the Board considered the risk management,
internal control systems and internal audit function of the Group to
be effective and adequate. The Audit Committee has reviewed and
is satisfied with the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting,
and financial reporting function.

Procedures and Controls over Handling and
Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company is aware of its obligation under relevant sections of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) and the Listing Rules.
An Inside Information Policy has been established to lay down practical
guidelines on definition of inside information, compliance and reporting,
disclosure and announcement of inside information. All members of
the Board, senior management, head of departments, and staff who
are likely to possess inside information are strictly bound by this policy.
Staff who have access to inside information is required to keep the
unpublished inside information confidential until relevant announcement
is made. Failure to comply with such requirements may result in
disciplinary actions.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy with no fixed dividend
payouts. The actual dividend that the Board may recommend or declare
in respect of any particular financial year or period is subject to a
number of factors and at the discretion of the Board.

The Board will take into account the following factors when considering
the payment of dividends:

(@ the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

(b)  the level of retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company;

(c) the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and
the relevant financial covenants;

(d) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group’s lenders;

(e) the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

® general economic conditions, and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Company; and

(@ any other factors deemed relevant by the Board.

The payment of dividends is also subject to any restrictions under the
laws of the Cayman Islands and the Articles.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time to time.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The role of the company secretary of the Company was performed by
Mr. Cai Chun Fai from 1 April 2022 to 30 June 2022. Mr. Kwan Kin Man
Keith has been appointed as the company secretary of the Company
with effect from 30 June 2022.

The company secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board’s
communications among Board members, the Shareholders and the
management of the Company and ensuring the Board policies and
procedures, as well as the applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed.

Each of Mr. Cai Chun Fai and Mr. Kwan Kin Man Keith has confirmed

that he took not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the Year in compliance with rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

KBEMEZRBRDE o T =FFK

Corporate Governance Report
TERERBRSE

R B BUER

EEGDRMEETRSEMRIBKE - &
5 {1775 22 B 4 29 T e o
SRNERBSESEREMAR  LRES

EMBEETE -

REBEKNKRER EZ@KEEATE

(@ ARFNERNERIBERE

b) ARBREEF R AIE D IKFEFEKE

© AEBEEHESLE - RALDRERA
TR R

(o) AEEERAFGEH RN RSN E
faI BRI -

@ AEBNEHLEE ST RAABER
58l

EBEBLENRNAEHARREH LR
5530 RS R 52 8 B EL Al R BB sl o
MERE: R

@ EFeRERNEMEMER-

RN BB NS 2 8 5 AE R AR A ERR
BIFTHLER

EEeBTRRARBEEK -

NEIWE

E-ZE - _HNNA—HBE-_Z- A=
+H  ARRARWENACHERELL
B -BEXSEFEBE-_E-_—FXA=1H
EEEZTARRABQARME -

AAREEEREEFHNE  RERAA
AERECHNEE  TRREFEHAR
TR DA RO R « SRBI BRI -

FIREAELBEXNEEESSAER KR
AFEEEEREMHRAB20MKEZHRELED
D16/ 2 RSB HIET o



Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and strategies.
The Company also recognises the importance of timely and nonselective
disclosure of information, which will enable the Shareholders and
investors to make the informed investment decisions.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders communication policy which aims at establishing a
two-way relationship and communication between the Company
and the Shareholders and maintains a website of the Company
at www.szzhaobangji.com, where up-to-date information on the
Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information are
available for public access.

Based on the above and the section headed “Shareholders’ rights”
below, the Board considers that Company’s shareholder communication
policy has been effectively implemented during the Year.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

We seriously take care the Shareholders’ interest to ensure that they
are treated fairly and are able to exercise their Shareholders’ rights
effectively. Shareholders are entitled by the Articles of the Company and
are also encouraged to participate in the Company’s general meetings.

Convening of extraordinary general meeting

In accordance with the Articles, any two or more Shareholders, or
any one Shareholder which is a recognised clearing house (or its
nominee(s)), holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less
than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of
voting at general meetings shall have the right, by written requisition, to
require an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”) to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company which is situated at Unit 13-15, 11/F,
China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168200 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Directors
fail to proceed to convene such meeting to be held within a further 21
days, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, provided that any EGM so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Directors shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals by
Shareholders at Shareholders' meeting

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a
Shareholder should lodge a written notice of the proposal (“Proposal’)
with his/her/its detailed contact information at the Company’s
headquarters and principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong at Unit 13-15, 11/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong, with a copy of the
Proposal served to the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar at their
respective address.

The request will be verified with the Company’s Hong Kong share
registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper and in
order, the Board will be asked to include the Proposal in the agenda for
the general meeting.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the headquarters
of the Company at Unit 13—15, 11/F China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak
Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

During the Year, the Company has adopted its second restated
memorandum and articles of association in order to reflect certain
amendments to the Listing Rules and the relevant laws of the Cayman
Islands. For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 25 July 2022 and 22 August 2022 and the circular of
the Company dated 28 July 2022 respectively. The second restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company is available on
both the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Report of the Directors
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group
is principally engaged in trading of machinery and spare parts, leasing
of machinery and the provision of related services, the provision of
transportation services in Hong Kong, and the provision of property
management services, leasing of machinery and property leasing,
subletting and retail businesses in the PRC. Details of the principal
activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note
24 1o the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of the business of the Group during the Year and the
discussion on the Group’s future business development are set out
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis”, and the description of principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group and key financial performance indicators
are set out in the section headed, “Management Discussion and
Analysis”. The financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.
Important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end
of the Year are set out in the section headed “Events after the Reporting
Period” in this report of the Directors. The contents of all the above
mentioned sections form parts of the business review as contained in
this report of the Directors.

In addition, discussions on the Group’s relationships with key
stakeholders, environmental policies and performance and compliance
with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on
the Group are as follows:

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group’s success depends on the support from key stakeholders
which comprise employees, customers and suppliers.

Employees

The Group is committed to establish a close and caring relationship
with its employees. The Company provides a fair and safe workplace,
promotes diversity to our staff, provides competitive remuneration and
benefits and career development opportunities based on their merits
and performance. The Group also puts ongoing efforts to provide
adequate trainings and development resources to the employees so
that they can keep abreast of the latest development of the market and
the industry and, at the same time, improve their performance and self-
fulfillment in their positions.
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Customers and suppliers

Our major customers include some of the major main contractors in
Hong Kong, and meanwhile we directly source machinery from some
overseas manufacturers. Many of our five largest customers and
suppliers have established long term business relationship with us. We
believe that such long term relationships represent confidence and trust
from our business partners and acknowledgement of our ability.

The Group is able to build up close working relationship with our
business partners and bring together our customers and suppliers to
develop foundation technology. The Directors have frequent interactions
with our customers regarding their feedbacks on the quality of our
products which would then be reflected to our suppliers by us. Through
this solid communication channel together with our experienced
management team, the Directors believe that we are able to better
understand our customers’ needs as well as the market trend in order
to make appropriate modifications or improvements to our products.
In particular, we would reflect the market needs to our suppliers
who would then make modifications based on our idea originations.
Leveraging on our relationship, our major suppliers provide us technical
and other support such as training on the function, operation and
maintenance of their machinery. We believe our established relationship
with suppliers also enable us to acquire various types of machinery to
fulfil our customers needs in a timely manner and with favourable terms.

The Group also leases machinery from third party construction
companies for which we would then sub-lease to our customers which,
to the belief of the Directors, is of mutual benefit and would build up a
closer business relationship between us and our customers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

We believe that our business also depends on our ability to meet our
customers’ requirements in respect of safety, quality and environmental
aspects. To meet our customers’ requirements on safety, quality
and environmental aspects, we have established and implemented
various quality control measures in our operation process. Through
the systematic and effective control of our operations, compliance with
safety, quality and environmental requirements can be further assured.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Directors confirmed that during the Year and up to the date of
this annual report, the Group had obtained all the registrations and
certifications required for its business and operations, and had complied
with (a) the applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong; and (b) the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Xu Chuijia (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Chusheng
Mr. Kwan Kin Man Keith
(appointed with effect from 30 June 2022)
Mr. Cai Chun Fai
(resigned with effect from 30 June 2022)
Mr. Wei Jinwen
(resigned with effect from 17 November 2022)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Zhan Meiging

Professor Lee Chack Fan, G.B.S., S.B.S., J.P.
(resigned with effect from 31 December 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey

Mr. Wong Chun Man

Mr. Ye Longfei

Information regarding directors’ emoluments are set out in note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this
report.
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Pursuant to article 16.18 of the Articles, at every annual general meeting
of the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to,
but not less than, one-third, shall retire from office by rotation, provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A
retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the meeting at which
he retires and shall be eligible for re-election thereat. The Company at
any annual general meeting at which any Directors retire may fill the
vacated office by electing a like number of persons to be Directors.

Accordingly, Mr. Xu Chujia, Ms. Zhan Meiging and Mr. Ye Longfei
will retire from office as Directors at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. All the said Directors, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACT

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
our Company which is initially for a fixed term of 1 year, commencing
from the date of appointment, and shall continue thereafter until
terminated by not less than one month written notice to the other party.

Each of our non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with our Company
which is initially for a fixed term of 1 year, commencing from the date of
appointment. The appointment is subject to termination under certain
circumstances as stipulated in the said letter of appointment, and the
provisions of the Articles with regard to vacation of office of Directors,
removal and retirement by rotation of Directors.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service agreement which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any of the Directors or their respective spouses or minor children,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

DIRECTORS' MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save for the continuing connected transactions as disclosed in
the sections headed “Related Party Transactions and Connected
Transactions” and “Continuing Connected Transactions” of this report,
no Director nor an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance subsisting during or at the end of the Year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the connected transactions and the continuing connected
transactions as disclosed in the sections headed and “Related Party
Transactions and Connected Transactions” and “Continuing Connected
Transactions”, respectively, of this annual report, no contract of
significance between the Company (or any of its subsidiaries) and a
controlling shareholder of the Company (or any of its subsidiaries), or
contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company (or
any of its subsidiaries) by a controlling shareholder of the Company (or
any of its subsidiaries) subsisted during or at the end of the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision as defined in the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance was in force for an indemnity against a liability
incurred by Directors during the Year.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
below, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the Year.

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests of the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”)
or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as recorded in the registered required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:
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Long positions in the Shares RERHHHER
Number of Percentage of
Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held shareholding ™"
EEpnE B fEmtE BERGHE [ A== AUL
Mr. Xu Chujia (©e?) Interest of a controlled corporation 3,804,096,000 61.41%

FHIE R o A R Rt EER
Notes:
1. The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the number

of issued Shares as at 31 March 2023 of 6,195,000,000.

2. Mr. Xu Chujia owned 58.53% of the issued share capital of Boardwin
Resources Limited, which beneficially owned 3,804,096,000 Shares,
representing approximately 61.41% of the issued share capital of the
Company. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Xu Chuijia is deemed to be interested
in the Shares in which Boardwin Resources Limited were interested.
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Long position in the shares of Boardwin Resources
Limited, an associated corporation ote !

A 8 5% % B Boardwin Resources
Limited B 10 & Y 57 & (W=D

Number of Percentage of
Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest shares held shareholding ™2
EEME B REEME BERGOEE IR FE T 2 b 2
Mr. Xu Chujia Beneficial owner 183,053,003 58.53%
FTRRRE EnlEEA
Mr. Xu Chusheng Beneficial owner 25,018,920 8%
FTRERE ST EnEEA
Ms. Zhan Meiging Beneficial owner 3,127,365 1%
EEBRL Em#EEA
Notes: Bfsr
1. Boardwin Resources Limited beneficially owned 3,804,096,000 Shares, 1. Boardwin Resources LimitedE = # A
representing approximately 61.41% of the total issued Shares as at 31 3,804,096,000f KA R A fE D + {542 A
March 2023. As such, Boardwin Resources Limited was an associated RZEZ=F=ZA=+—HEETKRAR
corporation of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. 4761.41% o A It * Boardwin Resources
Limitedﬁéﬁ%&%@fﬂ%ﬂ%XVE‘EFﬁﬁEE’\]$
A AR AEEEE -
2. The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the number 2. Iz fIE R Boardwin Resources Limited
of issued shares of Boardwin Resources Limited as at 31 March 2023 of - =—; —=H=ZRAR=+—HB %17

312,736,500 shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company had any interest or short position
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests of persons, other than Directors

or the chief executive of the Company, in the Shares as recorded in

the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were as

follows:

Report of the Directors
EETEHRS

FERRRR D K AEBER O
ZREh

R-P-=EZA=t—A  BARARR
B R I E 036 B 2 B R M AT
- THAL(RATESREATHARS

SN R BIRRD Z #EZS T

Number of Percentage of

Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held shareholding ™"

ExpE A8 B REEME FEROEE IR#ET D =D

Boardwin Resources Limited Beneficial owner 3,804,096,000 61.41%
EnlAA

Ms. Zhang Meijuan 2 Interest of spouse 3,804,096,000 61.41%

SRR A L MED [T 3
Notes:
1. The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the number

of issued Shares as at 31 March 2023 of 6,195,000,000.

2. Ms. Zhang Meijuan is the spouse of Mr. Xu Chujia, who owned 58.53%
of the issued share capital of Boardwin Resources Limited, which in tun
beneficially owned 3,804,096,000 Shares, representing approximately
61.41% of the issued share capital of the Company. By virtue of the SFO,
Ms. Zhang Meijuan was deemed to be interested in the Shares in which

Mr. Xu Chujia was interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, no persons, other than

the Directors and the chief executive of the Company, had any interest

or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the

register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to the written resolutions passed on 23 January
2017. From the date of the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and
up to the end of the reporting period, no share option has been granted,
or agreed to be granted, under the Share Option Scheme.

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
participants of the Share Option Scheme (the “Participants”) with
the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company
and to encourage Participants to work towards enhancing
the value of the Company and its Shares for the benefit of the
Company and its Shareholders as a whole. The Share Option
Scheme shall provide the Company with a flexible means of either
retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, compensating
and/or providing benefits to Participants.

2. Participants of the Share Option Scheme and
the Basis of Determining the Eligibility of the
Participants

On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and the
requirements of the Listing Rules, the Board may offer to grant
an option, to any Director(s) (including executive Directors, and
independent non-executive Directors) and full-time employee(s)
of any member of the Group and any advisers, consultants,
contractors, subcontractors, suppliers, agents, customers,
business partners, joint venture business partners, service
providers of any member of the Group who the Board considers,
in its absolute discretion and on such terms as it deems fit, grants
options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme to.
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Grant of options

On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and
the requirements of the Listing Rules (in particular as to grant of
options to Directors, chief executives and substantial shareholders
of our Company or their respective associates), the Board shall
be entitled at any time within 10 years after the date of adoption
of the Share Option Scheme to make an offer for the grant of
an option to any Participant as the Board may in its absolute
discretion select. The offer shall specify the terms on which
the option is granted. Such terms may include any minimum
periods for which an option must be held and/or any minimum
performance targets that must be reached, before the options can
be exercised in whole or in part, and may include at the discretion
of the Board other terms imposed (or not imposed) either on a
case by case basis or generally.

Payment on acceptance of option offer

An offer shall remain open for acceptance by the Participant
concerned for a period of 14 days from the date of the offer.
HK$1.00 is payable by the Participant who accepts an offer of
the grant of an option in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme (the “Grantee”) to our Company on acceptance
of the offer of the option.

Subscription price

The subscription price shall be such price as the Board may
in its absolute discretion determine at the time of grant of the
relevant option but the subscription price shall not be less than
the highest of: (a) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant;
(b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days
immediately preceding the date of grant (provided that in the
event that any option is proposed to be granted within a period
of less than 5 business days after the trading of the Shares first
commences on the Stock Exchange, the new issue price of the
Shares for the offer of new Shares shall be used as the closing
price for any business day falling within the period before listing of
the Shares on the Stock Exchange); and (c) the nominal value of a
Share on the date of grant.

KBEMEZRBRDE o T =FFK

Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

KRB

RIR Bt Bl R R L AR AR E
(FRHRERMARRRES  RSTH
ABRFBEBRRABEEANBEAR
HEREORE) N REERRT - &
FeERAERMBRER S B HER0
TR BRAEZENTETNERNZ
HEZHRHBRRE - ZBOETRAR
B AR O R o S%FIRFA B R0 A]
TEZHHE D BRENMFERENR
HHR R IABEINNKERER
B A BRREEENBERELERX
—ARIF I HE N (3 AN b0 B E A 155K

BEMBEREZNERMNAR
ZEHBHELHAERFT14B M EHE AT
HEBSEEEMN - BREBEERETBIE
B EMAREBREZONSEE ([
BADERERBEREZLNRRARAR
S AH1.008 7T ©

RBE
REEAREFTENR I ABBRER
ERBBETVER  EZRBETE
BERTISENZRSE © @QBXANE
H A EIE BRSO UTE (o)
BN EZRRL BRI AEEXAN
B 55K P 51 e B A7 S 28 W {8 (O fied 72
BB RN ARG EERER DN AE
LR EMBEARER D EABRE
R ZE B A 0T IR D B ATEMR A R IE
Bt B R BT ET AT IR AR 2 XA
MRTE) - Re)BEPREL B BHE
-

49



Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

50

Option period

The period within which the Shares must be taken up under an

option shall be the period of time to be notified by the Board

to each Grantee at the time of making an offer, which shall be
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion at the time of
grant, but such period must not exceed 10 years from the date of
grant of the relevant option.

Maximum number of Shares subject to options 7.
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The aggregate number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and other
share option schemes of the Company (and to which the
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules are applicable)
must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to
time;

The Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and other share option schemes of the Company (and to
which the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules
are applicable) shall not exceed 600,000,000 Shares,
representing 10% of the aggregate of the Shares in issue on
the Listing Date and approximately 9.69% of the number of
issued Shares as at the date of this report of the Directors
(the “Scheme Mandate Limit”);

The Company may refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit at
any time subject to prior Shareholders’ approval. However,
the Scheme Mandate Limit as refreshed shall not exceed
10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of the aforesaid
Shareholders’ approval. Options previously granted under
the Share Option Scheme and other share option schemes
of our Company (and to which the provisions of Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules are applicable) (including those
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with its terms
or exercised), shall not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the limit as refreshed;
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(d) The Company may also seek separate Shareholders’
approval for granting options beyond the Scheme Mandate
Limit to Participants specifically identified by the Company
before the aforesaid Shareholders’ meeting where such
approval is sought; and

(e)  The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each Participant (including
both exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any
12 month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue
(the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options to a
Participant which would result in the Shares issued, and to
be issued, upon exercise of all options granted, and to be
granted to such Participant (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding options) in the 12 month period up to and
including the date of grant of such further options exceeding
the Individual Limit shall be subject to Shareholders’ approval
in advance, with such Participant and his close associates
(or his associates if such participant is a connected person)
abstaining from voting.

8. Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

As at 31 March 2023, the remaining life of the Share Option
Scheme was approximately 3 years 10 months (expiring on 22
January 2027).

During the Year, no options had been granted, exercised or cancelled or
had lapsed under the Share Option Scheme. There were no outstanding
options under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 March 2023.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

For the Year, the Group entered into the Renewed Property
Management Framework Agreement (as defined below) which
constituted continuing connected transactions with Shenzhen
Zhaobangji and its subsidiaries (“Shenzhen Zhaobangji Group”)
and the continuing connected transactions have complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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Continuing connected transactions in relation to the
Renewed Property Management Framework Agreement

As disclosed in the annual report of the Group for the Previous Year, on
30 November 2018, Shenzhen Zhaobangji Property Services Company
Limited* (FYITIKBEWZE R EBR A ) (“Shenzhen Zhaobangji
Property Services”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a property management framework agreement (the “Old
Property Management Framework Agreement”) with Shenzhen
Zhaobangji (for itself and as trustee for the benefit of its subsidiaries
from time to time) in relation to the provision of property management
services by Shenzhen Zhaobangji Property Services in respect of
properties controlled or developed by Shenzhen Zhaobangji Group with
a term commenced on 21 December 2018 and ended on 31 March
2021.

References are made to (i) the announcement of the Company dated 14
January 2021; and (i) the circular of the Company dated 2 March 2021,
as the Old Property Management Framework Agreement expired on 31
March 2021 and Shenzhen Zhaobangji Property Services shall continue
to carry on the relevant property management services thereunder
upon the expiry date. On 14 January 2021, Shenzhen Zhaobangji
Property Services and Shenzhen Zhaobangji entered into a renewed
property management framework agreement (the “Renewed Property
Management Framework Agreement”) in respect of the provision of
property management services contemplated under the Old Property
Management Framework Agreement with a term commencing from 1
April 2021 to 31 March 2024 (the “Renewed Property Management
Continuing Connected Transactions”).

As at 31 March 2023, Shenzhen Zhaobangji is controlled as to
approximately 81% by Mr. Xu Chuijia, the chairman of the Board, an
executive Director and a controlling Shareholder indirectly holding
approximately 61.41% of the total number of issued Shares. As such,
Shenzhen Zhaobangji is an associate of Mr. Xu Chuijia, and a connected
person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Shenzhen Zhaobangji
Property Services is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The
transactions contemplated under the Renewed Property Management
Framework Agreement therefore constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The service scope under the Renewed Property Management
Framework Agreement includes:

1. Daily management, cleaning and repair of public areas of the
properties;

2. Security services and guest reception in the properties;

3. Maintenance of fire prevention, and reporting accidents to relevant
authorities and taking corresponding measures to support rescue
work in the properties;

4, Management of parking of vehicles and car parks (if applicable);

5. Management of renovation undertaken by occupants of the
properties; and

0. Management of the public utilities expenses paid by the
occupants.

Shenzhen Zhaobangji Property Services and Shenzhen Zhaobangji
Group shall enter into individual property management agreement(s)
in respect of each property to be managed by Shenzhen Zhaobangji
Property Services during the term of the Renewed Property
Management Framework Agreement. The terms of the individual
property management agreement(s) shall in principle be consistent with
the Renewed Property Management Framework Agreement.

The annual caps for the Renewed Property Management Framework
Agreement shall not exceed RMB27.0 million, RMB27.8 million and
RMB28.6 million, during the three years ended 31 March 2022, 2023
and 2024 respectively.

The Renewed Property Management Continuing Connected
Transactions have been reviewed by the independent non-executive
Directors. The independent non-executive Directors have confirmed
that the Renewed Property Management Continuing Connected
Transactions have been entered into (1) in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group; (2) on normal commercial terms or better;
and (3) according to the Renewed Property Management Framework
Agreement on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
Renewed Property Management Continuing Connected Transactions
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its letter
containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the Renewed
Property Management Continuing Connected Transactions as disclosed
by the Group above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company
to the Stock Exchange.

Note:

* The English translation of the Chinese name is for illustration purpose only.
Should there be any inconsistencies, the Chinese name shall prevail.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the Year are set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements, and they fall under the definition of “connected transaction”
or “continuing connected transaction” under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Nevertheless, except as otherwise stated in note 45,
these related party transactions are not the Acquisition, the Tenancy
Agreements (as defined below) nor the Renewed Property Management
Continuing Connected Transactions disclosed in this Report of the
Directors, or connected transactions which are fully exempt under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with
all applicable disclosure requirements in respect of the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions of the Group in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the Year, the Company entered into the Renewed Tenancy
Agreements (as defined below) with the Landlords (as defined below),
which constituted connected transaction under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Connected Transactions in relation to the Renewed
Tenancy Agreements

On 31 December 2022, Shenzhen Bang Century Cultural and Media
Company Limited* (FIIFBHE 4 XL EEBR A F]) (the “Tenant”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into (i) a renewed
tenancy agreement (the “Tenancy Agreement-1”) with Shenzhen
Jinyifu Investment Development Company Limited* (R & 16 & %
EERABMRAF) (the “Landlord-1”) for the leasing of Units B1-3-8,
B1-3-3 and B1-1-1 of the Department Stores Plaza situated in
Shennan East Road 3020, Dongmen Community, Dongmen Street,
Luohu District, Shenzhen, the PRC* (7 /5 JI| T & J#f 1= SR P 738 3R
P9+ % % f BR B 30205% B /& 15) (the “Premises-1”) for a period
of one year commencing from 1 January 2023 to 31 December
2023 at an aggregate monthly rent of RMB161,210 (equivalent to
approximately HKD179,878); and (i) a renewed tenancy agreement
(the “Tenancy Agreement-2”, together with the Tenancy Agreement-1,
the “Tenancy Agreements”) with Shenzhen Liyumen Investment
Development Company Limited* (&Y T BB FIREZEREBR AR
(the “Landlord-2”, together with the Landlord-1, the “Landlords”) for
the leasing of Units L3-03, L3-13, L2-13/15/16-1, B2-01, B2-19-18,
L3-02, L4-02 and 2-05/06/07 of Well Link City situated at Dongbin
Road, Liwan Community, Nanshan Street, Nanshan District, Shenzhen,
the PRC* (PEBURIIT B ILEFEILEED 24 RFBER I BHEBEY S
L) (the “Premises-2”) for a period of one year commencing from 1
January 2023 to 31 December 2023 at an aggregate monthly rent of
RMB360,559 (equivalent to approximately HKD402,311).

The Landlord-1 is owned as to 66.5% by Shenzhen Zhaobangji Group
Company Limited* (RYIIJKFHE & B B R 2 7]) (‘Shenzhen Zhaobangji
Group”) and 29% by Mr. Xu Weizhen, the nephew of Mr. Xu Chujia, an
executive Director. The Landlord-2 is owned as to 90% by Shenzhen
Zhaobangji Group. Shenzhen Zhaobangji Group is 81% directly owned
by Hong Kong Well Home Limited (which is in turn owned as to 90%
by Mr. Xu Chujia and 10% by Ms. Zhang Meijuan, the spouse of Mr.
Xu Chuijia) and 8% ultimately owned by Mr. Xu Chusheng, an executive
Director.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 30

December 2022 in relation to, inter alia, the Acquisition and the Tenancy
Agreements.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Year.

COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors or the controlling shareholders
and their respective associates had any interests in a business, apart
from the business of the Group, which competes or may compete with
the business of the Group or has any other conflict of interest with the
Group which would be required to be disclosed under rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group was set up by
the Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.
The emolument of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics. The Company has
adopted a Share Option Scheme as an incentive to eligible persons,
details are set out under heading “Share Option Scheme” in this annual
report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the Group’s retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 16
to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
laws of Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company
was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2023, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands amounted to approximately HK$193,000,000
million (2022: HK$196,000,000).
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float throughout
the Year as required under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of the Group’s turnover and purchases attributable
to the major customers and suppliers during the Year and the Previous
Year were as follows:

Report of the Directors
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For the year ended

BETHAHPLFE
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
—EZ=F —E-—
ZA=+—-B =RA=+—H
Percentage of turnover hEEENE DL
From the largest customer REEREP 15.6% 8.6%
From the five largest customers in aggregate KERAREFPHETE 39.2% 26.6%
Percentage of purchase HERBENE L
From the largest supplier RERAMER 24.5% 44.5%
From the five largest suppliers in aggregate RE AR EER R 74.8% 74.6%

One of the five largest customers of the Group is a related party
controlled as to approximately 81% interest by Mr. Xu Chuijia (an
executive Director and a controlling Shareholder). Save as disclosed
about, none of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in any
of the five largest customers and suppliers of the Group during the Year.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No important events affecting the Group have occurred since the end of
the Year.
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DIVIDENDS

Any declaration of dividends will depend upon a number of factors
including the earnings and financial conditions, operating requirements,
capital requirements and any other conditions that our Directors
consider relevant and will be subject to the approval of our shareholders.
There is no assurance that dividends of any amount will be declared or
distributed in any given year.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Year (2022: Nil).

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”) was the auditor of the Group since
the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 10
February 2017 and had resigned from the position on 20 March 2020.
RSM Hong Kong (“RSM”) was appointed to fill the casual vacancy
occasioned by the resignation of PwC.

The consolidated financial statements for the two financial years ended
31 March 2021 and 2020 had been audited by RSM, who had resigned
as the auditor of the Group with effect from 25 April 2022 and BDO
Limited (“BDO”) was appointed as the new auditor of the Group with
effect from 25 April 2022 to fill casual vacancy occasioned by the
resignation of RSM.

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been audited
by BDO, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Xu Chujia
Zhaobangji Properties Holdings Limited

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2023
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Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

|IBDO

EEE 1 +852 2218 8288
{85 : +852 2815 2239

www.bdo.com.hk

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ZHAOBANGJI PROPERTIES
HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhaobangji
Properties Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 66 to 211, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Estimated useful lives and residual values of machinery

Refer to note 5(b)(iii) in the critical judgements in applying accounting
policies and note 19 “Property, plant and equipment” to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group held machinery of approximately
HK$85.5 million. For the year ended 31 March 2023, depreciation
expenses of approximately HK$75.0 million for machinery classified
under property, plant and equipment were recognised.

Management estimates useful lives of the machinery by reference to
the Group’s business model, its assets management policy, expected
usage of the assets and expected repair and maintenance of the
assets. Management also takes into account the industry practice and
expectation on technical or commercial obsolescence arising from
changes or improvements in the market relevant to their business.

Residual values of the machinery are determined based on prevailing
market values for equivalent aged assets taking into account the
physical condition of the relevant assets and other economic
considerations.

We focused on this area because the carrying amount of machinery
is significant to the consolidated financial statements and the
determination of estimated useful lives and residual values of machinery,
which has a direct impact on the calculation of depreciation expense,
requires the use of significant judgement and estimates.
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QOur response:

° We assessed the reasonableness of the useful lives adopted by
the Group by benchmarking to other industry players, and tested
on a sample basis, whether additions to machinery have been
recorded in proper categories for the calculation of depreciation;

° We observed Group’s physical count procedures at year end on
machinery and the physical condition of the relevant assets to
identify whether there is any damaged or obsolete machinery; and

° We discussed with management on trends of prevailing market
values for equivalent aged assets for each major category of
machinery, corroborating explanations with recent machinery
sales for similar aged assets and market research that we have
performed, as appropriate.

Impairment assessment of loans receivable

Refer to note 5(b)(iv) in the critical judgements in applying accounting
policies and note 28 “Loans receivable” to the consolidated financial
statements.

At 31 March 2023, the Group had loans receivable, net of loss
allowance, and related loss allowance of approximately HK$46.5 million
and HK$2.8 million respectively.

The expected credit loss (“ECL”) calculations of financial assets at
amortised cost under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS
9”) involved management’s significant judgement and high level of
estimation uncertainty. It includes key assumptions such as probability
of default rates, expected recovery rates in the event of loss-given
default and forward-looking information specific to the debtors and the
macroeconomic environment where the debtors are located.

We identified the impairment assessment of loans receivable as a key
audit matter because of the significant judgement and high level of
estimation uncertainty involved in the ECL calculations and the carrying
amounts thereof are significant to the consolidated financial statements.
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QOur response:

° We assessed the appropriateness of the ECL models by
challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions and inputs
used by the management in estimating the ECL, including
evaluating the accuracy and relevance of the historical default
rates and whether they are properly adjusted based on the recent
credit loss experience and forward-looking information specific
to the debtors and the macroeconomic environment where the
debtors are located; and

° We evaluated the reasonableness of disclosures relating to
impairment assessment of loans receivable.

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.
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DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

ERBEEENEAETRITHBIET &
PREMR T EXHE - RETHEXEREE -

BAIIR -

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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° obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lau Kin Tat, Terry

Practising Certificate no. PO7676

Hong Kong, 30 June 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

caeBEaRkEMEZEKRER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ZE —ZE —=F=A=+—HIFE
2023 2022
—E-=F T
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt aE FET T
Revenue Wz 8 258,353 271,998
Cost of sales and services $HE R ARTEA A (225,603) (167,875)
Gross profit EX 32,750 104,123
Other gains and losses Hh i R EsE 9 5,218 95
Impairment losses on financial assets TREERESE (12,290) (4,302)
Selling expenses HEMX (2,944) (4,122)
Administrative expenses THFX (60,745) (37,176)
(Loss)/profit from operations REmBER) RR (38,011) 58,618
Finance income BT UA 4,515 3,358
Finance costs BA TSR AR (1,950) (1,290)
Finance income, net BRI H 5 11 2,565 2,068
(Loss)/profit before tax BRBLAT (B51B), R F (35,446) 60,686
Income tax expense FRS 15 X 12 (5,539) (22,699)
(Loss)/profit for the year REE (B8E)ER 13 (40,985) 37,987
Other comprehensive (expense)/ Hizm@EEx), ki
income
Item that may be reclassified to AJGEERT MR E 18 i)
profit or loss: HH :
Exchange differences on translating MEBINETS 2 EH Z5E
foreign operations (13,747) 6,656
Item that will not be reclassified to BT EEN T EE B
profit or loss: HA -
Fair value gain on revaluation of financial & AFEFFAHME2E YR
asset at fair value through other JoREEEM s ANFE
comprehensive income U %5 1,233 1,353
Other comprehensive (expense)/ AEEHME2EGEIXR),
income for the year, net of tax Wz o MBRBIE (12,514) 8,009
Total comprehensive (expense)/ AEER2EBIX) WE
income for the year g (53,499) 45,996
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

ma

Sm R HEMEEKE R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 i ZE—ZT - =F=A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EBC-=F T
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt aE FTER T
(Loss)/profit for the year TEE(FR),BF
attributable to: BER:
Owners of the Company ZIN/NESIET PN (40,985) 37,987
Non-controlling interests eI M = -
(40,985) 37,987
Total comprehensive AEER2HEBIX) WE
(expense)/income for the BEREER
year attributable to:
Owners of the Company KRB A (53,502) 45,999
Non-controlling interests AR 3 ©)
(53,499) 45,996
(Loss)/earnings per share for RATERZIFEAEMN
(loss)/profit attributable to (BB, w28k
equity holders of the Company: (BB, B : 18
HK cents HK cents
AL AL
Basic and diluted ARG EE (0.66) 0.61
KHBEMEZERERDT ¢ —T_=—FFR 67



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B R R R

As at 31 March2028 R—ZE-_=F=HA=+—

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B = FTER FAT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BELEE 19 150,577 192,648
Right-of-use assets EREEE 20 26,450 23,696
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFGT AHMEmKE
other comprehensive income JEREE 23 4,855 3,769
Financial assets at fair value through RAFEGABR 22/
profit or loss BE 29 85,680 -
Deposits, prepayments and e - BN FUA R H AL ER
other receivables FIE 27 11,936 25,088
Loans receivable JEE X 28 46,203 -
325,701 245,201
Current assets REEE
Finance lease receivables B E M & eI IR 24 = 699
Subleasing receivables 7 U GRIA 25 = 1,603
Inventories & 26 7,460 8,508
Trade receivables B Z EWRIE 27 114,219 179,249
Deposits, prepayments and e AN FUE R H AR
other receivables IA 27 37,722 39,373
Loans receivable FEU B 3K 28 284 -
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFTABZ SR
profit or loss BE 29 17,146 70,796
Current tax assets BVERFI TR & 2= = 4,274
Amounts due from related companies i) NCIE S 45 12,189 19,008
Bank and cash balances SRIT IR ek 30 43,245 44,751
232,265 368,261
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Current liabilities

Contract liabilities

Borrowings

Lease liabilities

Trade and bills payables

Accruals and other payables
Amounts due to related companies
Current tax liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

Lease liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

NET ASSETS

hRBAE
BMAE

f& X

HEAE

B HRNFTANENRE
FERT B R K H A A 5R
FE 1 REHSE 2 R 5RIR

BT E B (&

RBEEFE

REERABAE

SR PR
e

EEHIAAE

BERE

Notes

B E

32
33
34

2023

—E-=
HK$’000

FET

5,071
16,317
22,374
18,045
25,184

6,115

4,252

97,358

134,907

460,608

9,710
2,599
13,876

26,185

434,423

2022
— = —

—

HK$’000
TAT

1,336
9,513
7,057

21,744

28,982
1,673
6,168

76,473

291,788

536,989

23,177
621
25,269

49,067

487,922



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e B AR R &

As at 31 March 2023 R—ZE—_=F=H=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5T FET FHEIT
Capital and reserves attributable to AR FEFABERER
owners of the Company &
Share capital RN 36 12,390 12,390
Reserves & 39 422,085 475,587
Equity attributable to owners RATEE AR
of the Company 434,475 487,977
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR R A (52) (59)
TOTAL EQUITY DA 434,423 487,922

Approved by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2023 and are signed on
its behalf by:

Mr. Xu Chujia
FRREE
Director

EF

R-E-_=FXA=+tERKESSHELHR
ATEERABRE

Ms. Zhan Meiging
EEBLZL
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

VAN
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HiE =T = =F = A =+—HILFE

Financial

assets at

fair value

Foreign through other

currency comprehensive Non-

Share Share  translation Merger  Statutory income  Retained controlling Total
captal  premium reserve reserve reserve reseve  eamings Total assets equity

RAVE

HARf

k3694
ke RBEE MERERE  GMEE  iERE  SREEEE  RERA Bt FEREE  BERfE
HKS000 HKS1000 HKS000 HKS1000 HKS1000 HKS 000 HKS1000 HKS000 HKS1000 HKS1000
Thn T Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thr Thn

(oted6)  (oted9p)  (oteddp)  (roteddp)  (rote390) (note 39(0)

(o) (Wasop)  (isssop)  (Bibsop)  (ikaop) (BzE20p)
At Apri 2021 R-E--¥mA-H 12390 16,347 494 2,500 9110 142 295,255 441978 (] 14196
Proft for the year Emigi| - - - - - - 37987 37987 - 31987
Other compreensive income fo the year EREp2AkE - - 6,659 - - 1363 8012 8012 ] 8,009
Total comprehensive income for the year EnREhaLE - - 6,659 - - 1358 3797 45999 ] 4599
Transfer tostatutory resenve ERTHTER - - - - 8177 - 177 - - -
Changes in equty for the year Emigag - - 6,659 - gim 1,358 29810 45999 8] 459%
At 31 March 2022 W-E--E=A=t-A 12390 116,347 11,603 2,500 17,281 278 325,065 487917 (55) 18792
Loss forthe year R - - - - - - (M%) (4098 s (0%
Other comprehensive expense for heyear — FAEH2ERR c c (18,750) e = 1283 e (12517 3 (12514
Total comprehensive expense for the year ERRERSLE = = (13,750) = = 1233 (40983 (5350 3 (53,499)
Transfer tostatutory resenve ERTETHE o o : : 5128 : (5,726) = = =
Changes in ety for the year L c c (18,750) e 518 1283 é6my (53502 3 (83,499)
A3t March 203 H-8-=£zf=t-8 00 16 W) 20 2016 W M® T B
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Cash flows from operating activities

(Loss)/profit before tax
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Gain on disposals of property, plant and

equipment

Loss on disposal of right-of-use assets
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries

Gain on a bargain purchases
Impairment losses on financial assets
Impairment loss on goodwill
Written-off on property, plant and

equipment

Written-off on right-of-use assets
Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, net

Finance income
Finance costs

Operating profit before working capital

changes
Decrease in inventories

Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables
Decrease under sub-leasing receivable
Decrease/(increase) in financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss
Decrease in deposits, prepayments

and other receivables
Increase in contract liabilities

Increase/(decrease) in amounts due

from related companies

Decrease in trade and bills payables

Decrease in accruals and other payables

Increase in amount due to related

companies

2023
—ZE=-=
Notes HK$’000
B 7 FExT
RETEFEBRERE
BREL AT (E18), 5 A (35,446)
AT SHEIEL A
ME - BEIEETE
93,574
FRAEEENE 17,722
HEWE - BREREHED

e (3,151)
HEFREEENEISR 3,078
HEWEB QRS 43 -
HERE 44 -
TREEREBE 12,290
EENEREY ! =
YIZE - R Rk s

263
5 & E M 244
LA EFABREZER

BEZAFEWR),

ERFE (4,378)
UM (4,515)
IR 1,950

LIBES BRI RT
81,631
FE R 1,048
E S REWGRIER D (38 0) 49,878
o> 78 FE W FRIE R 1,487

BRATFEFABEZEME
EmL (&) 46,709

Td - FEMFERE M ER
SIER 2,876
A aEEN 3,733

JE i B Bt X &) FRIE S 0,
) 5,551

B S RENZAERENEE
Ve (2,892)

FERT B FB I E At FE S 5R0E
DRAR (2,611)

JE 1~ BE B 2 B FUE I AN

127

2022
HK$'000
TET
60,686
61,111
6,807
(7,486)
(257)
(848)

4,302
61

9,512
(3,358)
1,290

131,820
823
(116,087)
2,648
(51,597)

20,333
24

(26,584)

(7,773)

(1,227)



Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid

Net cash from/(used in) operating
activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest income on bank deposits

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment

Addition to financial assets at fair value
thought profit or loss

Disposals of subsidiaries, net cash inflow

Proceeds from disposals of property,
plant and equipment

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net cash
outflow

Decrease in finance lease receivables

Increase in loans receivable

Net cash (used in)/from investing activities

Notes

B

BREFRHEE
B FrEH

REFBFRE(FRARE
R

REZBHFRBRERE
RITIF A B A
BEWE  BEM&E

BAFEFGTABREZ
SREEEM
HERBARGIKRIRS

mA) 43
HEME - BB MEFED
FriSsk18
WEEMB AR (IBRE S

) 44
B & T & R IE R

JE U B B A

RETE (), HiisHE 2
JHER

2023
—g-=

HK$’000

TR

187,537

(14,240)

173,297

50

(46,261)

(74,100)

11,533

712
(49,284)

(157,350)

2022
—Eo—F
HK$'000
TET

(47,620)
(26,740)

(74,360)

308

(25,366)

1,482

30,835

(2,346)
1,617

6,530



Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings

Proceeds from borrowings

Payment of lease liabilities

Advance received from related parties
Repayment to related parties

Interest paid

Net cash used in financing activities

Net decrease in cash and
cash equivalents

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end

of the year represented by bank and

cash balances

RETERBRERE
EEEBN
BN FIR
S'Zﬁﬁffféﬂ\

W BY BE B 5

1,%?{%@%%’#7\7

EfTAE

BE LB T 2 FRE

RERREEBURIFR

SMNEERBEEL 2 E

FHNzRERRAEEEY

FRZEAERAEEEY
2 RBITRBEEER

Notes

B

~
o
O

I NN N NN
L
cooooce

O

2023

—E-=

HK$’000
FEx

(7,854)
2,718
(14,313)
5,387
(995)
(1,950)

(17,007)

(1,060)

(446)

44,751

43,245

2022
—Eo—F
HK$'000
TET

(14,081)
9,839

(14,589)
541

(1,290)

(19,580)

(87,292)

(1,771)

133,814

44,751



Zhaobangji Properties Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability. The
address of its registered office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. The address of
its principal place of business is Unit 13=15, 11th Floor, China
Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168—200 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company as at 31 March
2023, Boardwin Resources Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), is the immediate parent and Mr.
Xu Chuijia is the ultimate controlling party of the Company.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations. These consolidated
financial statements also include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622). Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group
for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &= —ZF — =4

(a)
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ADOPTION OF HKFRSs

Application of amendments to HKFRSs — effective 1
April 2022

The Group has adopted the following amendments to HKFRSs,
which included HKFRSs, HKAS and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
relevant to the Group’s accounting policies and business
operations adopted for the first time prepared and presented
on the consolidated financial statements for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 April 2022:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to HKFRS 1,  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 16 and 2018-2020
HKAS 41

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
period has no material impact on the Group’s performance and
financial positions for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

(a)
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(a)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{ &

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (Continued)

Application of amendments to HKFRSs — effective 1
April 2022 (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

The amendments update HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations”
(“HKFRS 3”) so that it refers to the revised Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting 2018 instead of the version issued in
2010. The amendments add to HKFRS 3 a requirement that, for
obligations within the scope of HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets” (“HKAS 37”), an acquirer applies
HKAS 37 to determine whether at the acquisition date a present
obligation exists as a result of past events. For a levy that would
be within the scope of HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 “Levies” (“HK(IFRIC)-Int
21”), the acquirer applies HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 to determine whether
the obligating event that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy has
occurred by the acquisition date. The amendments also add an
explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise contingent
assets acquired in a business combination.

These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.
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ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (Continued)

Application of amendments to HKFRSs — effective 1
April 2022 (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment any proceeds from selling items
produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management. Instead, the proceeds from selling such items,
and the cost of producing those items, is recognised in profit or
loss.

These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts = Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling a contract’
comprises the ‘costs that relate directly to the contract’. Costs
that relate directly to a contract can either be incremental costs
of fulfilling that contract (e.g. direct labour and materials) or an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts
(e.g. the allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of
property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.
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3. ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 — L =-_=F=H=+—HIFE

3. RMNERYHHREEA
(%&)

(a) Application of amendments to HKFRSs — effective 1 (a) FEAEH B KR EEREE

April 2022 (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

A-—B--—FWMA—A4%£
A (&)

BB EREE B N\FE=
ToTEAMTEERE

e  HKFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial o ABEUBWMEERE1EE RN
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS 1”), which permit a subsidiary BAUBREEN([EEY B
that applies paragraph D16(a) of HKFRS 1 to measure HEREIR]) - A TEARBH
cumulative translation differences using the amounts R EYERIFE 15 FED16(a) R 89K
reported by its parent, based on the parent’s date of BRATIREBESAGBEEESY

transition to HKFRSs.

BHREENOBE EAELQF
EBRNCRITERAELZR -

e HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”), which clarify e EXRUBRETEAFIRMBL
the fees included in the ‘10 per cent’ test in paragraph B([BBUBmEERER])
B3.3.6 of HKFRS 9 in assessing whether to derecognise a EEEBUBREEANFIRE
financial liability, explaining that only fees paid or received B3.3.6ER P& - ERT B KL
between the entity and the lender, including fees paid or BREHMBERO10%]AIH A
received by either the entity or the lender on other’s behalf BENER UHREEESEER
are included. BEEERA 2B e

BR - BREBHIERARKHE
AL SWEE B -

o HKFRS 16, Leases, which amend lllustrative Example 13 . BEREPBEREENF165HE
to remove the illustration of reimbursement of leasehold 1T 131 & FI LAMIBR BB B A A
improvements by the lessor in order to resolve any potential ENEEREERHEA - R
confusion regarding the treatment of lease incentives that ZAPIRHEEEENHATN
might arise because of how lease incentives are illustrated in mAlEEENFRBEREERERES

that example.

BRIZH)EAERE

e HKAS 41, Agriculture, which remove the requirement to e FAEHEUNFMNREZE  ZE
exclude taxation cash flows when measuring the fair value of FIEGIREERBEERNGESE

a biological asset using a present value technique.

MEENAFEERBRKEAR
EIMEMENL °

These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial HEASRT AW EEH AE B 2 476 W SR

statements of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —Z —_=F= A= BHIEFE
3. ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (Continued) 3.
(b) New or amendments to HKFRSs that have been (b)

issued but not yet effective

The following new or amendments to HKFRSs, have been issued,
but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the

Group.
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments’
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture®
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments”)? #
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies!
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates'

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction’

U Effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2024

8 Effective for the annual period beginning on or after a date to be
determined

& As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of

the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024. In addition, as a consequence of the 2020
Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation
5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause was revised to align the corresponding wording with no
change in conclusion.

\
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(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{ &

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (Continued)

New or amendments to HKFRSs that have been
issued but not yet effective (Continued)

Except for as described below, the directors of the Company do
not anticipate that the adoption of these new or amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet effective will have any
material impact on these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

The amendments add subsequent measurement requirements
for sale and leaseback transactions that satisfy the requirements
of HKFRS 15 to be accounted for as a sale. The amendments
require a seller-lessee to determine “lease payments” or “revised
lease payments” such that the seller-lessee would not recognise
a gain or loss that relates to the right of use retained by the
seller-lessee. The amendments also clarify that applying the
requirements does not prevent the seller-lessee from recognising
in profit or loss any gain or loss relating to subsequent partial or
full termination of a lease.

As part of the amendments, lllustrative Example 25 accompanying
HKFRS 16 is added to illustrate the application of the requirements
in a sale and leaseback transaction with variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024, with early application
permitted. The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the financial position and performance
of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REUBRERME
For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —Z —_=F= A= H 53
3. ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (Continued)

(b)

82

New or amendments to HKFRSs that have been
issued but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement or at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current
or non-current, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the
end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met at
the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does
not test compliance until a later date; and

° clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the
entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only if the entity
recognises the option separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 March 2023,
the application of the amendments will not result in reclassification
of the Group’s liabilities.
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(b) New or amendments to HKFRSs that have been

issued but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (2022)

The 2022 Amendments clarify how to treat liabilities that are
subject to covenants to be complied with, at a date subsequent
to the reporting period. The 2022 Amendments improve the
information an entity provides when its right to defer settlement of
a liability for at least twelve months is subject to compliance with
covenants. The 2022 Amendments clarify that only covenants with
which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date will
affect a liability’s classification as current or non-current. The 2022
Amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application of the 2022 Amendments is permitted.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 March 2023,
the application of the amendments will not result in reclassification
of the Group’s liabilities.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2,
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,
other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity
chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information,
such information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.
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(b) New or amendments to HKFRSs that have been

issued but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2,
Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Continued)

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s significant
accounting policies. The impacts of application, if any, will be
disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty — that is, the accounting policy may require such items
to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be observed
directly and must instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set
out by the accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates
involves the use of judgements or assumptions based on the
latest available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in
HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2028 iE T —_=F=HA=+—HIFE

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (Continued)

New or amendments to HKFRSs that have been
issued but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition exemption
of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in paragraphs 15
and 24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes so that it no longer applies to
transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences.

As disclosed in note 4(u) to the consolidated financial statements,
for leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to
the relevant assets and liabilities separately. Temporary differences
on initial recognition of the relevant assets and liabilities are not
recognised due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will recognise
a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all
deductible and taxable temporary differences associated with the
right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for the Group’s annual reporting
period beginning on 1 April 2023. As at 31 March 2023, the
carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities which
are subject to the amendments amounted to HK$20,014,000 and
HK$20,104,000 respectively, in which the Group will recognise
the related deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities of
HK$5,004,000 and HK$5,026,000 respectively.
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(a)

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for the financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
accordance with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed
in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control.
The Group controls an entity when it has power over the entity, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group
has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s
returns.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.
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(a) Consolidation (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in
a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s share
of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill
and any accumulated foreign currency translation reserve relating
to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the
Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment loss, unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combination (other than under common
control) and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition
of a subsidiary in a business combination. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at the
acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and any contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the
periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are
received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the
acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the sum of the consideration transferred is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-
date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum
of the consideration transferred in a business combination to
calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured
at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate share of the net
fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combination (other than under common
control) and goodwill (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) or groups of
CGUs that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is
allocated represents the lowest level within the Group at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing
the goodwill is compared to its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”),
which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances in each entity's financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates at the end of each reporting period.
Gains and losses resulting from this translation policy are
recognised in profit or loss.
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(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(ii)

(iif)

Transactions and balances in each entity's financial
statements (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at
the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group’s entities
that have a functional currency different from the Company’s
presentation currency are translated into the Company’s
presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are translated at
the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
foreign currency translation reserve.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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4. TESFHBERGE)

(c)

(d)

(Continued)
Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii) Translation on consolidation (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of monetary items that form part of the net
investment in foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are reclassified to
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on
disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes (other
than properties under construction as described below). Property,
plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write-off their cost less their residual values over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives
are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 3 years
Machinery 1.5-10 years
Equipment and tools 3-5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5-10 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

Construction in progress represents leasehold improvements of
the properties managed by the Group and is stated at cost less
impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the relevant assets
are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.
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(e) Leases (Continued)

0]

The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-
lease component(s), the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and
leases of low-value assets. When the Group enters into a
lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
The lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(e) Leases (Continued)
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The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial
amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date, and any initial direct
costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-
use assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located, discounted to their
present value, less any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated financial statements.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.
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(e) Leases (Continued)

0]

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced
to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate lease.
In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position. The
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as
the present value of contractual payments that are due to be
settled within twelve months after the reporting period.
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(e) Leases (Continued)

()

(ii) The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is
not the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

The Group enters into arrangements to sublease an
underlying asset to a third party, while the Group retains
the primary obligation under the original lease. In these
arrangements, the Group acts as both the lessee and lessor
of the same underlying asset.

If the property lease is subleased under terms transferring
substantially all remaining risks and rewards under the head
lease to the lessee in the sublease, the right-of-use asset is
derecognised, and a subleasing receivable is recognised and
classified as a finance lease. Gain/loss on the derecognised
right-of-use asset, if any, is recognised in the profit or loss
account as income/expenses.

During the term of the sublease, the Group recognises both
finance income on the sublease and finance costs on the
head lease.

Inventories

Inventories comprise machinery and equipment, construction
work materials and consumables and are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-
in, first-out basis. The cost of finished goods comprises all cost
of purchase and other cost incurred in bringing the inventories
to their present location and condition. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{ &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue.
A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective
interest method.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (Continued)

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at
either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification
of the financial assets.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(i) Financial assets (Continued)

Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified into one of the

following measurement categories:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI”) — recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments of principal
and interest and the investment is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both the collection of
contractual cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income, except for the
recognition in profit or loss of expected credit losses (“ECL”),
interest income (calculated using the effective interest
method) and foreign exchange gains and losses. When the
investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income is recycled from equity to profit
or loss.

FVTPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling). Changes
in the fair value of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless
the equity investment is not held for trading purposes and
on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
election to designate the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on
an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if
the investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of.
At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in
equity securities, irrespective of whether classified as at FVTPL or
FVTOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other income.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECL.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out in (m) to (0) below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Derivative

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.
The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value depends on
whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and
if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The Group designates
certain derivatives as either:

° hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or
a firm commitment (fair value hedges),

o hedges of a particular risk associated with the cash flows of
recognised assets and liabilities and highly probable forecast
transactions (cash flow hedges), or

° hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net
investment hedges).

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting.
Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not
qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in profit
or loss and are included in “other gains and losses”.

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(q) Revenue and other income (Continued)

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to
the contract, control of the goods or services may be transferred
over time or at a point in time. Control of the goods or services
is transferred over time if the Group’s performance included the
following criteria:

o provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

o creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the Group performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract with reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods or services.

Revenue from the sale of machinery and spare parts is recognised
when control of the goods has been transferred, being when the
goods have been delivered to the customer’s specific location
(delivery). Following delivery, the customer has full discretion
over the manner of distribution and price to sell the goods, has
the primary responsibility when on selling the goods and bears
the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods.
A receivable is recognised by the Group when the goods are
delivered to the customers as this represents the point in time at
which the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only
the passage of time is required before payment is due.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Revenue and other income (Continued)

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost
or FVTOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.
For credit impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is
applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of
loss allowance) of the asset.

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss in equal instalments over the periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
use of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised
in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease
payments receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are earned.

Revenue from transportation, repairing and maintenance services
is recognised as a performance obligation satisfied at a point in
time when the related services are rendered.

Revenue from provision of property and other retail business
services is recognised over time.

Revenue from property leasing and subletting is recognised over
the lease terms.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Employee benefits

()

(s)

0]

(if)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of
the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees. Contributions
to the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated
as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement
benefit scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the
dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits, and when the Group recognises restructuring
costs and involves the payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the

acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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(t)

(u)

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.
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(u) Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets
and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether
the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or
the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the lease
terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.
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(v)

(w)

108

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at
each reporting date for indications of impairment and where an
asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense in profit or loss
to its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use
and the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or
the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows
of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are computed
using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit whose
impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first
against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the
other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases
in the recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the
impairment.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments
in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost or at
FVTOCI. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the
respective financial instrument.
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(w) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as
well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information
considered includes the future prospects of the industries in which
the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from economic expert
reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-
tanks and other similar organisations, as well as consideration
of various external sources of actual and forecast economic
information that relate to the Group’s core operations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(w)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since

initial recognition:

instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

risk for a particular financial instrument;

economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

operating results of the debtor;

instruments of the same debtor;

regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s

ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.
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an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial

significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

significant increases in credit risk on other financial

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{ &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if:

()  the financial instrument has a low risk of default;

(i)  the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(i)  adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk
when the asset has external credit rating of “investment grade”
in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an
external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating
of “performing”. Performing means that the counterparty has a
strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

- information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the counterparty;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the counterparty’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the counterparty a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
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(w) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

- it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by
the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date, together
with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the
future by default date determined based on historical trend, the
Group’s understanding of the specific future financing needs of
the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking information.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest
rate. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used in measuring the
lease receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except
for investments in debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI,
for which the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve,
and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(z) Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period are adjusting events and are reflected in the consolidated
financial statements. Events after the reporting period that are not
adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements when material.

(aa) Related parties

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(aa) Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence

over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(vii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Company or to the Company’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

()  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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(a) Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors

have made the following judgements that have the most significant

effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements (apart from those involving estimations, which are

dealt with below).

0]

(if)

Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in accounting policy disclosed in note 4(w),
ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL
for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3
assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition. HKFRS 9
does not define what constitutes a significant increase in
credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset
has significantly increased, the Group takes into account
qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable
forward-looking information.

Property lease classification = Group as lessor

The Group has entered into sublease contracts for certain
properties. The Group has determined, based on an
evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements,
including whether the lease term constitutes a major part
of economic life of the right-of-use assets and whether the
present value of the minimum lease payments amounts
to substantially all the fair value of the right-of-use assets,
whether it retains substantially all the significant risks and
rewards incidental to the right-of-use assets. Where this is
not the case, the Group accounts for the sublease contracts
as finance leases, otherwise the contracts are accounted for
as operating leases.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are discussed below.

(i) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

During the year, HK$5,539,000 (2022: HK$22,699,000)

of income tax was charged to profit or loss based on the
estimated profit from operations.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(if)

120

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value
in use, the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset;
and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
assets belongs. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the recoverable
amounts.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets were
HK$150,577,000 and HK$26,450,000 (2022:
HK$192,648,000 and HK$23,696,000) respectively.
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(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iii) Estimated useful lives and residual values of machinery

(iv)

classified under property, plant and equipment

Management estimates useful lives of the machinery
classified under property, plant and equipment by reference
to the Group’s business model, its assets management
policy, the industry practice, expected usage of the
assets, expected repair and maintenance, the technical
or commercial obsolescence arising from changes or
improvements in the market. Residual values of the
machinery classified under property, plant and equipment
are determined based on prevailing market values for
equivalent aged assets taking into account the condition
of the relevant assets and other economic considerations.
Depreciation expenses would be significantly affected by the
useful lives and residual values of the property, plant and
equipment as estimated by management.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of machinery
classified under property, plant and equipment is
HK$85,499,000 (2022: HK$155,368,000).

Impairment of financial assets measure at amortised cost

The management of the Group estimates the amount
of impairment loss for ECL on financial assets measure
at amortised cost based on 12-month or lifetime ECL
assessment. The amount of the impairment loss based
on ECL model is measured as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition. Where the
future cash flows are less than expected, or being revised
downward due to changes in facts and circumstances, a
material impairment loss may arise.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iv) Impairment of financial assets measure at amortised cost
(Continued)

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of trade
receivables and other receivables and loans receivables are
HK$114,219,000, HK$49,658,000 and HK$46,487,000
respectively (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
HK$13,898,000, HK$1,964,000 and HK$2,797,000
respectively) (2022: trade receivables and other receivables
of HK$179,249,000 and HK$64,461,000 (net of allowance
for doubtful debts of HK$6,854,000 and HK$311,000).

(v) Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based on
the ageing and estimated net realisable value of inventories.
The assessment of the allowance amount involves
judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome in
future is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying value of inventories and allowance
charge/write-back in the period in which such estimate has
been changed.

As at 31 March 2023, no allowance for slow-moving
inventories was recognised in profit or loss (2022: Nil).

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, equity price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk
and interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

5. BRI EAS LT (&

(b) fEFFFREEN 2 EBZRIF(E)

(iv) REBERATENESHEER
B (&)
R-_E-_=%=ZA=+—8 "
B 5 MWK IE & E fth B R IE
UERBEREZRNEEBES A
114,219,000/ 7t + 49,658,000
78 70 2 46,487,0007% 7T (5 Bl 0
B REEH 513,898,000 T -
1,964,000/ 7T &% 2,797,000/ 7T)
(ZE-—=—F  EZERFERE
fth FE U SR IB 9 Bl £179,249,000
77T 264,461,000/ 7T (FN Bk R ER
756,854,000/ 7T K% 311,0007
7T)) °
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(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in HK$, Japanese Yen (“JPY”), United States dollars
(“US$”) and Renminbi (“RMB”). The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group monitors its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

At 31 March 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of monetary
assets and liabilities that were denominated in JYP mainly

(a) M8 B

HRAEBALOEBRS - BER
BEXZENET  BRE(RED - %73
(ETDEARE(TAREDE &
HEASE TINERR - NEE B AL
BHRINER S - BERABHEINE LS
MR - AEBEEERHINERE -
WEBRHEZRELIHEASNEEL -

mfyffiﬁ T _F=A=+—
B LABEHENEEEENAGBNER

HEXEBSAKERER NISNERR

exposed the Group to foreign currency risk were as follows:

Liabilities Assets
afE BE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EBo=F B —F = —E_—

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000

FERT FATT FET FH&T

JPY HIEl 191 759 901 2,887
At 31 March 2023, if the HK$ had weakened 5 per cent against RZEZ=F=A=+—8 ' WEILK
the JPY with all other variables held constant, consolidated HERZES% @ MAE EMESRET
loss after tax for the year would have been HK$30,000 lower g AARNFERBEESEBEEERLD

(2022: consolidated profit after tax for the year would have been
HK$89,000 higher), arising mainly as a result of the foreign
exchange gain on trade receivables and bank and cash balances
denominated in JPY. If the HK$ had strengthened 5 per cent

30,0008 T(ZT=Z=4F : KEEKRH
B ER A A KIS 189,000 L) + E A
DHEZERMRBEFENE 5 EWRIE
IARIRTTRIR S A HRINERSFTE - 14

against the JPY with all other variables held constant, consolidated BT BEFESY% « MATHE E A2
loss after tax for the year would have been HK$30,000 higher RETE AR FERRELEEEBER

(2022: consolidated profit after tax for the year would have
been HK$89,000 lower), arising mainly as a result of the foreign
exchange loss on trade receivables and bank and cash balances
denominated in JPY.

At 31 March 20283, the Group held certain financial assets and
financial liabilities which were denominated in US$ and RMB. The
directors are of the opinion that the Group’s exposure to US$ and
RMB foreign currency risk is minimal.

30,0008 T (Z T __F : AFE
BR B 18 47 B 0% FI 8 5 489,000/ 7T)
EETEHRNIABEGENE S ER
KRIELA R RIT MR © AR INEBE AT
g( °

R-T_=F=ZA=1+—0 AKEHF
BETURTRARBHENSREE
ReafE BEFERRAEEEBEHNSE
TERAREINERRBH -



(b) Equity price risk

(c)

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly through its
investment in equity securities and unlisted investment measured
at FVTPL and FVTOCI. The management manages this exposure
by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risk
and return profiles. The Group’s equity price risk is mainly
concentrated on equity securities quoted on the Stock Exchange
and fund investment portfolio with securities listed on the Stock
Exchange. In addition, the Group also invested in certain unquoted
equity securities for investees operating in property development
industry sector for long term strategic purposes which had been
designated as FVTOCI.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risk at the end of the reporting period.

If equity prices had been 10% higher/lower (2022: 10%),
consolidated loss after tax for the year ended 31 March 2023
would decrease/increase by HK$1,653,000 (2022: consolidated
profit after tax for the year would increase/decrease by
HK$5,843,000). This is mainly due to the changes in fair value of
financial investments measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the respective
notes to the consolidated financial statements. The Group’s
exposure to credit risk is mainly related to its contractual cash
flows of trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, and
bank and cash balances.

The Group has four types of financial assets that are subject to
the expected credit loss model:

o bank and cash balances;

° trade receivables for sales of goods and from the provisions
of services;

° loans receivable; and

o other financial assets at amortised cost.

(b) ERASEHEE RS

(c)
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(c) Credit risk (Continued)

(0

(if)

Bank and cash balances

The Group’s bank deposits are placed with banks and
financial institutions which are highly reputable with
multinational presences. Investment transactions are
executed with financial institutions with sound credit ratings
and the Group does not expect any significant counterparty
risk. Management does not expect any losses from
nonperformance by these banks and financial institutions as
they have no default history in the past.

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies the HKFRS 9
simplified approach to measure ECL which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. To
measure the ECL, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days
past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles
of sales over a period of 12 to 24 months before 31 March
2023 or 31 March 2022 and the corresponding historical
credit losses experienced within this period. The historical
loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of
the customers to settle the receivables.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Impairment losses on trade
receivables are presented in impairment losses on trade
receivables of the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against the same
line item.

() EERKE)
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(c) Credit risk (Continued)
(ii) Trade receivables (Continued)
Loss allowance calculation of trade receivables

The Group applies simplified approach for assessing
the expected credit loss. To measure the ECLs, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due as disclosure in
note 27 with adjustment of forward-looking information. The
management considered the trade receivables exposure to
credit risk is low. As at 31 March 2023, the expected credit
loss rate for the trade receivables not yet past due is 0.8%,
for 1 to 30 days is 5.6%, for 31 to 60 days is 7.7%, for 61 to
90 days is 8.2% and for more 90 days past due is 19.9%,
respectively (2022: 0.7%, for 1 to 30 days is 6.2%, for 31 to
60 days is 7.0%, for 61 to 90 days is 7.4% and for more 90
days past due is 15.0%, respectively). For the year ended
31 March 2023, the impairment loss on trade receivables of
HK$7,835,000 (2022: HK$3,991,000) was recognised in the
profit or loss. As at 31 March 2023, the expected credit loss
allowance of the trade receivables is HK$13,898,000 (2022:
HK$6,854,000).

(c)

B i e B B ()
EERK (&)

(i)

B 5 EWRIEE)

B Z NIRRT E
AEEERGA AT HELRE
BEEE RTEEHEES
B ESERFEBEERERXFSE
B[R B o 1 K 8 B R Bt 17 (20 B
o7 EE) oM WARAERIEME
B - BEERAE HENFIE
ZEERBREE R_T_=F
ZA=1+—8 B3EKZEZ
TEHE EEEE S Bl & K8
#0.8% * 1230k A5.6% ' 31&E
60K E7.7% 61%\;909&7%8 2%
N BO0KR A £ R219.9% (=& =
—F D HAE07T%  1EI0KRA
6.2% * 31Z260KA7.0% * 612
QOKRB7.4% KB EHOORIA LA
15.0%) - E-_TE_=F=A=
+—BILEFE  BIEKS IEZ
AR 187,835,000 T (— & —
—4F :3,991,000/870) B A B
@R -NR_TE-_=F=A=+
—HB - BSEWBRECEHREE
518 B #5 /513,898,000/8 70 (= &
— —4F : 6,854,000/ 7T) °
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(c) Credit risk (Continued)

(iii) Loans receivable

(iv)

The Group applies the expected credit loss model on loans
receivable. Impairment on loans receivable are measured as
either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected
credit losses, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Please refer to note 28 to the details. All the loans receivable
are classified as stage 1 and the average expected credit
loss rate of the loans receivable for the year ended 31 March
2023 is 5.7%. The loss allowance of the loans receivable of
approximately HK$2,797,000 was recognised in the profit
or loss to the consolidated financial statement for the year
ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

Other financial assets at amortised costs

The Group applies the expected credit loss model on other
financial assets at amortised cost. Impairment on other
financial assets at amortised cost are measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
losses, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since
initial recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime
expected credit losses. Therefore, the loss allowance of
other receivables of approximately HK$1,658,000 was
recognised in the profit or loss to the consolidated financial
statement for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022:
HK$311,000).
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. BfiEEREE (F)
(d) Liquidity risk (d RBESRK
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected REBRBER R EAEER R REHRR
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves FBELHENR  UBERERZEHRSH
of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer B RREESELRRBZAHESS
term. Ko
The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted cash REBFTESHABREHARIIEIR
flows of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities is as follows: ERENEBBERLTET :
Total
Less than contractual
1 year or Between Between undiscounted Carrying
ondemand 1and2years 2and>5 years cash flows amount
BHREE
HSME ReTE
RREXR 122% 2255 aE REE
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TR THT S THR S
At 31 March 2023 R-F-=§=A=1-H
Trade payables BHEMRFA 18,045 - - 18,045 18,045
Accruals and other payables et BRRAMENTUR 25,184 = = 25,184 25,184
Amounts due to related companies  EEIRE A AIFUA 6,115 - - 6,115 6,115
Borrowings B 17,376 7,103 2,916 27,395 26,027
Lease liabilties HEAR 22,850 2,705 = 25,555 24,973
89,570 9,808 2,916 102,294 100,344
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 i ZE—ZT - =F=A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. Bi7&/EbaEEE (4)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) "EEERBSR(E)
Total
Less than contractual
1 year or Between Between  undiscounted Carrying
ondemand  1and2years  2andbyears cash flows amount
LIPS
SIE Hene
FREK 1228 2R55 &% KA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TEL THT TEL THET
At 31 March 2022 R-BZZFZA=1-
Trade and bills payables ESRATERE H?E 21,744 - - 21,744 21,744
Accruals and other payables B ER &HW 308 28,982 - - 28,982 28,982
Amounts due to related companies  JENEIEE A F] 1,673 - - 1,673 1,673
Borrowings B 10,439 21,193 3,113 34,745 32,690
Lease liabilties HERE 7,29 668 - 7,964 7,678
70,134 21,861 3,113 95,108 92,767

The following table summarises the maturity analysis of bank
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause based on agreed
scheduled repayments set out in the loan agreements. The
amounts include interest payments computed using contractual
rates. As a result, these amounts were greater than the amounts
disclosed in the “on demand” time band in the maturity analysis
contained above.

KBEMEZRBRDE o T =FFK

TRBAR B SRERKIRBEE K E T
B 0 E 5T B SR E R KR IRTT
EREHE DN - SEEEAS LT
KABEHFERIEA - Bt - ZFEEK
R EXFRE R B oA s AR 42 25k
RATIREAN SR
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. Bf¥%/E B EIE (&)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) "RBESEE(E)

Maturity Analysis = bank borrowings subject to a repayment
on demand clause based on scheduled repayments
BB - RETAEREME
ZRERERRIARDBTER

Total
Less than Between Between undiscounted Carry
iyear 1and2years 2and5years cash outflows amount
AERRE
HME 122F 25)5% yiouf -t REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAL L TAL TAL TAL

At 31 March 2023 W-E-=f=f=1+-A
Borrowings &3 3,632 956 = 4,588 4,334
At 31 March 2022 R=B-=F=R=t+-H
Borrowings B 6,659 2,457 - 9,116 8,902

(e) Interest rate risk

(e) FIRERR
AEENHRERRFEEREBEHR

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on

130

the fluctuation of benchmark interest rate of the People’s Bank of
China arising from the Group’s bank saving accounts and certain
bank borrowings.

Other than bank saving accounts and certain bank borrowings
mentioned above, the Group’s finance lease receivables, loans
receivable, other receivables, lease liabilities and bank borrowings
at fixed interest rate and therefore are subject to fair value interest
rate risk.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates at the reporting date. For floating
rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of
liability outstanding at the reporting date was outstanding for the
whole year. A 50 per cent increase or decrease is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

AEBRITHERSE L& TRITERE
ERHBRARRITEENEKS -

B EARITREERP B TRITER
Sh - REEMBEHERKFOR - B
B HtE s - HER B RIRTT
fERIREE M R 5T 2 N Bk E & A FE
=R -

TXHURE S RE RS B 2 E A
MEERET - TRFDMNEEE - 2
FRENBEAHHAEENRESR
REBEFEDRITEMEL - MERE
I8N\ B N EREE A R E B B - R BT
2 T B50% @ FHEA S E A KB
REEFNTMG -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &= —=
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. B /& by & 12 (&)
(e) Interest rate risk (Continued) (e) FI== B (&)
If the interest rates on bank borrowings were 50 basis points HIRITIE BT L F T RRS0MEE 2
(2022: 50 basis points) higher/lower, with all other variables held (ZZE=—%F : 50AEE) - LB EHM
constant, the net loss (2022: net profit), net of tax, and retained FERBFILEMNBRAT  FEECE
profits would increase/decrease (2022: decrease/increase) by ZITF R - BRFE KRR R A
approximately HK$108,000 (2022: HK$119,000) attributable to B A (T —F A )
the cash flow interest rate risk exposure on variable interest-rate #9108,000%& L (ZF = =4 : 119,000
bank borrowings. BIT) TR REERITERNES
RN R R FTE -
The stated changes represent the best estimate by the L BEIEEREEHPAET —FER
management on the possible changes of interest rates over the SHHM XA BB REME -
period until the next annual reporting date.
(f) Categories of financial instruments: (f) €T EDHE :
2023 2022
—=E-= -z
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER FAT
Financial assets: EREE
Financial assets at FVTPL: BAFEFABR EREE
Mandatorily measured at FVTPL B AFEFABTE
— Held for trading -REEE 11,676 54,660
— Derivative financial instruments -PTHEERIA 5,470 16,136
- Distressed asset -TREE 85,680 -
Financial assets at amortised cost BHEN TG ENSREE 252,839 285,914
Financial assets at FVTOCI BATEFAEMEERE 2
MEE 4,855 3,769
Financial liabilities: THAE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REBHKATENSRAE 75,371 85,089

(g) Fair values

Except as disclosed in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximate their respective fair values.

KBEMEZRBRDE o T =FFK

(90 2¥E

BRERAMBEMRMETAREEI - &
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HE e
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e B R R M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —Z —_=F= A= BHIEFE
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7.

132

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures of
fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises
into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to
measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can
access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs:  inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs:  unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out
of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 i ZE—ZT - =F=A=+—HILFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. D EFTE(E)
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy: @QAFEERKFHE :

Fair value measurements as at 31 March 2023 using:

R-ZB-=£=ZA=+-RA2AVFEIERA :

Description HiE Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
-8 et =R @t

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

THET TET THER THET

Recurring fair value measurements: ~ EE#ATEHE :
Financial assets at FVTPL - listed equity ~ AT EFFABHEZ

security (note 29) EREE - LMK
&5 (MEh29) 7,957 - - 7,957
Financial assets at FVTPL - unlisted fund R AFE: ABHZZ £/
investment (note 29) BE-FLMES
R & (MEE29) - 3,719 - 3,719
Financial assets at FVTOCI - unlisted BRATEFARLZE
equity security (note 23) Wz mEE -
ELMRAEES
(Fi7E23) - - 4,855 4,855
Derivative financial instruments TESRTE - REME
- Call option (note 29) (P7E29) = = 5,470 5,470
Distressed asset (note 29) TRBE(M329) = = 85,680 85,680

7,957 3,719 96,005 107,681
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #iZE =T - =F=A=+—HILFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. DF{EFTE(E)

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy: (a) A FEEFRKFEEE : (&)
(Continued)

Fair value measurements as at 31 March 2022 using:

R-B__F=A=t-BZAVEHERA

Description B3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—/ E=H F=R st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT THER THT THT

Recurring fair value measurements: ~ SEMATLEHE :
Financial assets at FVTPL - listed equity ~ RAFEFABHEZ

security (note 29) SREE - FTRAR
E5 (H320) 54,660 - - 54,660
Financial assets at FVTOCI - unlisted BOTEFAEMEE
equity security (note 23) sz eREE
- LARAES
(Fff5t23) - - 3,769 3,769
Derivative financial instruments THESBT A - REHE
- Call option (note 29) (P29 - - 16,136 16,136
54,660 - 19,9056 74,565
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 i ZE—ZT - =F=A=+—HILFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. AV EFEGE)
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value (b) UE=HAFEFEZEE
based on level 3: Z ¥R
Financial assets Derivative
at FVTOCI - financial
unlisted equity  instruments = Distressed
securities call option asset Total
BAFERA
Hit2EKE
ZERMEE- {TEEMIA-
FETRAEF REEHE TREE Bzt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T THT THT TR
At 1 April 2021 RZE-—%FMA—H 2,298 13,579 - 15,877
Total gains or losses recognised B Mz S EBLARE
= in profit or loss (#) -REZAH) - 2,557 - 2,557
= in other comprehensive -REMZERSER
income 1,353 - - 1,353
Exchange difference BHER 118 - - 118
At 31 March 2022 and R-ZE-—FZA=1+—H
1 April 2022 KZZE-—_FMA—H 3,769 16,136 - 19,905
Addition NE - - 74,100 74,100
Total gains or losses recognised ~ C RN E S EIBEE
= in profit or loss (#) -REEA®) = (10,666) 11,319 653
= in other comprehensive -REpZERER
income 1,233 - - 1,233
Exchange difference BEHERE (147) = 261 114
At 31 March 2023 RZE-_=F=A=+—H 4,855 5,470 85,680 96,005
(#) Include gains or losses for W EBRRERRBE L
assets held at end of BEZNETEHE
reporting period
2023 —E-ZF - (10,666) 11,319 653
2022 T - 2,057 - 2,557
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(b)

(c)

136

[
n
[l

HIEFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value
based on level 3: (Continued)

The total gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive
income are presented on the face of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss are presented
in other gains and losses of the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair
value measurements:

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements. The
financial controller reports directly to the Board of Directors for
these fair value measurements. Discussions of valuation processes
and results are held between the financial controller and the Board
of Directors at least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally
engage external valuation experts with the recognised professional
qualifications and recent experience to perform the valuations.

The Group’s derivative financial instrument is categorised as level
3 financial instruments. Disclosures relating to derivative financial
instrument are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements. The fair value of derivative financial instrument that
is not traded in an active market is determined by the use of
binomial option pricing model and key unobservable data includes
the expected volatility and discount for lack of marketability.

The Group’s unlisted equity security is categorised as level 3
financial instruments. The fair value of unlisted equity security
was determined by the adjusted net asset approach and key
unobservable input includes net asset value and adjustments to
book value of underlying assets not measured at fair value.

During the two years, there were no changes in the valuation
techniques used.

Statements

(b)

(c)

AFEHE ()
UE=RAFEFEBZEE
Z ¥R - ()

REAM 2 RS TR 2 W e B 1R A8 5
RiFaBRERAMEEKERET]

RBmER c Wt B EABERNGEE
it I L 2 W e R B A U e B TR A
5] o

FEEFAZHERFRMA

EE AR D HE BFERA

BABBZBE

REE 2B EE B RN RS B0
BAERAMZ ATEIE(RESES
BOFENE) - HBEEHBAES
BERKEATENE - HHEERE
£ E L EFETRRGEERSE R

ZE -

2

tHo B

HRF=MAFENE  AEEBARES
ERAELAREXERMIBLRNIN
BB R ESEITIAE ©

AEETEERTARERE =N TR
TR -BRATESBTAZREINES
BB HmRMEE29 - WENERT IS
RGZUTEERITARTEDNFA A
AMREEERAET RARTAIBEH
EERBRERERRZMSEHEENZ
g -

AEENFELMBAESBERFE =M
TR THE - FEMBRAESFHRFET
BRRAEEEFEZEERTENAE
SPABBREREEFELEYIFRA
FEFENEBEENREEEL NS
o

RFIEE T + B 68 PR 1 75 % 3 4 12
&) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2028 i Z —_ T —_=F=A=+—HILFE
8. REVENUE 8. Wiz
Disaggregation of revenue W = 2 #r
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by FRERITEEMIRBREAINEF,E
major products or service line for the year is as follows: AW EEDITAT
2023 2022
—E-= ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Revenue from contracts with BEERMEHREERE155
customers within the scope of HEANEFAHWRE
HKFRS 15
Disaggregated by major products of BEXEEmMARBERIN
service lines:
Sales of machinery and spare parts and 58 #a & 18 FB Z 1 LA R i it
provision of related services FERARTS 12,814 31,638
Transportation services Eh RS 2,828 6,225
Property management services VBRI 81,920 88,543
Property leasing, subletting and others YIEME - #HEEHEAm 37,371 313
134,933 126,719
Revenue from other sources R H AR AW R
Interest income on the net investments in 2 A& & F 58 7 BULA
subleases 423 5,469
Interest income on loans receivable FEW B KA B A 284 -
Property leasing and subletting and others ¥ % 70 & KR LA K Hth 5,888 1,238
6,595 6,707
Leasing of machinery and provision of THE B & R AR B AR 7S
related services 116,825 138,572
123,420 145,279
258,353 271,998
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REMBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2023 {2 —ZE —_=F = A =+—HILFE
8. REVENUE (Continued) 8. Wz (8])
Disaggregation of revenue (Continued) W 25 7 A (48)
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and REBRUT £ B E mE R = FE R E
services over time and at a point in time in the following major AR — IR EY E m kRS E £
product lines and geographical regions: el
Revenue from contracts with customers within the scope of BERMBREERE1SFEEANN
HKFRS 15 EFEEHWE
Sales of machinery and
spare parts and provision of Property management Property leasing,
related services Transportation services subletting and others Total
HERAR
EREANR
RERBRE ERER NEERRE WERE BERAM it

2023 202 2028 202 2028 2022 208 2022 2023 202
“g-cE CECcf CECcE CF-CF CECZE CF-CF CECTE CEIo-E CECTE O CECCE
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000
T Thn T Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn

Primary geographical markets ~ TEHETS

Hong Kong B5 12814 3163 288 625 - - - SR Y I
The PRC except Hong Kong REEERS - - = - B8543 e 33 119291 8885
Revenue from extemal cusiomers~ RESMIEPAINE 12814 31638 2828 6205 8190 8853 aTaM 33 1498 16719

Timing of revenue recognition SR
Goodsandsenices translered  RE-BEHERERR

atapoint ntimg k% 2814 388 288 625 - - - S 1. I )
Senviee ransfered over ime EREHELRE = - - SR 17 I Y T K 33 1921 88850
Tota At 1081 368 288 625 M0 83 33N 33 1498 195719
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{ &

REVENUE (Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)

Revenue from other source not within the scope of HKFRS 15

e YRR MR

E=F=A=1+—RHLFE

8. Wz (%)
W 52 73 #r ()
8 R R 85 2 R 58 1 s SR T S
B Al SR I3

Leasing of machinery
and provision of related  Property leasing,
services subletting and others Unallocated Total
KREER
REBBRS NEHE  BEREM RAE st
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
“E-=E “F--F “E-CE _F--F “F-ZE _BC--F “BC=F —E-CF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK$000 HK$000
TEr Thr FEx TExr  TEr  TExT FTEr TAR
Primary geographical markets ¥ Z#ETH
Hong Kong BE 101,606 105,961 - - 284 - 101,890 105,961
The PRC except HongKong R EI(E M) 15219 32611 6,311 6,707 = - 21530 39318
Revenue from extemnal customers RESMIZPHIE 116,825 138,572 6,311 6,707 284 - 123420 145279

All contracts with customers within the scope of HKFRS 15 are
for periods of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

KBEMEZRBRDE o T =FFK

RN HRELERIE1SKEBEANNAE
BEPANHARB—FHAT - HAEE
BI75 3RS ERIF1GIRATERT - DECERX
ERBTANZRZBITHRE -
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eV BRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &= — = F=Z=A=+—HItFE
9. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 9. Hthlhm= K &EiE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Government grant and subsidy (note (i) BT #H Bh K2 #8 BE (M 5E() 788 -
Impairment loss on goodwill HEREEE - 61)
Written-off on property, plant and MEEME - BB MRS
equipment (263) -
Written-off on right-of-use assets iHEREEE (244) -
Loss on disposal of right-of-use assets ~ H & & BIEEENEIE (3,078) -
Gain on disposals of property, plantand &Y « FE KREH Y
equipment 3,151 7,486
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries (note 43) & Hf 8 A &) 2 U2k (fit5543) = 257
Gain on bargain purchase (note 44) ZEEE W (544 - 848
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at IZAFEFABGDZ SMEEZ
FVTPL N EWE (EE) 4,378 9,512)
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain HNEE (B518), Wiz S 5E (190) 192
Others HAtb 676 885
5,218 95
Note: B3 -
0] Representing local government grants of enterprises development, 0] EEMBRTNCEEER/E  MEBRQ

subsidy of value-added tax paid by subsidiaries and employment
support related subsidies, of which HK$493,000 relates to
Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong
government and other subsidies from the PRC government sectors.
There is no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attaching
to the government grant.

BT X B E T A0 7 BE R AR B 26 AR
BAFEAL - L H493,0007 T B E B BT
REZRMEER S RK A+ BEBUT
P9 F) L 7l R AR R o IO ol B O S B
R ST IR AT BB AR SRR

140 Annual Report 2023 e Zhaobangji Properties Holdings Limited



The Group has five (2022: five) reportable segments as follows:

(i) Trading — Sales of machinery and spare parts
and provision of related services

(ii) Leasing — Leasing of machinery and provision
of related services

(iii) Transportation ~ — Provision of transportation services

(iv) Property — Provision of property management
management services

(v) Property leasing, — Provision of property leasing,

subletting and subletting and other retail

others businesses

Information reported to the directors of the Group, being the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM?”), for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on
types of goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units
that offer different products and services. They are managed
separately because each business requires different technology
and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements. Segment profits or losses do not include corporate
income and expenses, certain other income, finance cost and
income tax.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as if
the sales or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at current market
prices.

SEANTAECZT =% : Afd)
E2HNE

WwoEk
0 B - SHERWRER
T LA RIRH
R
Gy TME - THEBW LIRS
R
(i) E - RHEHRE
(v) PEEIE - REWEEER
%
“v) PEHRE .- - REHEYEAE.
& HRARHEME
Hb EEK

AL E R M D ERR MR AR
EZAEEZEERAFTA(EEEER
RAD)ZEHRHERBEERTRT IR
HEE MR ER -

AEEWAZ2HS BERERETAER R

FRISEVEIIS XIS By - BN B IEERY

FETRRMR2HERE - WEBES
T FER °

&0 RS IR B AR A B A5 R MY
AR E MR o 2 %‘ﬂ&%ﬁﬂ$
BREARTWMARE - BT HEMBKA
BITSRRA R PSR

AEEK D B EHE R ERIZE AR
HEHEERIAE =) (AHZREHE)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 B ZE — T - =F=H=+—HIFE

10.

0]

142

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about reportable segments profit or

10. 7 B E# (K
() FET2HDHRMNIER

loss: &R :
Property leasing,
Trading Leasing Transportation Property management  subletting and others Unallocated Inter segment elimination Total
#E L] HEER WEHEE BERRA #48 AREEY it
028 A2 028 202 08 202 08 202 08 202 08 202 202 202 202 202
Z§-ck CE-CF C¥oc§ CB-CF C¥CcE CFoCF C§ock CE--F C§ocE CE-CF C§ocE CFoCF C§CCE CFoCF C§ocE CECCE
HK$000  HKSO00  HK$000  HKSO0D  HKS000  HKSO0D  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS00  HKS000  HK§000
TRr  TEr  TAm  TEr TR fEr  tRr  TEr TR TEr TR fEn  tEr TR fEm TEn
Year ended 31 March BEZR=1-R
z:2:4
Revensfomedemdl cusiomers RESSEEHAE 12814 3163 11685 138572 2828 6225 81920 88543 43682 7020 284 - - - B 19%
Iner-seqment revenue’ ABEhE = - s - - 1 s - = - (15 = -
Reportable segment revenue BE vl 12814 31638 116825 138512 2828 6225 8292 90008 43682 7000 284 - (1,042) (1525 298363 271998
Seqment fossjpoft before tax ~ BREAB(EE)/
el (4332) 6,599 (9,266 36059 451 542 2629 5298 (26589 380 24 - - (13199 91689
Depreciaionand amortisatin ~~ TERZH R A I N (566) (248 - (1238 (519) (251) (1059 - (111,206 (67918
Ganondisposalsof ropety, ~ HENE - FER
plant and equipment Bl - M 5% 2121 - - - = S ME 7486
Lossondisposals of itotuse  HEEHEEEN
assels EE -y - - - - = - = R -
Witen-offon property, pentand 11 ~ R Rik
aquipment LE - (269) - - s - s - s - s - 289) -
Witen-offon ight-of-useassets  (FREZEME - - (244) - S - S - S - S S (o44)
Iteest income HERA ] %0 19 = 9 5 g 118 17® 2 4 = 4515 338
Interest expenses HEgx (166) (265) (668) (67) - - - (1,116) (138) - - (1950 (1290
(Provision foreversel of SREERERE
impeirmentloss on fiencia (282
ases BO 02 13 (%9 - - OB B W W pm) - om0 (a0
Additon of propery, plntand ~~ FENE - HIER
equipment EL - - U %R - - - 2,078 2 - 182 - 593 25366
* Inter-segment revenue transactions are priced with reference to * PHBERERZINEEBHREREE

prices charged to external parties for similar orders based on similar
terms and conditions of sales agreements entered.

71 ILHO5H & 15 B AR AL

ES
C SN

TG 5h
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e YRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 i ZE—ZT - =F=A=+—HILFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(ii) Reconciliations of reportable segments revenue and
profit or loss:

10. 7 HE R (F&)
(i) TE2H o BNFEEBRZNE
B -

2023 2022
—E-= T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FAT
Revenue &
Total revenue of reportable segments Al 2Mo U ARRE 258,353 271,998
Profit or loss Bi
Total profit or loss of reportable segments 7] 2 35> 2f18 35 42 58 (13,192) 91,689
Unallocated amounts: ROBEEFE -
Unallocated corporate income KA ABUWA 5,030 1,065
Unallocated corporate expenses and RABRAESE R EE R
losses (note) (27,284) (832,068)
Consolidated (loss)/profit before tax BREIRIARE (B518), & F (35,446) 60,686

Note: Unallocated head office and corporate expenses mainly include
professional and consultancy fees, administrative expenses and
business development expenses.

(iii) Geographical information:
Revenue

The Group’s revenue from external customers by location of
operations are detailed below:

MiEE : ROEMERNATBERATERESR
EMHEAER  THASXMEBER
ZR -

(i) HEE R :
g %
AR MRS B2 D MR B SNBSS
Hy U s SEIE T

2023 2022
—E-=F —F-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ExT THET
Hong Kong BE 117,532 143,824
PRC except Hong Kong BB (B EBR AN 140,821 128,174
Consolidated total NG 258,353 271,998
KPEMEZRERAT ¢« —T_=—FFRH
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 B ZE — T - =F=H=+—HIFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. 7 EPE R (F8)
(iii) Geographical information: (Continued) (i) HEER : (8&)
Non-current assets FRBEE
The Group’s non-current assets by location of operations are REBIREEHIE DR EEF
detailed below: BT :
2023 2022
—E_=F —_EF-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT THT
Hong Kong B 109,768 174,152
PRC except Hong Kong i B (B BBR N 67,259 44,060
Consolidated total fREUATE 177,027 218,212
Note: non-current asset located in different location of operations Mzt - LR T RSEMBERNIERBEETE
excluding financial instrument. Fe®mIA-
(iv) Revenue from major customers: (iv) FEXEF2WH :
2023 2022
—EC=F —=F-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&x THT
Customer A* EPA* 40,337 —#
Customer B* EFB* at 32,114
* The revenue was derived from the leasing segment. * ZWEEEBHED -
G The customer contributed less than 10% of the Group’s revenue for @ ZEEFAAEBAFER=EHMTR
the year. 10% °
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE =T —=F=A=+—HILFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 0. 7 B E #H (&)
(v) Reportable Segment assets (v) A 2| BEE
The following table provides an analysis of reportable segment TREHR-ZZ_=FR-ZT-__F=
assets of different reportable segments recognised as at 31 March A=1T—B®RATRANEHRSH 22
2023 and 2022: HOREEDT
2023 2022
—EB-=F —E -
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTER FAT
Trading = 42,757 71,174
Leasing HE 245,155 389,512
Transportation Eiy 5,046 6,023
Property management =L 19,151 20,997
Property leasing, subletting and others YIEME - o EHEAMm 97,561 80,158
Total reportable segment assets BEXForit=v=3 - 409,670 567,864
Unallocated RO 148,296 45,598
Consolidated total assets RAEBERE 557,966 613,462
The segment assets is evaluated based on different reportable DEEERB TR 2| EEEETT
segment assets, which is a common measure of assets held by G T RRAI 2RO HAFEER
different reportable segments. The consolidated total assets are BAE - REPHNEEEBHHRBA
allocated to different reportable segments which are measured RIRBRBEEEIN i‘?/a\ BEBED
consistently with the Group’s assets except for the corporate EEEAEBEESE RN TRAT2
assets held by headquarter or inactive subsidiaries. i& DB

KBEMEZRBRIF « —
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

SEdoAS :,
BlE—

T=F=A=T—HIFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(vi) Reportable Segment liabilities

Wi _\LBQ*)I' (n\ﬁ)
(V|) AZ2{oBEE

The following table provides an analysis of reportable segment TREHR-ZZ_=FR-ZT-__F=
liabilities of different reportable segments recognised as at 31 A=1T—B®RATRANEHRSH 22
March 2023 and 2022: BOMBEW :
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Trading = 10,201 16,634
Leasing HE 33,332 46,096
Transportation ] - -
Property management VES =2 15,832 14,583
Property leasing and subletting and others #% & kDA R H A 57,961 46,262
Total reportable segment liabilities BEXFoRsi S =Nt 117,326 123,575
Unallocated FOE 6,217 1,965
Consolidated total liabilities e BERE 123,543 125,540

The segment liabilities is evaluated based on different reportable

/\_L

BERBEIRATEHRD HBEEET

segment liabilities, which is a common measure of liabilities held

by different reportable segments. The consolidated total liabilities

are allocated to different reportable segments which are measured

consistently with the Group’s liabilities except for the corporate

liabilities held by headquarter or inactive subsidiaries.
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11. FINANCE INCOME, NET

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI RERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 — L =-_=F=H=+—HIFE

1. IR A &

2023 2022
—E-=F —E -
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTER T
Finance income 3N
Finance income on finance lease b E 7H E R W IR R B AU
receivables 13 224
Interest income on bank deposits HRITF AT S WA 50 308
Interest income on other receivables E At fE R IE B0 R S A 4,452 2,826
4,515 3,358
Finance cost B # B AR
Interest expense on bank loans RITE AT B 5 (I 5E40(0))
(note 40(b)) (1,450) (757)
Interest expense on lease liabilities HESBENF S (HiE40(0)
(note 40(0)) (500) (533)
(1,950) (1,290)
2,565 2,068

ABBRERRERAT « —T-=F5H
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eV BRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &= — = F=A

12.

148

HIEFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income tax has been recognised in profit or loss as follows:

Statements

12. FRB BRI X

ERERERNAEHAT

2023 2022
—E-=F —E -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BNEATRIE - ARG

Provision for the year FARE 5,597 5,684

Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tax BNEARIIE — fR B> 2 FF15F
Provision for the year FNEE 11,335 23,917
Deferred tax (note 34) EIERETE (M 5E34) (11,393) (6,902)
5,539 22,699

For the year ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, under the two-
tiered profits tax regime of Hong Kong Profits Tax, profits tax
rate for the first HK$2 million of assessable profits of qualifying
corporations established in Hong Kong will be lowered to 8.25%,
and profits above that amount will be subject to the tax rate of
16.5%. For the other Hong Kong established subsidiaries, Hong
Kong Profits Tax has been provided at a rate 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been provided at a rate of 25%
(2022: 25%)).

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries/regions in which
the Group’s subsidiaries operate, based on existing legislation,
interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

REBEZT-_=FR=_T=Z=_F=A
=+—HIEFE BREEBMNEHM
LHl  EREBRILIMNEERZEE
2,000,000 7T & & =R Bt i A1 9 7 15 72
FRERE T EES.25%  MiBBZELERN
0 F B2 16.5% B9 B R FL o BhE MR
EBKMHHBARME @ B1216.5%
BB R B R ER LR I EH IR BB MG
TRfgE -

PRECEMSEHEE25% (T -
F 1 26%) B RET IR -

H 4 08 R B R0 BB T AR 1B
AEEIBAASEFERR ES
RARRED - REBEEG - ERAD
TRELE -
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 12.

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e YRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 i ZE—ZT - =F=A=+—HILFE

Fr iS55 < (&)

P51 B S SRR 55 AT (RS 18D 71 BU@

product of (loss)/profit before tax multiplied by the applicable rate RABE REMEERNT
is as follows:
2023 2022
—E_=HF —E -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT T
(Loss)/profit before tax BrE AT (&518) 5 A (35,446) 60,686
Tax at applicable tax rates in the LR REERMERANETSE
jurisdictions concerned K HIE (4,675) 17,025
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BARBMA TG 2 (6,248) (1,448)
Tax effect of expenses that are not BRI G E
deductible 8,334 5,391
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERRIEEENT HE 8,700 1,572
Others Hi (572) 159
Income tax expense TS i X2 5,539 22,699

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 28.1% for the year

ended 31 March 2022. The effective tax rate was not applicable

for the year ended 31 March 2023 as the Group was loss-making.

KBEMEZRBRDE o T =FFK

HE_Z_—_F#=-A=+—HL&FE "
IEFEAME R281% - BHEZT
Z=F=A=1+—HILFE  BEEFE
THEA - RN AEERSERE -
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e R RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —E—=F = A =+—HItFE

13. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

13.

The Group’s (loss)/profit for the year is stated after charging/

(crediting) the following:

FR(EER) EF
REEHEN(BR),EFENRS
CISEEIEE R

2023 2022
—EB-=F —E -
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEREBITE
equipment 93,574 61,111
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 17,722 6,807
Gain on disposals of property, plantand ~ HEW¥ - BE MR EH K
equipment (3,151) (7,486)
Loss on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFAEEEMNEIR 3,078 -
Auditor’s remuneration Z AN B & 1,560 1,593
- Audit service - Bt AR 1,560 1,540
- Non-audit services - EERF RS - 53
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEKAR 28,179 37,299
Written-off on property, plant and WE - BB LR EE
equipment 263 -
Written-off on right-of-use assets 7 FAREE EM 244 -
Impairment loss on goodwill R REEE - 61
Impairment losses on financial assets CREERERBRE 12,290 4,302
Short term lease expenses EEEEY W 34,141 15,483

Note: Cost of sales and services includes depreciation of property,
plant and equipment, depreciation of right-of-use assets and
cost of inventories sold of approximately HK$133,613,000 (2022:

Mt : SHEMBRBEKABENE « BE K&
HBINE  FRAREEWEREER
ERAA133,613,0008 L(ZFE ==

HK$103,664,000). 4F : 108,664,000/ 7T) °
14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES 14. EETFMAX
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Employee benefits expenses (including BB MBE X (BIREEHH)
directors’ emoluments)
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e - TEAL KOERL 43,148 42,416
Retirement benefit scheme IRORE AT BN
contributions 2,886 1,779
46,034 44,195
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI RERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 i ZE—ZT - =F=A=+—HILFE

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (Continued) 14. {EEEFIB X (&)

Five highest paid individuals: hEZER=HMAL
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year AEERFAN AL &SI MA LTI
included none of the (2022: none) director whose emoluments are BREEMNCZEZZF  B)FEE - M
reflected in the analysis presented in note 15 to the consolidated SREE T BHREM 1S 2N DT
financial statements. The emoluments of the remaining five (2022: PR HRAREAT(ZEZ
five) individuals are set out below: AAADRIMEEHF| AT
2023 2022
—E=F —_EF-—
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTER FAT
Salaries and allowances e MoRRh 4,268 8,102
Bonuses TE4T 3,668 4,048
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R /R18FI5T 24 7% 94 68
8,030 12,218
The emoluments fell within the following bank: BN FUATEE :
2023 2022
—E=F T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Nil to HK$1,000,000 % 1,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T 2 1,500,000/ 7T 2 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,0017% 7T £ 2,000,0007% 7T - 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T £2,500,00078 7T - -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7£ 23,000,000/ 7T 2 2
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001/ 7T £ 3,500,000/ 7T =
During the year, no amount was paid or payable by the Group RAFE - NEBEWEZ NS ERN EX
to the directors or any of the five highest paid individuals set out FrfESS AN AEEmTMALTZR
above as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as B ERRSIEEMBEINIMEAREE
compensation for loss of office. Fr o 22E) - SERBERR 2 HE -

il

KREBERRERAT « —T =G5 .
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e R RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 H{ZE—E —=F=A=+—HILFE

15. EEN @ R ER
() EEM=
EEFOFMARTIMT :

15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a) Directors' emoluments

The remuneration of every director is set out below:

Retirement
benefit
Discretionary scheme
Fees bonuses  contributions Total
RIBER
ik BETA TEIHR @t
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
THERT TET TET THET
Name of director HEEnE
Executive directors HTESE
Mr. Xu Chujia FRRELE - - - -
Mr. Xu Chusheng FRBEE 720 = = 720
Mr. Wei Jinwen (note (iv), (vi) 2830 A (HEE(y) ~ (viD) 250 = = 250
Mr. Kwan Kin Man Keith (note (vi) B & (P EE (vi) 180 = = 180
Mr. Cai Chun Fai (note (v)) ZiRIE S+ () 180 - 5 185
Non-executive directors FHTES
Ms. Zhan Meiging EXERT 240 = = 240
Mr. Lee Chack Fan (note (vii) FJe 55 & (i) 240 = = 240
Independent non-executive directors B FFHITES
Mr. Wong Chun Man FEXEE 240 = = 240
Mr. Ye Longfei MEEEL A 240 = = 240
Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey FRERE 240 = = 240
Total for 2023 e Sk 2,530 - 5 2,535
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eI RERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE =T —=F=A=+—HILFE

15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 15. EEF R RER (E)
(Continued)
(a) Directors' emoluments (Continued) (a) EEENE(E)
The remuneration of every director is set out below: (Continued) ZEFNEFNENOT - (8)
Retirement
benefit
Discretionary scheme
Fees bonuses contributions Total
RIKGEF
s EiEEa BRI 4ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THT TR THL THx
Name of director EENZE
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Xu Chuijia FREEE - - - -
Mr. Xu Chusheng (note (i) R B oo A (B3 Gi) 364 - - 364
Mr. Wu Hanyu (note (i) ERE B o0 4 (HI5E() - - - -
Mr. Zhao Yiyong (note (i) 1R B 5 A (P Gi) 119 - - 119
Mr. Li Yan Sang (note (i) A (B REG) 119 - - 119
Mr. Wei Jinwen (note (i) Z 830 A (W) 303 - - 303
Mr. Cai Chun Fai (note (v)) BIRB LA (V) 720 - 18 738
Non-executive directors FNTES
Ms. Zhan Meiging EEELL 240 - - 240
Mr. Lee Chack Fan (note (vii) e 5550 A (H = (viil)) 240 - - 240
Independent non-executive directors B JEHfTES
Mr. Wong Chun Man FHRXEE 240 - - 240
Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey FRELE 240 - - 240
Mr. Ye Longfei MR E L 240 - - 240
Mr. Ma Fung Kwok (note (ii) 553 B 5% A (W 2 G) 119 - - 119
Totalfor2022 ~ ZEZZ ZEBE 2,944 - 18 2,962
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 H{Z2 — & — =4

Bt 7 ¥R AR M RE

[l
n
[l

HIEFE

15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a)

(b)

154

(Continued)
Directors' emoluments (Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors waived any
emoluments during the year (2022: Nil).

Notes:

(i) Resigned as executive director and chief executive of the Company
on 29 September 2021.

(i) Resigned on 29 September 2021.

(i) Appointed as executive director and chief executive of the Company
on 29 September 2021.

(iv)  Appointed as executive director and executive vice president of the
Company on 29 September 2021.

(v) Resigned on 30 June 2022.

(vi)  Appointed as executive director of the Company on 30 June 2022.

(vi)  Resigned on 17 November 2022.

(vii)  Resigned on 31 December 2022.

Directors' material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Other than those related party transactions and balances
disclosed in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements, no
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and
in which a director of the Company and the director’s connected
party had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year
(2022: Nil).

Statements

15.

(a)

(b)

%$*U§&*§¥ (mﬁ)

EEME ()
EXFRBIR T E FE S R S

BARRRAEBEEHAEENRE M
A e

EXASIRM B RTEENE TR
S EARA A BRI RIS T2
fit o

REAMEZSTTHAE RERESK
BEEMNE( T _—F : 8) -

GEX

) RNRZEBEZ—FAA-THLARELRR
BIMITEERITHRAEH -

(i) KB —FAAZTNBEE-

iy RZTZ—FNAZTNBEZER
ARNBAITESFRITHAEH -

vy RZZEZ—FNAZT+NBEZEAE
RARMITESRITHEIBH -
vy RZEZZFA=+HET-

V) RZZEZ—FRA=THEZEARX
NRIMITES -

N

Vi) RZZE-_—F+—A++tBgETE-

iy R_F-_—F+_-_A=+—HET -

EENRXS  THREHOW
BEARER
BRZERE M MERWE45RFT# R
B AR T R 5 RAEERRSN - AR BIBEEET
7 EL A A AR 3 A T ) B R A8 A AN
NAESRESAHM AN EPEREKM
BERAEAERNEREEEEARY
BEARS  THREHN(CZEZ=_F:
=) o
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The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme are calculated
at 5% of the salaries and wages subject to a monthly maximum
amount of contribution of HK$1,500 per employee and vest fully
with employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

In June 2022, the Employment and Retirement Scheme Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Bill 2022 (“MPF Offset Bill”)
is passed into law. The Company will no longer be allowed to use
mandatory provident fund to offset long service payment payable
to employees under the Employment Ordinance upon termination
of employment. The directors of the Company are continuing to
assess the implications of MPF Offset Bill effective in 2025.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the
PRC are members of a central pension scheme operated by the
local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute certain percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and wages to the central pension scheme to fund the retirement
benefits. The local municipal government undertakes to assume
the retirement benefits obligations of all existing and future retired
employees of these subsidiaries. The only obligation of this
subsidiary with respect to the central pension scheme is to meet
the required contributions under the Scheme.

The Group’s total contributions to these schemes charged to the
profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2023 amounted
to approximately HK$HK$2,886,000 (2022: HK$1,779,000)
representing contributions paid and payable by the Group to the
schemes at the appropriate rates set by the local government
where the subsidiaries operate.

No forfeited contribution under these schemes is available to
reduce the contribution payable in future years.

AEEEREBEEB(RBERTEERFE
BEHDHHRE  REE2BEBAERE
BRIUBHMELTEEFTE(TRESF
g)) - AEBRRTE S Z HRTIIA
TERFEWs%TERERERERE
AT AEREE16008T HRX—82
EARBEEEE  IEBEEES -

RZZEZZFRA (CEZZFERF
FORRETENED (B L HE) (BFT) & H
ER)([REeBEKRIER])ERA
B AATR o AN B ASS F I8 {5 R o
MARSEEN R L ERFERERK
PIENIEE 2 RERGE S - X AFIES
TFHREIEN_Z_AFE4EBNRES
HIHENERNZE -

AEBETERIZHMBARIZEEY
SLEME T BN R Z P RERSE
g ZEMBARAZEEEATER
FrecETAD AP REKRS S
F o MMERBRKBNNES o MR
e g A EZ SN B AR BIRE &
RIRRNER 2 RINEREE - B
RAR P RBAREF B2 E—BETIR
BT B MR -

HE_Z_—F#=-A=+—HIL&FE "
REBRBRTHNRRAZESEGN
HRBFE 492,886,000 (=T ==
% 11,779,000 7T) - BV & Hiz i 8
AR EIEFTEH 2 & N R 2 8 A
BRRZERE SN R ERMNHR
K -

%L BITA T HUE D R U R AT A 1ER
DREEFERMAER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —E—=F = A =+—HItFE

17. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

18. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on

17.

18.

RE
E=VEEZEMREE T -_=F=A=
T-BLEFERNEARE(ZT=Z
Fom|) o

BR(EE),BF

FRER(ER),/ BFITVIREATSE

the following: TE
2023 2022
—E=F —_ET——
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FABT
(Loss)/earnings (&518), B
(Loss)/earnings for the purpose of M EERER(ESER), B
calculating basic (loss)/earnings per (E518), B (R ARHEE A
share ((loss)/profit for the year FEAEF R (EER) & F)
attributable to owners of the Company) (40,985) 37,987
Number of shares BB
Weighted average number of ordinary B EERERRF L BR
shares for the purpose of calculating IntE 198K
basic earnings per share 6,195,000,000 6,195,000,000

The Company did not have any potential dilutive shares for the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. Accordingly, the diluted
(loss)/earnings per share are the same as the basic (loss)/earnings
per share.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI RERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 i ZE—ZT - =F=A=+—HILFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

19. Y15 - BMERKRE

Furniture,
Constructionin  Leasehold Equipment  fixtures and Motor
Progress improvements  Machinery andtools  equipment vehicles Total
BE EEsE
EEIE HENRERE BE  RBERIA EL] HE a3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS 000
ThTL T ThT ThTL T ThT ThT
Cost A
At 1 April 2021 NZEI-5MA-H - 3,067 322,108 53,710 3673 14476 397,034
Acquired through business combination FREBANIE - - 545 4698 - - 5243
Transfer from right-ofuse assets note 20 BEBEREEE(H0) - - - - - 2075 2075
Addtions hE - - 12,783 12623 - - 25,366
Disposals ih& - - (5,939 (30559 633 (8,763 (45,794
Exchange diferences EizE - - 941 6,518 - - 7459
At 31 March 2022 and 1 Aprl 2022 W-F-—#ZA=+-BR
ZEIIERA-A - 3,067 330,398 46,990 3,140 7,188 391,383
Transfer from right-ofuse assets note 20 BABEREEE(HH) = = 9,205 = - - 9,205
Addtions hE 6,013 13,200 1,35 29,976 - 380 56,933
Disposals = = = (45,847) (4584) = (2,580) (53,011)
Written of i - = (493) = = - (493)
Exchange diferences EiZE 55 12 (1,656) @2m) = > (4,249)
At 31 March 2023 WZFZ=F=R=1-H 6,068 16,399 298,962 69,611 3,140 5,568 399,768
Accumulated depreciation and ZHIERAE
impairment
At 1 Aprl 2021 WZF--£EA-H - 2692 127,065 12207 2858 10873 165,695
Transfer fromright-of use-assets (ote 20~ EBAFEREE (H0) - - - - - 2075 275
Charge for the year ERER - 31 48,863 11,162 118 607 61,111
Disposals = - - (1,097) (128M1) (307) (8,170) (22,445)
Exchange differences ERZE - - 199 2,100 - - 2299
At 31 March 2022 and 1 Aprl 2022 WZEZZEZA=+-RR
“ECCERA-A - 3,053 175,030 12,598 2,669 5,385 198,735
Transfer from right-of use-assets note 20 BEBEREEE(H0) o = 3,357 = = = 3,357
Charge for the year ERFR = 2,669 75,038 15,209 106 558 93,574
Disposals ih& = = (39,298) (296) = (2389) (44,629)
Whiten off fhiss = = (230) = = = (230)
Exchange diferences EizE = 2% (37 (1,204 = s (1,616)
At 31 March 2023 R-E-ZEZAZt-A - 5,741 213,463 23,657 2115 3,555 249,191
Carrying amount REfE
At 31 March 2023 W-E-ZEZAZt-A 6,068 16,726 85,499 45,954 365 2,033 150,577
At 31 March 2022 WZFZZE=A=1-H - 14 165,368 34,302 an 2403 192,648
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mEMBHRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2023 {2 —ZE —_=F = A =+—HILFE
19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. 1% - MERZ K (E)
(Continued)
At 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of property, plant and R-ZZE-_=F=A=+—H  2iKHA
equipment pledged as security for the Group’s bank borrowings ERKBIRITERERNYZE BE K
amounted to HK$NIil (2022: HK$20,663,000). BB EEEREET(ZE-_Z
20,663,000/ 7T) °
20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 20. EFIEEE
Leased
machinery
Leased and motor
properties vehicles Total
HEMER
HEME RE st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T T T
At 1 April 2021 RZZEZ—FMA—H 2,241 28,262 30,503
Depreciation e (1,454) (5,353) (6,807)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R-E-—F=A
=t+—RARZE-_—F
mH—H 787 22,909 23,696
Transfer to property, plant and HEBEEYE - WE MEE
equipment (note 19) (Fi5E19) - (5,848) (5,848)
Addition NE 31,137 287 31,424
Disposal s - (5,040) (5,040)
Written off ! - (244) (244)
Depreciation e (8,115) (9,607) (17,722)
Exchange differences MEHZERE 184 - 184
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=H
=+—H 23,993 2,457 26,450
Lease liabilities of HK$24,973,000 (2022: HK$7,678,000) are RZE_=%F=A=+—H  BER
recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$26,450,000 as FHEAE24,973,0008 c(Z T ==
at 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$23,696,000). The lease agreements % : 7,678,000 ) + E A FEEEE A
do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in H#EE26,450,0008 (= E ==
the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may 23,696,000/ 7T) © BRI AFAHHE
not be used as security for borrowing purposes. EEERHNERERI  HERRLE
MENERRERE - HEEETSRERER

PELR o
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eI RERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 — L =-_=F=H=+—HIFE

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 20. FREEE (&)
2023 2022
—E-=F — ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FATT

Depreciation expenses on right-of-use ERAREEZITERS

assets 17,722 6,807
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBEZFEMX GtAMK
(including in finance cost) (note 11) B AS) (Bt aE11) 500 533

Expenses relating to short-term lease BRI E AR A GIAEE
(included in cost of sales and services K ARFG AR SATH R )

or administrative expenses) 34,141 15,483
Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in note 40(c). HERRLBREZFBEH LW
40(c) °

For both years, the Group leases machinery and motor vehicles PREFE  AEEHEEHKSE KER
and properties for its operations and rentals. Lease contracts MENHEEERHEECH - HEEYD
are entered into for fixed term of one to five years (2022: one ZETHR—EBAF (= =_—_F : —
to five years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis E|RF)ETS o THE B IR (E R HE AR
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In i WEHBREZHARGRR G - 2
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non- EHERETHTIUHERENER
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract B AEESRASONTEE  WET
and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable. Al 58 Hl AT & K AR o
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e RERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #iZE =T - =F=A=+—HILFE

21. GOODWILL 21. 8
HK$'000
FHT
Cost AR
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022 and RZEZ—FMWMA—H - ZF==
31 March 2023 F=ZA=F+—H  —ZT - —FWNQ
A—RAN-E-_=F=A=+—
H 61
Accumulated impairment losses Rt RERE
At 1 April 2021 RZEZ—FmA—H =
Impairment loss WEEE 61
At 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 RZE-_—_F=ZA=+—H0 =%
T CFENMA—BR-E ==
A=+—H 61
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=A=+—H =
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZF=A=+—H -
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e M WRME
For the year ended 31 March 2028 i Z —_ T —_=F=A=+—HILFE
22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 22. R B A RIRIRE

Place of

incorporation/  Issued capital/

establishment registered Percentage of
Name of subsidiary and operation capital ownership interest Principal activities

SR KL BRTEX/
WELR LR REEHY HfER BERERIM TEED

Direct Indirect
B EF:3

Jubilee Land Holdings Limited BVI us$2 100% — Investment holding
Jubilee Land Holdings Limited RERUES 2% 100% - BEER
Red Day Global Limited BvVI Us$2 100% — Investment holding
Red Day Global Limited RERUES ES 100% - REER
Jovial Lead Global Limited BvVI Us$2 100% — Investment holding
Jovial Lead Global Limited EBRTHS 2ETT 100% - REEK
Otimus Investment Limited BVI HK$1 100% —  Investment holding
Otimus Investment Limited EBRETHS BT 100% - REER
Barson Investment Limited BVI HK$1 100% —  Investment holding
Barson Investment Limited HERURS BT 100% - REER
Baseway Investment Limited BVI HK$1 100% — Investment holding
Baseway Investment Limited EERIHE 18T 100% - REER
Farman Investment Limited BVI HK$1 100% —  Investment holding
Farman Investment Limited EREUES 1B 100% - REER
Kingwide Resources Limited BVI HK$1 100% —  Investment holding
Kingwide Resources Limited EBRIHS 1B 100% - REBKR
Yoma Investment Limited BVI HK$1 100% —  Investment holding
Yoma Investment Limited EBRIHS 1B 100% - REBR
Blooming Art Holdings Ltd. BVI US$50,000 100% = Investment holding
Blooming Art Holdings Ltd. EBRIHS 50,000%75 100% - REBR
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e B R R M EE
For the year ended 31 March 2023 {2 —ZE —_=F = A =+—HILFE

22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 22. RMiBATIHNIKRE (&)

Place of
incorporation/  Issued capital/
establishment registered Percentage of
Name of subsidiary and operation capital ownership interest Principal activities
ML B BRTEL/
L) NCEEE REEWE &R REEZADNL TEEH
Direct Indirect
=83 BF:3
Zhaobangji Capital (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% —  Provision of money lending
Limited business
KABEER(ER)BRRA EE 10,0007 7T 100% - REHERH
Sanroc International (Hong Kong) ~ Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100%  Sales of machinery and spare
Limited parts, rental of machinery
and the provision of related
services and transportation
service
ELER(FR)BRAR BE 1,000,000% 70 - 100% HEEHRBRAZM -
M EH A KRR
PR 75 I 38 8l PR 75
Sanroc Leasing (Plant & Machinery)  Hong Kong HK$500,000 - 100%  Sales of machinery and spare
Limited parts, rental of machinery
and the provision of related
services and transportation
service
ELRRBEBRAR BE 500,000/ ¢ - 100% HEEHRBRAZM -
M EH A Rt R
AR K &t B 5
Benefit Sky Development Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
BRBERERAA 0 BT - 100% REER
Eagle Will Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
SEREBRAR B 1B - 100% HEER
Glory Wise Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
BECXBERAR B 1B - 100% HEZR
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e YRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{ &

22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

T_=F=HA=A

HIEFE

22. R B A RAVIRE (&)

Place of
incorporation/  Issued capital/
establishment registered Percentage of
Name of subsidiary and operation capital ownership interest Principal activities
ML B BRTEL/
WELREH REEWE A& R BEREEIM TEEH
Direct Indirect
=83 BF:3
Juheng Industrial Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Investment holding
ETERARRA BE 10,000/ 7T - 100% REZK
Nice Creation Investment Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
BHRREFRAA B BT - 100% HRERK
Well Growth Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
RECEBRAF &k BT - 100% HRERK
FINTRAENERBERAF  The PRC Registered - 100%  Provision of property
Shenzhen Zhaobangji Property capital of management and related
Service Company Limited* RMB20,000,000 services
AITABENERBERRA  hE T ERARE - 100% REVMFER REBRS
20,000,0007T
FIMABERZETREBRALF  The PRC Registered - 100%  Inactive
Shenzhen Zhaobangji Construction capital of
Engineering Company Limited* RMB20,000,000
AYTAAERETIRERRA  $E HERARE - 100% EEEX
20,000,0007T
RIMABEREREBRAF  The PRC Registered - 100%  Provision of rental of
Shenzhen Zhaobangji Financial capital of machinery and the
Leasing Company Limited* US$10,000,000 provision of related services
RITKkAEREREBRAR  HE BRIIEEN - 100% REBEHMTIRMEEE
10,000,000% 7T R
FITHFEEEEZERBRLF  The PRC Registered - 70%  Investment holding
Shenzhen Senyuanda Industrial capital of
Development Company Limited* RMB1,000,000
RYTHRFEEEZRBBRAF  PE T ERARE - 70% REER
1,000,0007T
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eV BRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 H{Z2 — & — =4

22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

164

—HA=T—HLFE

22. R B A RAVIRE (&)

Place of
incorporation/  Issued capital/
establishment registered Percentage of
Name of subsidiary and operation capital ownership interest Principal activities
ML B BRTEL/
L) NCEEE REEWE &R REEZADNL TEEH
Direct Indirect
=83 BF:3
RImESEEZERL A The PRC Registered - 100%  Investment holding
Shenzhen Huijinbao Trading capital of
Company Limited* RMB1,000,000
AITESEEHERAA" HE A ERARE - 100% REZK
1,000,0007T
FITRAEREEEERAF"  The PRC Registered - 100%  Provision of property leasing
Shenzhen Zhaobangji Business capital of and subletting
Management Co., Limited* RMB30,000,000
AYTAAEBXERFRRA"  $E A ERARE - 100% RENEFBERSHE
30,000,0007T
FIMABEMTTREFELE  The PRC Registered - 100%  Provision of retai
BRARA capital of management services
Shenzhen Zhaobangji Town RMB3,000,000
Wanxibang E-Commerce
Co., Ltd. *
AHAARATRREFEE  PE AMERARE - 100% RHUTEEERRSB
BRARA 3,000,0007T
RITRELEBRBERAG"  The PRC Registered - 100%  Provision of retai
Shenzhen Bang Century Interactive capital of management services
Network Co., Ltd. * RMB50,000,000
MITRELEBRBERAF P AMERARE - 100% RHUTEEERRSB
50,000,0007C
RITBELEEBRAG"  The PRC Registered - 100%  Provision of retall
Shenzhen Bang Century Culture capital of management services
Communication Co., Ltd. * RMB2,000,000
AHAEL U ERFRAA  HE AMERARE - 100% RHUTEEERRSB
2,000,0007T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #(£

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end
of the year.

i Registered as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC

law.

Registered as a company with limited liability under the PRC law.

English names for identification purpose.

a Registered as a Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau legal person sole
investment company with limited liability under the PRC law.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

22.

23.

e YRR MR

—E-_=F=A=+—HIEE

B BB 2 m Y R & (3]R)
RER - BEIBA AE BT ES
&% -

' REFHBEAREMAIEEELE -

! REPBEAREMA/BREMEAT -

. XL TEHBSR -

A RERBEEZEIMAAE -
PREABERRAR o

BAVFEFAREMEZEK
mZEMEE

FBHR

2023 2022
—E-= T
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FExT FAT
Unlisted equity securities I LETRAFE S 4,855 3,769

As at 31 March 2023, the unlisted equity securities represented
an investment of 0.70% (2022: 0.70%) equity interest in a private
company established in the PRC controlled by certain director of
the Company and are denominated in RMB.

The fair value of this investment at 31 March 2023 was valued
on asset-based approach with reference to its consolidated
management accounts provided by the management. The
valuation was performed by an independent qualified valuation
firm, YT BB B T3 & E ST R EER AR A F) (“Guo Zheng
Appraisal”’) (2022: Guo Zheng Appraisal). Guo Zheng Appraisal
took into consideration the assets and liabilities of this investment
and its current financial status.

KHBHERRARAT « T =555

R_ZT-_=ZFZF=+—8 " FLTR
RBEHERENBARRE TESES
WAARESHBE 2 EFRRELIILAR
A]0.70%(ZZF == : 0.70%) X #E °

ZRER-_T_=F=A=1+—HBzZ~R
FEI2EEEEMRER GG EERER
BREEXFHEME - HEHRBILA?
REEMITRITERESE T EE
AHEERAR AR (BRFED (2T
—F : BB ET c BRFHEE
BB ENEERABEAREERNMH
S
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 H{ZE—E —=F=A=+—HILFE

24. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 24. EHERRKIE
2023 2022
—E_=HF —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
F&T TET
Undiscounted lease payments RAGBHEENTR N A
analysed as:
Recoverable within 12 months AR+ @A ARKE = 733

Net investment in the lease analysed as:  EEHRFRE ST A

Recoverable within 12 months AR =@ A Rk E = 699
The Group entered into finance leasing arrangements as a lessor AEBFTURMERELZH  (EARER
for motor vehicles to its customers. The term of finance leases FHEMAAEMEBEA - FTUMERED
entered into is 2 years. Generally, these lease contracts do not HIRAMEF - BF  ZFHESHTE
include extension or early termination options. FEIEHAS IR B4R IE AR 124 o
The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result RRFBHEEY AL EEEE - R
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in EEVERBELTHEMEIINERR
functional currencies. Residual value risk on motor vehicle leases MR GFEEIEMN _fmis - ABH
is not significant, because of the existence of a secondary market EMFIREERRILTERK -

with respect to the motor vehicles.

All the finance leasing arrangements as a lessor have completed ERHHEANERERELZHERA
in current year. FETHK °
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eI RERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE =T —=F=A=+—HILFE

24. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 24. L&A E FE U FRIE (8)

Amounts receivable under finance leases: EEEEIE TR EUWGIR
2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FHEIT
Within one year —FR = 733
Undiscounted lease payments REIRAEN K = 733
Unguaranteed residual values EIERFIRER - -
- 733
Less: unearned finance income W AR EREE A UA - (34)
Present value of minimum lease payments &{EMH & RHIRE = 699
Impairment loss REEE - -
Net investment in lease HEFERE = 699
The Group’s finance lease arrangements do not include variable AEBNBRERERETBREZEN
payments. Ko
The effective interest rates of finance lease receivables is 9.82% BREHERKIEBENERFTNXA
per annum. 9.82% -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 H{ZE—E —=F=A=+—HILFE

25. SUBLEASING RECEIVABLES 25. 7 W FRIE
2023 2022
—E_=HF —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
F&T TET
Undiscounted lease payments RAGBHEENTR N A
analysed as:
Recoverable within 12 months AT+ {8 A Uk = 1,692

Net investment in the lease analysed as: R EHRFREDITA

Recoverable within 12 months AR =8 A Rk E - 1,603
The Group entered into leasing arrangements as a lessor to AEBFIVHERS  tERBETHE
sublease for certain leased properties to its tenants. The terms of MESHETERPAHEA © G 2B
finance leases entered into is ranging from 2 to 4 years. Generally, BEHEMMBRNTMENSE - BF @ %
these lease contracts do not include extension or early termination EHEEHNTEIELEMSIRAIR IEERE
options. o
The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result BRFTEREH U EEE - A
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in SEWAERBELEMAZINERRER o

functional currencies.

All the subleasing arrangements as lessor have completed in EREHAARNFESMLHERARFEE
current year. TERX, o
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE =T —=F=A=+—HILFE

25. SUBLEASING RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Amounts receivable under subleasing:

25. o HEEWFIE (8)

DB TH RGOS

2023 2022

—E-=F —E -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Within one year —FR = 1,692
In the second year FF - -
Undiscounted lease payments REVERBEN K = 1,692
Unguaranteed residual values MIERFIRRNEE - -
- 1,692
Less: unearned finance income B R BREE AU - (89)
Present value of minimum lease payments &K E (AR E = 1,603
Impairment loss VEREN SR - -
Net investment in lease MEFHE - 1,603

The Group’s subleasing arrangements do not include variable

payments.

The effective interest rates of subleasing receivables are 16.4%

AEBENDELZHTBIBFENK -

DY FIANERRFH K F16.4%

per annum.
26. INVENTORIES 26. &
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&x TFET
Machinery and spare parts R ERE M 7,460 8,508

KBEMEZRBRLIT ¢« —FT—=

3R
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —E—=F = A =+—HItFE

27. TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, 27. BESEWFIE - € - &

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES SR8 R H A e K18

(a) Trade receivables () EZEWRIE

2023 2022

—E_=F —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TET
Trade receivables 2 5 W EIE 128,117 186,103
Allowance for impairment losses REE B (13,898) (6,854)
114,219 179,249

As at 1 April 2021, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to HK$65,481,000.

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on credit.
The credit terms generally range from 1 to 90 days. For new
customers, payment in advance is normally required. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the directors and
senior management.

The ageing analysis of the Group’s gross trade receivables, based
on the invoice date is as follows:

R-ZE-_—FWA—H REEHNE
5 FE W N I8 & 58 565,481,000/ 7T °

AEBEEFPNESHIUEETAR
T EEHR-BNIEIORZHE -
MEPBEAXMNEMNRK - REE K
R BABIEHIR BB RAKIE - BEFE R
BREEABSERENBYSER -

AEENE S RUHIEABRIRER A Y
MRRE DT

2023 2022

—EB-=F T
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ExT FHET
0 to 30 days 0E30k 18,877 15,750
31 to 60 days 31E60K 17,007 15,106
61 to 90 days 61Z290K 10,695 110,014
More than 90 days 90K M £ 81,538 45,233
128,117 186,103
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE =T —=F=A=+—HILFE

27. TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, 27. EZERFIE - BE - H
PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES NFIE R H it BN FRIE
(Continued) (&)

(a) Trade receivables (Continued) (a) EZEWFIE(E)

The ageing analysis of these gross trade receivables, based on ZEE HEBGRIBEE AR 2 RER
the due date is as follows: AT -
2023 2022
—E-=F —E -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FABT
Current (not past due) BIER (R H) 33,588 111,009
1 to 30 days 1230k 18,232 31,866
31 to 60 days 31E60K 11,210 8,070
61 to 90 days 61290K 10,160 8,850
More than 90 days 90K A £ 54,927 26,308
128,117 186,103
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade FR - REBEESRWGIEZ BERE
receivables during the year is as follows: REMEEHOT
2023 2022
—E-=F —_F_—
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T
At 1 April R A—H 6,854 3,593
Write-off 8 (694) (767)
Impairment losses recognised FABRBEEE
for the year 7,835 3,991
Exchange differences VE R ZERE 97) 37
At 31 March W=A=+—H 13,898 6,854
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 B ZE — T - =F=H=+—HIFE

27. TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS,

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

(b) Deposits, prepayments and other receivables

172

27.

(b)

EZRWRIE - #E - A&
I FIE R H WK TR

(&)

Ze  BAREREMER

IR

2023 2022
—EBo=F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current portion: BNHAER > -

Deposits e 6,258 1,367
Prepayments TEfTRIE 12,959 21,989
Other receivables H i fE UL TR IE 18,505 16,017
37,722 39,373

Non-current portion: JERNERER S -
Deposits b 447 1,077
Prepayments TERTRIR = 1,868
Other receivables H qth pe Y 5/ I8 11,489 22,143
11,936 25,088
Total a5t 49,658 64,461

The other receivables mainly represented the reimbursement for
renovation and decoration costs paid, advance payment for the
contractors, deposit paid for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment, and staff and value added tax recoverable. Included
in the other receivables, amounted to HK$19,616,000 (2022:
HK$31,340,000) which carries interest at 4.75% (2022: 4.75%)
and repayable in 1-2 years.

HERFBEETEREMNBT REE
BAERNRK  AEEHENK - BED
¥ BEEEENEMRESURATKRE
BB T RIEER - HtbEWNRIBERER
4.75%(ZZFZZF : 4.75%)5T B A
E1R2FNEEM19,616,000/8 7T (=
T — —4F : 31,340,000/ 7T) °
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eI R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE =T —=F=A=+—HILFE

27. TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, 27. EZEWRNIE - %€ - &
PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES NRRIER H WA
(Continued) (&)

(b) Deposits, prepayments and other receivables (b) &€  FBAARERHEMER
(Continued) FIE (#8)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of other FR - REBESREWIEZ BEEE
receivables during the year is as follows: BREMEEHNT -
2023 2022
—E-=F —E -
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT FHAT
At 1 April R A—H 311 -
Impairment losses recognised FRERBIEESE
for the year 1,658 311
Exchange differences b 5 =5 (5) -
At 31 March R=A=+—H 1,964 311
The carrying amounts of the Group’s net trade receivables and REBEBASE T YL B SN
other receivables are denominated in currencies other than the B ENE 5 EUGIRF 8 R E M E
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out WRIERBREEH S AT -
below:
2023 2022
—EB-=F —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
JPY H 796 2,782
UsD ETT 2,013 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 H{ZE—E —=F=A=+—HILFE

28. LOANS RECEIVABLE

28. EIRE X

2023 2022
—E_=HF —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHExT FHET
Unsecured: IR
Total gross carrying amount WRARTE 49,284 -
Less: Loss allowance A B IE e (2,797) -
46,487 -
Movement of loss allowance of loans receivable during the year is JENE RSB EREZEEHTINT ¢
as follows:
2023 2022
—E-= —_E-—
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHExT FHET
At 1 April HmA—A - -
Provision of loss allowance FHRE B R A 2,797 -
At 31 March R=A=+—8H 2,797 -

7K 5 ) B % (0 9 KR 8) B
STEHE -

The Group’s loans receivable (including the interest receivable) are
denominated in Hong Kong dollar.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 — L =-_=F=H=+—HIFE

28. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 28. FEWNE X (5R)
At 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of loans receivable RZZBEZ=F=A=+—8 " BREXK
(including the interest receivable) was unsecured, carried at (BEREWFHE) REABEARER  1RF
interest rates of 7% per annum and repayable within three years FE7T%eT B RARREHTERAZR
from the dates of advances to the borrowers and the interest is HERGF=FNEERAGEAE
repayable every six months. The maximum exposure to credit risk BAE c EREEHMERNEAEE
in respect of loan receivables at each of the reporting dates is the [BB A £ SCFT il RN E SRR BRE(E o

carrying value of the loan receivables mentioned above.

Analysis of the gross carrying amount and loss allowance of loans LWTRAZZE=_=F=A=1+—HB7TRAE&
receivable under different stages of default as at 31 March 2023 AP B FE N E SR B BR T (B R B 1R B B
were as follows: BT -
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
P ER 1 R ER2 B ER3 a5t
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FHT FHAT FAT FAT

Gross carrying amount: HBERTEE -

At 1 April 2022 A=
mA—H - - - -
New loans accrued during FREANTER
the year 49,284 - - 49,284
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=%F
—A=+—H 49,284 = = 49,284
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
P FR 1 & Er2 FEER3 st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
FHT FHBT FHBT FHBT
Loss allowance: EERE
At 1 April 2022 A
mA—H - - - -
Provision of allowance, net SRR 2,797 - - 2,797
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=H
=+—H 2,797 - - 2,797

KBEMEZRBRDE o T =FFK 175



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 H{ZE—E —=F=A=+—HILFE

28. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 28.

176

The loans are receivable as follows:

R E = (&)

ERMEETADT

2023 2022
—E-=F —E -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Within one year —FR 284 -
More than one year, but not —F BT BB
exceeding two years - -
More than two years but within five years M EBRFR 46,203 -
46,487 -
Less: Amount due for settlement within -~ 8 : )+ 1@ 8 AEIHBEZERN
12 months (shown under FERBEETZ5)
current asset) (284) -
Amount due for settlement after R+l ARRHEERKIE
12 months 46,203 -

Loans receivable with aggregate gross carrying amount of
approximately HK$49,284,000 was classified as stage 1 due to
limited exposure of credit risk and there is no significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition and not credit-impaired at the
end of reporting period. Therefore, the loss allowance was limited
to 12-month ECL calculation of approximately HK$2,797,000 was
recognised in profit or loss for the year.

BRI {E 40 /549,284,000/8 L fE IR &
ROBERE  TEREERBRABR
kBEREREEERRBRAREERIGM
WHBEARFRBEERE - Bt
EREBBERN+ _ERBEHMEEEE
FE#2,797,0008 TERFARRIBR
RRER ©
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Definition of stage 1, stage 2 and stage 3, collectively known
as “stages of default” under the requirement of HKFRS 9 is as
follows:

Stage 1: Exposure where the outstanding balance has not been
recorded a significant increase in credit risk since the initial
recognition and is not deemed to be credit-impaired at the end
of reporting period, the proportion of lifetime ECL calculation
associated with the probability of default events occurring within
the next 12-month after the end of reporting period is recognised
in profit or loss when it incurred.

Stage 2: Exposure where the outstanding balance has been
recorded a significant increase in credit risk since the initial
recognition but is not deemed to be credit-impaired at the end of
reporting period, the lifetime ECL calculation which reflects the
remaining lifetime of the associated balance is recognised in profit
or loss when it incurred.

Stage 3: Exposure where the outstanding balance is deemed
to be credit-impaired at the end of reporting period, the lifetime
ECL calculation is implemented when there is one or more
events identified that has/have a detrimental impact against the
repayment of interest and/or principal in the remaining lifetime
of the associated balance, being the net amount after loss
allowance, is recognised in profit or loss when it incurred.

PEE - BEEBR2RPEERSMTER @ IS
B REFEMBRE LS
OPRMENR - B AREBAT ¢

(R BEEERRILERBFEHRD
BEREERE  REERBEREAK
IRIEINGCER - EEMARKI2MEARELD
SHREMNAEEESRBENZHES
EEEEMNES PR -

B2 - EEERRLERBFEHRDT
WRREERE X KMEEHRBEAEER
RIS IRk - 2 FAMEE R
i (BN BRER T HARR VAR BB SR E S A
R R

RERS : REERBEAERSHRKR
REERE B —EzZ RN —EE5
REEEN SR,/ REE TR AL
#Ae (MG EERERFE AFR
T NBARRIEE TR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 H{ZE—E —=F=A=+—HILFE

29. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 29. RAFEFT AR ZER
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BE
2023 2022
—E_=H —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT T
Current portion: BIEAZR Y -

Equity securities, listed in Hong Kong EARES - RNEB BT BEEE)

(note (i) 7,957 54,660
Unlisted fund investment (note (i) JEEMESIRE BIEE®) 3,719 -
Derivative financial instruments ESMT A

— Call options (note (i) — SR BAAE (B (i) 5,470 16,136

17,146 70,796
Non-current portion: JEBNERER S ¢
Distressed asset (note (iii)) TRA 2= (i) 85,680 -
102,826 70,796
The equity securities listed in Hong Kong, the unlisted fund BEBLTMORAES  FELMELKRE
investment and the call options are denominated in HK$. The RIBHETILVETTEIE - TREETY
distressed asset is denominated in RMB. ARKEHE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &&= — & — == § =

29. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes:

@

(i)

The carrying amounts of the above financial assets are mandatorily
measured at FVTPL in accordance with HKFRS 9.

The investments included above represent investments in equity
securities listed in Hong Kong and unlisted fund investment held for
trading that offer the Company the opportunity for return through
dividend income or fair value gains. They have no fixed maturity or
coupon rate.

The fair values of listed securities are based on quoted market
prices and the fair value of fund investment with portfolio of
securities listed in Hong Kong are based on the net asset value per
shares which represented the fair value of the fund shared by each
unit holders of the fund.

The fair value gain on financial assets at FVTPL for the year
ended 31 March 2023 is HK$3,725,000, of which realised gain
on financial assets at FVTPL for investment in equity securities of
HK$4,602,000; unrealised loss on financial assets at FVTPL for
investment in equity securities of HK$467,000; and unrealised
loss on financial assets at FVTPL for unlisted fund investment of
HK$410,000, (2022: unrealised losses on financial asset at FVTPL
of HK$12,069,000), the aggregate of which was recorded as other
gains and losses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

In 2019, a call option agreement was entered into by the Group.

Pursuant to the call option agreement and the supplemental call
option agreement, the Group was granted call options to acquire the
entire issued share capital of a limited liability company incorporated
in the BVI (“the underlying company”) for a total exercise price
of HK$150,000,000. For the details of the aforesaid call option
agreement and supplemental call option agreement, please refer
to the Company’s announcements dated 4 February 2019 and
8 March 2019. The Company engaged an independent qualified
professional valuer, Valtech Valuation Advisory Limited (2022:
Valtech Valuation Advisory Limited), to determine the fair value
of the call options. The valuer adopted the cost approach (2022:
cost approach) to assess the fair value of the equity interest in the
underlying company with reference to its management accounts
provided by management. The valuer took into consideration the
following factors during the valuation process:

KBEMEZRBRDE o T =FFK

e YRR MR

HIEFE

29. BRAVPEFTAER Z SR

EE (@)

GEE

)

(i)

NEeREEZRAERREEEHE
i AR B 05T 58 B 1 HR A FERT AR

E 1
WAtE o

EXFBEENREEREE LTHK
AEFCRERFIEEEMIFELTME
SRE - HEBRBWRAI A FER
BRAARNARHEBHES - ZERE
WEETERHAREEEE -

EWREHF 2R FETIEMABTER
B MRBEBLTHNESECNES
BRE 2 RNFETDRS RN EEFE
(BIESZEMKAEADEESZ ZRF
B)itE -

BE_ZT-_=ZF=ZA=Z=+—HI#F
B BATEAANEZZEREEY
N EURE 3,725,000 © HFA
BIRERABTLH ZZATFENAER
ZEBAEE B8R A4,602,000
BT ERRERAZBEZIEATE
AABRCERMEEZAEREES
467,000/ 7T : RBEBFELTESE
BB AFEAABREZEREEY
KREIREIBAE410,0008T(ZE ==
FRAFEFABSZEBREEY
REIRE1812,069,0008 7T) » H4a%8
R BEEREMEZEKRERARS
Hib ek & g5ia o

R-ZF—NF  AEEFZ—0ORE
HARE IR o

1R I5 3R 08 B A 0 i Ik 17 70 3R B HR A 1
o AEBEERREDENKE M
REBEZESHMKZOER A
(HEEARDMEHEBITRA - 4
171818 A&150,000,0005 7T AR 3t
REEGZE AT RERERZ

Hi5 0 B2HARRBEEAE=ZZT—AN
F-AMBR-_ZE—AFE=A/N\BH
NE - ARBZEBUAEREEM
ERMAREIEAERAR(ZE__F
HRETEERATECRELAEN R
FE - ZHEMRAKNE( T2
F AR WKLRZERBAREEE
RENEERETHRNERENAT
B> ZEEMRNEEREPTRUAT
Ak :

179



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eV BRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 {2 —ZE —_=F = A =+—HILFE

29. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

o the assets and liabilities of the underlying company and its
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 and its

current financial status;

o the discount for lack of marketability and lack of control of
the equity interest of the underlying company as a private

company;

o the market and the business risks of the underlying company;

and

o the general economic outlook as well as specific investment

environment relevant to the underlying company.

The valuer then adopted the binomial option pricing model to
assess the fair value of the call options as at 31 March 2023 and 31

March 2022, with the following major inputs to the model:

29. BRAVPEFTAER ZE R
EE(E)

BisE (48
iy (&

. R-ZEB-_=F=A=+—-BK
—E-__F=A=+—RH1H#
ARAREMBRARANEELA
EAREZ R HAMR

. R ARERTLE AR
REERZ T 35 7 3B 1 e R = 4 )
R {EH ROHTRE -

J HERARMME REBKRR
)53

J BEGQENSANERREQ A
AN EREBERE -

HEME KRR A BAREEERR
HER—ZE_=F=-A=T—BKk=
T _E=-A=+-ANRBHEEZ
RNVE - AT EERARBERRZ

B :

2023 2022

—E=-= —E__F

Fair value of the entire equity interest BB A RIR 2 B AR R A (B HK$83,739,000 HK$108,695,000

in the underlying company 83,739,000/t 108,695,000 7T

Annual risk free rate mE R EE 2.69% 2.73%

Expected volatility RN 20.56% 19.28%

Life of the call options RIE AR 5.86 yearstF 6.86 yearstF
According to the valuation report issued by the valuer, the fair value BREGMEMBMAOBERE  RZ2T=
of the call options is HK$5,470,000 as at 31 March 2023 (2022: —F=ZA=+T—"BREPENLTFEA
HK$16,136,000). 5,470,000/ 75 (Z B = =4 : 16,136,000

A slight increase in the expected volatility used in isolation would
result in a significant increase in the fair value measurement of
the call options, and vice versa. As a result of the volatile financial
market in 2023, the management adjusted the sensitivity rate from
19% to 23% in view of volatility for the purpose of performing the
sensitivity analysis. A 10% increase/decrease in the expected
volatility holding all other variables constant would increase/
(decrease) the carrying amount of the call option by HK$1,454,000/

HK$(1,302,000).
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B8 Y858 P O T8 AR IR B AN _E TS S BRR EE

%E’] N FEETEAEE N -
—Eo=FSRMBHNKE
E19%AEE

& R B R

[R2 IR - R
B EREK

23%  LAETTHUR

EAH - TRERIE LT T B 10%if A A

B BRFAEGE M, R D)

REE MR

T {E1,454,000% 7T,/ (1,302,000)7 7T

Annual Report 2023 e Zhaobangji Properties Holdings Limited



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 — L =-_=F=H=+—HIFE

29. BRAVPEFTAER Z SR
EE(E)

BsE - ()

29. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

KBEMEZRBRIF « —

During the year, the Group entered into the assignment agreement
with the assignor, agreed to accept the assignment of, all the
assignor’s rights, title and interests in relation to the secured loan
and all the assignor’s rights to the collaterals and securities for or
in respect of the Secured Loan (i.e. the Mortgage over the Property
and the Guarantee), at the cash consideration of RMB65,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$74,100,000).

The acquisition of the loan is mainly for acquiring the intact right to
apply to and it is likely that the Group can obtain from the relevant
PRC court for an order to sell the collaterals, by way of auction in
order to recover part of the outstanding amount under the secured
loan. The collaterals has already been seized by order of the relevant
PRC Court which shall last for a period 3 years from May 2022. As
at 31 March 2023, the Group is in the assistance of the assignors to
apply for the relevant PRC court to sell the collaterals.

The fair value of the distressed asset at 31 March 2023 was valued
on discount cash flow approach with reference to the expected
recoverable amount, expected recovery date, relevant cost
incurred to realise the assets and the rate that corresponding to the
expected risk level. The valuation was performed by an independent
qualified valuation firm APAC Asset Valuation and Consulting
Limited.

(i)

MAFEE  AEBEEESRTT —
HEENE RAEEIEEMEHE
FRAERERNER - FraRERF
H o URHEEAHEEBERNK
WY RREEFTBEDERBRE
%) - BE(EHK A AREB5,000,0007T
(}EE M 474,100,000/ 7T) °

LBZE%EL%’I E=RTERARBEX

BE T LAY AR B8 R BDE B R A Ap 2 A
%Elaﬁ‘tﬁ EZTEHW% LA B e 5 4
EFETHHDREEDHE o ZHEA
o EE&E%/\%E&E’JEEE% *EE%EFI
ERBEER T —FAARKES
HTWME=F - EA_Z:_EfH:
T—H  AEEEBHEST HFEER
R BDAR &% E IR -

FIRBENR-_ZE-_=F=R=+—
BZAFED2ZRATRCOSHE

BHOWEY  BREEELNEH
B VA B 2 98 50 8 B 7k 7 4 9 FE O L
T REBRREREEMGE - HEH
BUAERMEEMITEAEENHR
BRBRR AT -

2023

—E_=8

Expected recoverable amounts TEHA AT [ & 58 RMB93,744,000
AR#93,744,0007T

Year to recovery B4 F 1 2 years4E
Discount rates that correspond to the expected risk level — E238 B [ 7K S 48 & & 1O BL 38 b & 17%

A slight increase in the discount rate that correspond to the
expected risk level used in isolation would result in a significant
decrease in the fair value measurement of the distressed assets,
and vice versa. The management adjusted the sensitivity rate from
15% to 19% for the purpose of performing the sensitivity analysis.
A 12% increase/decrease in the discount rates that correspond to
the expected risk level holding all other variables constant would
(decrease)/increase the carrying amount of the distressed assets by
HK$(2,284,000)/HK$2,284,000.

A

—FFR

B A A0 EE T8 2 EL R K AR R Y
Eﬁfﬁttfi‘“fﬂtﬂﬁj BTIREEN

NFEFAERBRD RZTFAR &
EE@E?&@H@@K@Q@%%%EE%E
19% » AETTHEE 54T - TEEIRE B
KFEAEYERNRIR R EF T
12% MM E HMEERFTEKOR
4 /IR R A EREE2,284,000)
B IT 2,284,000 7T ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —E—=F = A =+—HItFE

30. BANK AND CASH BALANCES 30. SRITRIB & 48k

2023 2022
—E-=F ===

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHExT THT

Cash on hand FHERE 47 53

Cash at bank RITIRE 43,198 44,198
Bank deposits with original maturities REEB DR =@ A ZRITIFH

of less than three months - 500

Total bank and cash balances RITRIB &SRB 43,245 44,751

At 31 March 2022, the bank deposits with original maturities of
less than three months carried fixed interest rate of 0.13% and
0.42% per annum are exposing the Group to fair value interest
rate risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank and cash are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of
the relevant group entities are set out below:

W-E-_—F=ZA=+—8  RIH
HALR=EA RIZEEFFNE013% K
0.42%T B2 RITFRTAEEHER
FERERERE

AEENUABERE BT EEE AN
BERAENRITRR S 2 REABERS 0
T

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-—

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTER FAT

uss ETT 210 -

JPY B 105 105

EUR BT 210 209

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s bank and cash balances
held by the PRC subsidiaries denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$9,520,000 (2022: HK$9,407,000). Conversion of HK$ out of
the PRC are subject to the foreign exchange control regulations
imposed by the PRC government.

R-ZTBZ=F=A=+—H K&£EH
FENBARFEZUAARENEZR
17 R 3R & #5484 59,520,000 0 (ZF =
—4F : 9,407,000/ 7T) ° R BEIEEINE,
P T /B ST R BB B e D 1N FE
HRIE °
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 — L =-_=F=H=+—HIFE

31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

. BREE

2023 2022
—ZE=-= -z
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Billing in advance of performance BAREZENFIE
obligation

- Sales of machinery and spare parts - HE#MRERTHR
and provision of related services IRHAEAERT 4,861 1,336
- Property management services - MEEERE 210 -
5,071 1,336

Contract liabilities relating to sales of machinery and spare parts
and provision of related services and property management
services are balances due to customers under contracts with
customers. The significant increase in contract liabilities for the
year ended 31 March 2023 was mainly due to the HK$5,071,000
advances received from customers. They arise when the
customers pay deposits before the Group transfers control of the
goods to the customers or considerations received in advance as
prepayments by customers for property management services. As
at 31 March 2023, the Group’s contract liabilities of HK$5,07 1,000
(2022: HK$1,336,000) are expected to be recognised within one
year (2022: one year).

KBEMEZRBRDE o T =FFK

HLEHE M M4 B T A IR AR B AR
BROEEERBEBRZENEBER
BIBEHREFFI 2 &N MENEP &
B HBE_T-_ZF-A=+—HILHF
B AHEBEREERTIEZRRKE
EFE#35,071,0008 T  WEFEARN
SEREFPEREE QITHIE AT Tk
SRBEFHMEEERBIRATKREESR
ENREBEIRE  GHAEBEENEL -
R-TB-_=ZF=ZA=+—0 ' A£EHN
AHAEES5,071,0008T(ZE -
1,336,000/ T) KR —F (ZFE_Z
F:—F)NER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 B ZE — T - =F=H=+—HIFE

31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 3. BN EEE)
Movements in contract liabilities: EHEEES
2023 2022
—E=F —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT TET
At 1 April R A—H 1,336 1,309

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result  FRERWFEHA DB ERD
or recognising revenue during the year GITAFVIZEHEE)
was included in contract liabilities at

the beginning of the year (1,336) (1,309)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result 32 B #4 S H M N 8 R T4 LA 2
of billing in advance of sales of REERARY,MEERE
machinery and spare parts and PRiG A AREZH 2
provision of related services/property AHBAEEMN
management services 5,071 1,336
At 31 March R=A=+—H 5,071 1,336
32. BORROWINGS 32. f& ™K
2023 2022
—E-=F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Bank loans, secured RITER - BEA 26,027 32,690

184 Annual Report 2023 e Zhaobangji Properties Holdings Limited



32. BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n & BB R AR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{ &

32. ftt/TA (mﬁ)

E-_=—F=R= ’

BILFE

The borrowings are repayable as follows: ERMEEFNOT
2023 2022
—E-=H —EF-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&x FHT
Within one year —&R 15,410 7,067
More than one year, but not —FZ BT BBAMRF
exceeding two years 7,762 22,572
More than two years but within five years M EBRFER 2,855 3,051
26,027 32,690
Portion of bank loans that are due for FREPEZEERERENREE
repayment after one year but contain B RITERED
a repayment on demand clause (RBEBETEY)
(shown under current liabilities) (907) (2,446)
25,120 30,244
Less: Amount due for settlement within -~ 3 : 7+ =@ A REIHEEN
12 months (shown under FHE(RBAB 25
current liabilities) (15,410) (7,067)
Amount due for settlement after R+ Z{EAZEFHERENKIE
12 months 9,710 23,177
The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank loans are denominated REBRITERZEMEUNETREAR
in HK$ and RMB. ¥EHE -
The Group’s bank loans of HK$4,333,000 (2022: HK$8,902,000) RNEE 2 IRITE 4,333,000 T (=&

are arranged at fixed interest rates and expose the Group to fair

value interest rate risk. Remaining bank loans are arranged at

variable rates, thus exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate

risk. As at 31 March 2023, the effective interest rates are ranging
from 3.95% to 4.73% (2022: ranging from 3.44% to 4.73%) per

annum.

KBEMEZRBRIT ¢« —F—

=

::¢ 8902ooo,aﬁ>txlﬁ$u$§
C BEEARERZ AT ERNERR -
@%T%Eﬁ% JIRZ BRI RMEL - A2
AEEASRBSRENEREAR N _-=
—=F=ZA=F+—8 BEBRAENT
BE3.95%E473%(ZE_—F : NF

3.44%%4.73%) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —Z —_=F= A= BHIEFE

32. BORROWINGS (Continued) 32. B (8])
The Group’s banking facilities are subject to annual review and are REBZRITMEAILFERITLIAT
secured by: A 75 IR IR -

unlimited corporate guarantees granted by the Company
and the certain subsidiaries of the company

certain property, plant and equipment of the Group (note 19)

personal guarantee granted by independent third parties

property of a related company of the Group

property of a director of a subsidiary of the Company

property of spouse of a director of a subsidiary of the

Company

personal guarantee granted by a director of a subsidiary of
the Company

personal guarantee granted by spouse of a director of a
subsidiary of the Company

ARARRARAETHERBR
FHIER S 2 AHER

AEBZETYE  BELEKE
(BF5E19)

B = AR EARER

NSt A Ll SNCIAYES

ARB—HMNBRARZ—RES
OE/ES

ARB—HMBRARZ—RES
[0k 7E S

ARB—HMBRARZ—RES
Bz EAER

ARB—HMBRARZ—RES
B m 2 EAER

R-_ZE-_=F=F=+—H  K&EH
ZERTHRELAPLRECEAZEITE
% A&26,759,0008 L (ZF ==
34,032,000/ 7T) °

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s total banking facilities including
those for issuance of letters of credit utilised amounted to
HK$26,759,000 (2022: HK$34,032,000).
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33. LEASE LIABILITIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 — L =-_=F=H=+—HIFE

33.7HE&E

Present value of Future

Future lease payments lease payments
REBENK REBEFRHRE
2023 2022 2023 2022

—EBo=F -4 ZEB-= T

HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
FTERT THAT FTERT TAT

Within one year F—FA 22,850 7,296 22,374 7,057
More than one year, but not —FRETER
exceeding two years N 2,705 668 2,599 621
More than two years, but not more & 1B TR iE
than five years AE - - - -
25,555 7,964 24,973 7,678
Less: Future finance charges B R (582) (286) N/ATEA NATEHA
Present value of lease obligations ~ fHEET ZIRE 24,973 7,678 24,973 7,678
Less: Amount due for settlement B R {E A
within 12 months (shown NEIEERE
under current liabilities) 2B RS
BETE7))
(22,374) (7,057)
Amount due for settlement after R+Z@A%

12 months BIHAEE ) FRIE 2,599 621
The Group’s lease liabilities of HK$843,000 (2022: HK$6,847,000) NEE 2 HE A E843,0008 T (ZE =
are secured by the leased assets and guaranteed by the —4F 16,847,000 L) IR EEENE
Company. AR AN RQ BB ER -

KBEMEZRBRDE o T =FFK
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —E—=F = A =+—HItFE

34. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the
year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances
within the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

34, IEFER IR
FRNEEHREEEREEZ#P (T &
SR A BREB S TEER R R K 8 4
FESNT -

Deferred tax liabilities EEREEE
Accelerated tax
depreciation
IR B TR
HK$’000
T
At 1 April 2021 R-ZZE-_—FA—H 31,121
Credit to profit or loss for the year (note 12) FFAFAREZE P12 (5,852)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R-ZE-—F=A=+—8kK
—E-—FPPA/—H 25,269
Credit to profit or loss for the year (note 12) FFAFARERE P12 (11,393)
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=F=ZF=+—H 13,876
Deferred tax assets EEHRIEEE
Tax losses and
others
HEFBERHM
HK$’'000
FHIT
At 1 April 2021 RZZE-_—FPH—H 1,053
Charge to profit or loss for the year (note 12) REARNBz=ENER P12 (1,050)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39(a)) & B A B (BT 5E39() 3)
At 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 R-E-_—F=F=+—8 -
—EC_FMA-BR
—E-=F=fF=+—H =
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 — L =-_=F=H=+—HIFE

34. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 34. IR IR (48)
The analysis of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities BLEFHIBEERELEHIBEE 2D
are as follows: N
2023 2022
—E-=F —_ET——
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FABT
Deferred tax liabilities RIETHIEEE 13,876 25,269
Deferred tax assets EEFIBEE - -
13,876 25,269
At 31 March 2023, the Group has not recognised deferred tax M-BE-_=F=F=+—08  K"&EEX
assets in respect of the unused tax losses of approximately AR B A R IR E 18 49101,877,000/8 7T
HK$101,877,000 (2022: HK$64,923,000) due to unpredictability (ZZE == : 64,923,000/ L) FER A
of future taxable profits against the unused tax losses that can EEBIEEE - AR AEBEETERR
be utilised in the relevant jurisdictions. All of the tax losses can RIERTEN - Bt - AR EREEE
be carried forward indefinitely under the tax regulations, except EFAASBEERSAHREEE - B
for those arising from the PRC subsidiaries of approximately HPEMRBARMEEN KA
HK$48,145,000 (2022: HK$20,672,000), which can be carried 18+ #4948,145,000/8 (===
forward only for five years from the recognition date of unused tax 20,672,000/ 7T) R e A & WIRER A Al
losses. HEERFI - ERBIEEES A &R
e o
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #EZ — T —_=F=A=+—HIFE

35. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES, ACCRUALS 35. BRI RIEREMNE
AND OTHER PAYABLES B EtERAREMEN
MIE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT T
Trade and bills payables B SR RIBERENER
Trade payables B SRR FRIE 18,045 20,985
Bills payables AN - 759
18,045 21,744
Accruals and other payables FEET B A R HE MR RIE 25,184 28,982
43,229 50,726
Included in other payables, amounted to HK$6,880,000 (2022: H b < 2 I8 B 456,880,000/8 7T (=2
HK$5,750,000) represented the deposit for property management Z 4 : 5,750,000 7T) - TIRERF
from customers. B IZS °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE =T —=F=A=+—HILFE

35. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES, ACCRUALS

AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade and bills payables, based

on the date of receipt of goods or service consumed, is as follows:

5. EZRENFERENE

B Bt EAREMGEN

FH (%)

REEE 5 R 5E M ENRBZKE
B o sl AR TS B A (E L B9 BR ik D AT 10

B

2023 2022

—EC-=F —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&T FHT
0 to 30 days 0E30K 3,537 12,471
31 to 60 days 31260XK 2,605 4,129
61 to 90 days 61E90K 867 4,432
More than 90 days 90K 11,036 712
18,045 21,744

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and bills payables,

accruals and other payables are denominated in currencies other

than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set

REBAERESEE RIS B A
ERAENEZRNFARENERE
e &R R A b N 5 2 BRm E &5

out below: mr
2023 2022
—E-=F —_EF -
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
JPY H 191 759
EUR BT = 11
UsD ETT 280 1,388
471 2,158
KHBEMEZERARAT ¢ —T - = FFR 191
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —Z —_=F= A= BHIEFE
36. SHARE CAPITAL 36. iR
Number
of shares Amount
R E ok
HK$’000
FHET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.002 each R EE0.0028 T 2 iRk
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, R-E-—FmPWA—§8 -
1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 —T-—_F=ZA=+—8"
ZEFWMA-AR
—E-=H=Z/F=+—H 10,000,000,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTREE:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.002 each S EEO0.002% Tz ik
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, RZEZ—FHA—RB -
1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 —E-_#=A=+—H"
T FWMA—AR
—E-=F=AF=+—H 6,195,000,000 12,390

Note: ML -

192

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity and borrowings. In
order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce borrowings. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 March
2023 and 2022.

AEBEEREANARRREAEEEHE
BB S - T AR A R R N A E A
ot A AREA R - REREKENER
FERIARR R E AL A -

AEEBNEREBOEESURER - B
B ABREARERE  AEERSHABRINA T
BEHKRESE  RIRRREES - BTH
R EEEEURDER - BE_T==F
M—Z-_—_F#ZA=Z+—HBLFE BEZ:
BRSO B A g -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &&= ==

36. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

37.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of a gearing ratio. The
gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings and total lease liabilities
less bank and cash balances. The gearing ratio at the end of the
reporting period was as follows:

e YRR MR

=F=A=+—RHLFE

36. IR 2 (&)

AEENEERBLRERERN - BE
BELEUBEFHEGAE D@ R
8 AEFRNRERRERERER
RITRRGERETE - RBEHRZE
ERFELERET

2023 2022
—E=H —_EF-—

HK$’000 HK$’000

FiExT FHAT

Borrowings (B 26,027 32,690

Lease liabilities HEAE 24,973 7,678

Less: bank and cash balances A IRITRIR R (43,245) (44,751)

7,755 (4,383)

Total equity EmiaTa 434,423 487,922

Gearing ratio BEBGEHE 1.8% N/AT i A

The Company’s externally imposed capital requirements for its
listing on the Stock Exchange is to maintain a public float of at
least 25% of the shares. The Company receives a report from the
share registrars weekly on substantial share interests showing the
non-public float and it demonstrates continuing compliance with
the 25% limit throughout the year. As at 31 March 2023, 38.59%
(2022: 38.59%) of the shares were in public hands.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for
the purpose of retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and providing benefits to participants of the
Scheme in order to encourage participants to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company. Eligible participants of the
Scheme include the Group’s directors and full-time employees,
etc. The Scheme became effective on 23 January 2017 and
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain valid and
effective for a period of 10 years from that date. For the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no options have been granted.
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 38. KRR HMBMRRARREREE

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company

2 B

() A4 FB AN T

2023 2022
—E-= —_EF -
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M THxT THET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB R 5 10
Investment in subsidiaries RHB AR ZIRE 22 113,064 113,064
113,069 113,074
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments SELNE S = 454
Financial assets at FVTPL BAVEABRZ
TREE = 43,711
Amounts due from subsidiaries L INENGIE S 87,083 42,263
Amount due from a shareholder JEU — 2 R IE 11,440 12,000
Bank and cash balances RITRIR S8 455 710
98,978 99,138
Current liabilities REAE
Accruals JEETE R 2,073 2,235
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN ENGIE L] 486 1,142
Amounts due to related companies A RNEE NGIE O] 3,999 -
6,558 3,377
Net current assets REBEEFE 92,420 95,761
Net assets EEFE 205,489 208,835
Capital and reserves BAR#HE
Share capital AR A 36 12,390 12,390
Reserves 1 38(b) 193,099 196,445
Total equity R 205,489 208,835

R-ZE-_=FA=tHKE=eE
WHEUATEEREERE

Approved by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2023 and are
signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Xu Chujia Ms. Zhan Meiqing
ABREE EXBxL
Director Director
EF EFE
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 38. KRR HMBMRRARREREE

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY 28 (&)
(Continued)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) AATFEES
Share Other Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
B4R ME HivfE e 2 ER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THIL THT THT THT
(note 39(b)(i)) (note)

(B E39(0)(i) (KizE)

At 1 April 2021 R-ZE-—FNA—H 116,347 112,594 (11,917 217,024
Total comprehensive AEFERANGEE
income for the year - - (20,579 (20,579
At 31 March 2022 and R-B__fF
1 April 2022 ZA=+—Bk
“T--FMmA-H 116,347 112,594 (32,496) 196,445
Total comprehensive income AEFERANGEE
for the year - - (3,346) (3,346)
At 31 March 2023 RZZ_=F
=ZA=1+—H 116,347 112,594 (35,842) 193,099
Note: Mtz -
Other reserve of the Company represents the difference between the net x /D\.Ej ) E ﬁﬂﬁﬁ 17 1 RS ) Jubilele Il_and
asset value of Jubilee Land Holdings Limited, Red Day Global Limited and oy [miites) » (228 Dy Clolbal Uimitzslle
Jovial Lead Global Limited acquired over the nominal value of the share dlew [Lese Global Err:ﬁedﬁ?;;%ﬁéﬁamt{’ﬁ
capital of the Company issued in exchange thereof. RAMETOARRRAEEZ FHZER
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(a) The Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein are

(b)

presented in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of

changes in equity.

Nature and purpose of reserves

0]

(ii)

(iii)

Share premium account

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue
of shares at a price in excess of their par value per share.
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
funds in the share premium account of the Company are
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set out
in note 4(c(iii) to the consolidated financial statements.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the difference between the
share capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
reorganisation over the nominal value of the share capital of
the Company issued in exchange.

() A&KH
AEE RSB RERBE RN A
RE 2 GAERR RN ARERAR
GAENBBER -

(b) FEENEENE W
() RHEER

(i)

(iii)

BihaEERRBREREEZ
EBRETRODMELEZGE - 1R
BRESEERRE  NARBKN
HBERZESAIHD KT AR A
PR EREEEZE D KB B
& ARAABRENEEENA
FEBBRETIHZE -

MERERE
INERMBE R ERRREGINER
MEREMEEZMBEELZ
%o BERBRESMBEHREME
AlC)(iiFrEl < BT BURRRIE ©

BOtEE

AU REBREREBEEARBONE
DA PR R B ER B M TTEY
ARRBRAHEZRNER °
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &&= ==

39. RESERVES (Continued)
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iv) Statutory reserve

(v)

The statutory reserve represents the amount set aside from
the retained earnings by certain subsidiaries incorporated in
the PRC and is not distributable as dividend. In accordance
with the relevant regulations and their articles of association,
the Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC are
required to allocate at least 10% of their after-tax profit
according to the PRC accounting standards and regulations
to legal reserves until such reserves have reached 50% of
registered capital. The reserve can only be used for specific
purposes and is not distributable or transferable to loans,
advances and cash dividends.

Financial assets at FVTOCI reserve

The financial assets at FVTOCI reserve comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of financial assets at
FVTOCI held at the end of the reporting period and is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy in note 4(j) to
the consolidated financial statements.

40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

Major non-cash transactions

(a)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, addition to leasehold
improvements of HK$10,672,000 was settled by prepayment
made in prior year.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, there was non-cash

additions to right-of-use assets (Note 20) and lease liabilities

(Note 33) of approximately HK$31,424,000 and HK$31,424,000
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for a property and

machinery and motor vehicle.

KBEMEZRBRDE o T =FFK

39.

(b)

40.

(a)

e YRR MR

=F=A=+—RHLFE

fe 18 (%)

ot R RV BN B Y ()

(v) EERE
R B R B R AR ST 2 %
FHEBARAZRBENFH LA
THe IR B2 A2 508 - 1R
BARMAR R A BB ERAAR
RE AN 5 o B A A T B
B2 ARSI B A kA
BETH 2 BRBLREFIB R 10%
BEREEEMRE  AEREEE
A ARM50% - LB R
REERE TS RREHEE
B BRARLRE -

v) BEAVEFAHMEEKREZ
THEERE
BAFEFARMEALSEZ S
MEERBERRBEHREE
MR A FEFAEME2E RS
ZeRMEENATERTEZSF
o WIREBA A WIS HREMEA()
NZ et BREE -

GEREREBRMEE

BERIFRERS
BE-_Z-_=F=A=1+—HItFE
FHEWZEE(EE 10,672,000/ 7T H B
FEEELHBNRELEE -

HE-_Z_-—FZ-A=+—HLFE "
AEBMABAMEARKERTEN
HERHNEREELE 20 REE
BEMEIDMIFRSIEMH RO A
31,424,000/ 7T }%2.31,424,00078 7T °
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40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

(b)

198

OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for

SNl

I

40. IREBR T REBRM T (&)

(b) MEZEBFFEENEEHK

TREMAEERATDEL Y BES
B aHEReRIASEY BAED
ELZBEAARSRREERRRR

which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in EREBNAEBREGRERERS
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows ERERBCHRERE °
from financing activities.
Amounts due
Borrowings  Lease liabilities to related parties*
(note 32)  (note 11 and 33) (note 45) Total
B A
EE REEE IR
(Ht3E32) (GEIRER) (Pt 45) B3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$/000
FhR TEL T T
At 1 April 2022 R-E--£MmA-A 32,690 7,678 1,673 42,041
Changes from financing cash flows: ~ BEREHEE
Repayment of borrowings BEEH (7,854) = = (7,854)
Proceeds from borrowings ERZAERE 2,718 - - 2,718
Payment of lease liabilties REREMNR = (14,313) = (14,313)
Advance from related parties B2 = S 5,387 5,387
Repayment to related parties BEEES = > (995) (995)
Interest paid BERFE (1,450) (500) > (1,950)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ BYER & R EEAE (6,586) (14,813) 4,392 (17,007)
Other changes: Higs
Exchange realignment A% (1,527) 184 (7 (1,420)
Increase in lease liabilties from REFTUFRENTHERE
entering into new tenancy 10 = 31,424 = 31,424
Interest expenses MERR 1,450 500 = 1,950
Total other changes AnEHng (77) 32,108 (17) 31,954
At 31 March 2023 R-ZE-ZFZR=1-H 26,027 24,973 5,988 56,988
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40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  40. Z8 B & RERM T (E)

OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

(b) MEEBMELENEBEHK

activities (Continued) (#8)
Amounts due to
Borrowings Lease liabilities related parties®
(note 32) (note 11 and 33) (note 45) Total
RS
&k HEAR FE
(fi1:32) (FfizE11%33) (Fir3%45) B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET TR THL
At 1 April 2021 RZE--£MA-H 13,144 22,267 1,162 36,563
Changes from financing HERLHEE
cash flows:
Repayment of borrowings BEER (14,081) - - (14,081)
Proceeds from borrowings BN FEHE 9,839 - - 9,839
Payment of lease liabilties HEAENT - (14,589) - (14,589)
Advance from related parties B H2H 541 541
Interest paid BAFE (757) (533) - (1,290)
Total changes from financing BERSREDLE
cash flows (4,999) (15,122) 541 (19,580)
Other changes: Hit#25
Exchange realignment EHAZ (60) - (20) (80)
Acquisition of subsidlaries KERBAR 23,848 - - 23,848
Interest expenses MERR 757 533 - 1,290
Total other changes AEHng 24,545 533 (20) 25,058
At 31 March 2022 WZB-Z§¥=K=t+-H 32,690 7,678 1,673 42,041
* The balance represents the non-trade nature balances of amounts * AERIEERNEBRARRIBZIEES
due to related parties. B -
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40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  40. 8 H &R ERMT(HF)
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HEZRERLAR
Amounts included in the cash flow statements for total cash FFARESRERNEE RSN EE
outflow for lease comprise the following: HEREBEIEUAT :
2023 2022
—EZ= T
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FTER FAT
Within operating cash flows KERSMEBEN 34,141 15,483
Within financing cash flows RLE IR e EE A 14,813 15,122
48,954 30,605
These amounts relate to the following: ZESBEMET AR
2023 2022
—EB-=F —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER FAT
Lease rental paid BENEERS
Expense relating to short term lease M HHERRE AX 34,141 15,483
Repayment for lease liabilities EEHEARE 14,813 15,122
TR LK 5=
41. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 4. KEHERH
The Group as lessee FEEEREBEA
The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for machinery REBETFHAKMERE BIBES -
and equipment, staff quarters, offices and storage premises. As MAERBEMETLRAHEE - R
at 31 March 2023, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar T —F=ZA=1+—H SHAEEZK
to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term BHAEMF0RHE CHHEER
lease expense disclosed in note 20. As at 31 March 2023, the ST ZEHAHEZRERERM - RZF
outstanding lease commitments relating to premises is HK$4,000. —ZF=ZA=+—H8 BEEHMBE@EZN
(2022: machinery and equipment, staff quarters, offices and REBHEEEAER4,0008L(ZE ==
storage premises is HK$20,746,000). FEWmEERE - BIES  MAE

A E Y 220,746,000/ 7T) o

200 Annual Report 2023 e Zhaobangji Properties Holdings Limited



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE =T —=F=A=+—HILFE

41. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 1. REHELH(E)

(Continued)
The Group as lessor

The Group had contracted with lessees for leasing machinery and
property leasing and subletting under non-cancellable operating

lease arrangements.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

AEBEEREHAA

#H -

ZRER BAR AR A B A & A B 2 B
AAGTHIA B AR ST ERE R

ERMAE 2 BRHERENKAT

2023 2022
—E_-=F ===
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Within the first year —FR 16,157 30,505
In the second year EF 1,460 3,257
In the third year F=F 601 -
18,218 33,762
42. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 42, BAREIE
2023 2022
—EB-=F —EF_-
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&x FHT
Leasehold improvements, machinery THEMHERE MW RE
and equipment 5,292 6,814
KPEMEZERERAT ¢« _ T _=FFR 201
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43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES IN PRIOR YEAR

202

On 27 September 2021, the Company and an independent third
party entered into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant
to which, the Company agreed to sell and the independent
third party agreed to purchase 100% of the issued shares of
Santech Transportation Limited (“Santech Transportation”). The
consideration for the disposal was approximately HK$2,561,000
and completion of the disposal took place on 30 September
2022 in accordance with the terms and conditions of the sale and
purchase agreement.

List of disposed subsidiaries as follows:

43. 3

B 1L F B HE M ’-/z}ﬁ
N_FT_—FNAZ+tH &R
BBVE=RFVEERZ 'FM’
RAARIREBEHERBLE=7REE
EEEBRBERAR(ZEEHNE
HE gk HEFENREDAR
2,561 ,0005%7_5 RHEREEREE
BRI BGRRIEENR_ZE=__F N A
=+H nﬁk ®

F,”>

il

ki

n

EHEMBARBENT

Place of
incorporation/ Issued/
registration and registered and Percentage of ownership interest/
Name business paid up capital voting power/profit sharing Principal activities
MR,/ BRTELR/ RERE/RER/
8 AR E B AMRAEER BHAEED TEEH
Direct Indirect
Ef 4
Santech Transportation Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100%  Provision of transportation
services
EEERARLA R 1,000,000 7 - 100% REEHRSE
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43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES IN PRIOR YEAR 43. BEFEEHEKB AR

(Continued) (&)
The assets and liabilities of Santech Transportation at the date of ZEEGRNEEENNEERBGED
disposal were as follows: T
HK$’000
T
Trade receivables B 5 R EIA 566
Finance lease receivables BbE M & eI EUIR 1,144
Deposits, prepayment and other receivables e - AN FUEREAER IR 22
Deferred tax assets R IBE E 3
Bank and cash balances RITRIR© &% 1,079
Trade and bills payables B RN FIERENER (77)
Accrual and other payable FERTE A IR H b JE < 3RIB (137)
Current tax liabilities BNEATRIE B & (296)
Net assets disposed of BHEEEFE 2,304
Total consideration BRE 2,561
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE W B A Rk E 257
Net cash inflow from the disposal of subsidiaries: HEWBARELENRSRAFERE :
HK$'000
T
Total consideration BB 2,561
Cash and bank balances disposed of BHERE RIRTTER (1,079)
1,482

ABBRERRERAT « —T-=F5H
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44, BUSINESS COMBINATION IN PRIOR YEAR

204

On 9 March 2022, the Company had completed the acquisition
of 100% issued share capital of Shenzhen Bang Century
YT FAC B B A4
AR 27 (“Bang Century”) from independent third parties at
the consideration of RMB3,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,671,000). The principal activities of Bang Century and its
subsidiaries are investment holding and to engage in operating

Interactive Network Company Limited (&

a number of own branded retail shop in shopping malls in
Shenzhen, including amusement arcades, cinema, supermarket
and franchise branded electronics retails shop. The Director
consider the acquisition is a good opportunity to expand the
business into the consumption retail market in the PRC. The
acquisition has been accounted for as acquisition of business
using the acquisition method.

The fair values of the identified assets and liabilities arising from

44,

BEFEREBS O

RZTZZF=ANA ' xRFEEK
BEVE=FWER)IMABELEEE
wHERAB([F4a]) 2100%E #E1T
A - R {EHB A RES3,000,000T (HHE
EM@B 671,000/ 7T) ° Ftt 4o R E R

NAZ FEEBAREZERIFIIE
HSREZHBEERBTER  BEkE
2445 - Bbt - BAMBRETRIES
RTEEE -EERE WBEEARBE
BRERETEEBTEMS 2R - %
WEEEEFEAKRBEARAKBEE
ﬁ% °

WHE=HEMEL D HAIEERB BRI

the acquisition as at the date of acquisition is as follows: BHBZAFENT !

Fair value

ATE

HK$'000

T

Property, plant and equipment W - BELEE 5,243
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables e~ BRFEREMEWREIE 30,269
Current tax assets BNERTI TR & 2= 3,805
Bank and cash balances RITRIB &R 1,325
Accruals and other payables JERTE A R M FE T FIA (2,108)
Borrowings fﬁf?ﬂ (23,848)
Trade and bills payables %rﬁﬁ%«ﬁmﬁﬁ\ﬁ%‘%ﬁ 2,511)
Amounts due to related companies f NI FRIE (7,656)
Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired R r R EE FE 2 A FE 4,619

The fair value of consideration transfer: REEEAFE:

Cash Be 3,671
Gain on a bargain purchase HEBE M (848)
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44. BUSINESS COMBINATION IN PRIOR YEAR
(Continued)

Net cash outflow from the acquisition of subsidiaries:

44, BEFEZEH S 6 (@)

W hEHI B A Rl 2 3R e e

BILFE

HK$'000

FHET

Cash and bank balances in subsidiaries acquired Frug Bk 8 A R 2 R & RIRITAE 84 1,325
Cash consideration ReRE (3,671)
Net cash outflow B ML FaE (2,346)

In the opinion of the directors of the Group, gain on a bargain
purchase of approximately HK$848,000 was recognised in profit
or loss upon the acquisition of Bang Century and is attributable to
the Group’s bargaining power and ability in negotiating the agreed

terms of transactions with the former owner.

Since the acquisition date, Bang Century has contributed
HK$294,000 to Group’s revenue and loss of HK$4,632,000
to the profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2022. If the
acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2021, the unaudited amount
of the Group’s revenue and profit for the year ended 31 March
2022 would have been approximately HK$321,618,000 and
HK$77,046,000, respectively. This pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of
revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually would
have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April
2022, nor is it intended to be a projection of future performance.

The acquisition-related costs were immaterial and they had been

expensed and were included in administrative expenses.

KBEMEZRBRDE o T =FFK

KREBEERA  #1848,0008 T 2 &
BEEBE W RSB LB R B E
R THERAEESEREES AEERE

RBGHRZHZBENREES -

BWEHHR #HE_Z-_—_F=

A

=t HLEFE AtEtLERAEE
BB R A BB 294,000% 7T & &
14,632,000 T - M BEEN =

T_—FOA—HB%E4E HE-_ZT=

“HFZA=Z+T-BLFE AEEWK
BRENZAEEBZESER DAL
321,618,000/ 7T K. 77,046,000/ 7T, °
AEEZEMERGAZBAT T —ER
PAREEERAERZ RS RELEES
(MEBEENR T -_—_FHA—H%

) - IR ERTRRIAR KRR -

WEBHERR AL N EAXBE XA EA

TTRFISE
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45. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 45. BBt R X 5
In addition to those related party transactions and balances BrépE TSR R 3o #5882 B H 5
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the R REHIN  AFEBFRNE BHE 5
Group had entered into the following transactions and balances TEIM AT R 5 Rk o

with its related parties during the year.

(a) Transactions with related parties (a) EBEBAINXRS
Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transaction 2023 2022
BHL 2R B REME b St 3 S
HK$'000 HK$'000
TARL THET
Shenzhen Zhaobangji Group Limited™ An entity controlled by Building management 26,534 32,435
and its certain subsidiaries certain director of the fee income (note (i)
Company
AIKAEEBERAAREETHEBLR  ARRAETEZEHNEE AEEREBRA ()
Rental expense (note (i) (5,781) (408)
Bem% ()
Well link Financial Services Limited An entity controlled Rental expense (1,868) -
by the controlling
shareholder of the
Company
IReRREERAT FRAAARBRRAHNERE BERX
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45. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 45. BB X 5 (1]R)
(Continued)
(b) Balances with related parties (b) EEREEE S A4S ER
Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transaction 2023 2022
BHL R B REME It S 3 St :3
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THET
Shenzhen jinyifu Investment Development An entity controlled by Amounts due from related 1,183 2,669
Company Limited™ certain director of the companies (note (i)
Company
ATeRERAERERAA RRRETEEHHNER  EUEE D ATIE M)
Shenzhen Zhaobangji Group Limited™ An entity controlled by Amounts due from related 9,694 14,148
certain director of the companies (note (i)
Company
AIKAEEBERAA ARARETESHHNEE RKHH D AFE M)
MR EEERERAR An entity controlled by Amounts due to related (19) -
the nephew of the companies (note (i)
controling shareholder
of the Company
AT RAE$EEERAR RREAERRR i f B 2 R0 (i)
Eratinge
ML BESEREEREAAH An entity controlled by Amounts du from related 259 -
the nephew of the companies (note (i)
controlling shareholder
of the Company
AREABRBERETAR RRAERRER [ E T E )
EFatngsR
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45. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 45. BT 7 X 5 (5]&)
(Continued)
(b) Balances with related parties (Continued) (b) EEREEEE R HVASER (4E)
Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transaction 2023 2022
BHEER B RG5MHE It i3 it St
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T
Shenzhen Liyumen Investment An entity controlled by Amounts due (to)/from (127) 161
Development Limited* certain director of the related companies
Company (note () and (i)
ATEAREERARAT ARRETESHHNER () WERLFHE
GE)
Shenzhen Zhaobangji Property An entity controlled by Amounts due from/(to) 170 (1,073
Management Limited* certain director of the related companies
Company (note (ii)
AT BENEERAR AT ARRETESRHNER BY/ (MBERLEHE
GE()
Boardwin Resources Limited Shareholder of the Amounts due to ultimate (470) (600)
Company holding company
(note (ii)
Boardwin Resources Limited ARARR ERREERA AR
(P25 i)
Well Link Financial Services Limited An entity controlled by the  Amounts due to related (3,896) -
controlling shareholder companies (note (ii)
of the Company
UReRRBEARAT ARRERREEHNER BB 7508 (2 i)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & &2 —ZF —

45. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(b) Balances with related parties (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

45. BEEH X 5 (5])

e YRR MR

=F=A=+—RHLFE

(b) EEEAERTS B4R (AR)

Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transaction 2023 2022
BHLER B RG5MHE It St it St
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T
Well Link Asset Management Limited An entity controlled by the  Amounts due to related (1,500) -
controlling shareholder companies (note (ii)
of the Company
UREEERARAT ARRERREEHNER B BB 7508 (2 i)
AT EIREH BR AR An entity controlled by Amounts due to related (103) -
the nephew of the companies (note (ii)
controling shareholder
of the Company
AT EREH AR LA AR EERERA FE AR 2 A1 5008 (R (i)
Eratings
FITRERAREERD A An entity controlled by Amounts due from related 5 -
the nephew of the companies (note (ii))
controlling shareholder
of the Company
RITREGAREERAF ARAERRER e e 2 R 3008 (Bt i)
EramingR
MITERRERRER AR An entity controlled by Amounts due from related 266 -
certain director of the companies (note (i)
Company
ATERRERRERAA ARARETESHHNEE  RREHD AIFE K0
AR NEEEERAR An entity controlled by Amounts due from related 612 -
certain director of the companies (note (ii)
Company
ATEFALEREERAR ARRETESHHNER UKD 08 (ki)
® English names for identification purpose RN ZEEER

KBEMEZRBRIF o

T FFRR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eV BRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 {2 —ZE —_=F = A =+—HILFE

45. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 45.

(Continued)

(b) Balances with related parties (Continued) (b)

Notes:

(i) Details of this transaction are disclosed in the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transactions in relation to the Renewed
Property Management Framework Agreements” in the Report of the

Directors.

(i) Details of this transaction are disclosed in the section headed
“Connected Transactions in relation to the Tenancy Agreements” in

the Report of the Directors.

(i)~ The amount due from/(to) related company of non-trade in nature is
unsecured, interest free, repayable on demand and denominated in

RMB.

The maximum outstanding balances due from the related parties

during the year presented are as follows:

EAEE T R Z (&)

E2RR R 5 HY 4 BR ()
fi i -

() BRFEHEREEERSENEEY
LEWIER A HEMER 5|1
HE -

(i) HRHHABREFERE(HHEER
BBER S| HRE -

iy BIBHMEOREY () REBAR
FIAREER 28  AREREER
WAARBEE -

FRRKEY T < Rm R AREREHRE
FIanT

Name of related parties RS A8 2023 2022
—EZ= T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Shenzhen Jinyifu Investment MR BREERBR AR
Development Company Limited* 3,546 2,669
Shenzhen Zhaobangiji Group Limited* Rk FBEEE AR A 7 13,420 14,148
Shenzhen Liyumen Investment YA EERAR AR
Development Limited* 1,587 161
Shenzhen Zhaobangji Property TR EERBRA A
Management Limited* 6,573 -
RN ZBEEERBEREELRA RN ZBEEERBEEREELRA 259 -
RN EEGREREBRA R R EGREREGRAF] 5 -
AT ERAREERBRARA AT ERAREERBRAR 266 -
YR A S HEBR A A RINTTERI AR B E B R A A 612 -

*

English names for identification purpose
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BEHmERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # & —T —_=F=A=+—HIFE

45. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 45. BEE 7 X 5 (48)
(Continued)

() Compensation of key management personnel () FEEE AEFHM
The details of remuneration of key management personnel which TEEBAEFHFEBEFEFRNEN
represents the emoluments of directors of the Company paid or KENARRESFT Z2HE) SN
payable during the year are set out in note 15(a). 15(a) °

46. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 46. HAEE
As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not have any significant R-E-_=ZF=ZA=+—H A&£H
contingent liabilities (2022: Nil). WEAMNEAKABERE( T

) o
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Five Years Financial Summary

EFEHBERE

A summary of the consolidated results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements and as appropriate, is set out

AEERBEREMBRFENSRAEERE
ENBERE - DREEEETREEAMH
W (HER) - #FHIT -

below:
For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=t—HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—g-=fF —Z--—% —E-—% =—E-TE —ZT—hHHE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000
FTEx TR TAT FABT FHBIT
Results ES
Revenue Wz 258,353 271,998 240,107 254,568 219,729
Profit/(loss) before tax BB AT (B518) (35,446) 60,686 106,223 50,374 39,721
Income tax expenses FriSHiFX (5,539) (22,699) (18,021) (13,461) 9,119)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF/(E18) (40,985) 37,987 88,202 36,913 30,602
Profit/(loss) for the year ~ ANFEERF,/(FE)
attributable to: BER
Owners of the Company ERBRHEEA (40,985) 37,987 88,220 36,946 30,604
Non-controlling interest FEE RS - - (18) (33) )
(40,985) 37,987 88,202 36,913 30,602
As at 31 March
R=A=+—-H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EB-=f —TB--f —TB-—F —ZE-TFE —ZE-A\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHT FAT FHT FHT
Assets and liabilities BEERERE
Total assets BEE 557,966 613,462 570,130 561,137 577,609
Total liabilities BAEE (123,543) (125,540) (128,204) (215,869) (267,174)
Net assets EEFE 434,423 487,922 441,926 345,268 310,435
Equity attributable to ZN/NETEZ ¥ =N A
owners of the Company Wz 434,475 487,977 441,978 345,300 310,434
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